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2022 
(actual)

2022 (pro 
forma)1

2021 
(actual)

2021 (pro 
forma)1

Gas production2 MM Nm3 391 556 145 268

Total production rate3 boe/d 10,600 10,900 4,300 5,000

Revenue €’000 411,512 568,445 89,628 116,731

Average realised gas price2 €/MWh 98.7 93.8 57.4 39.8

Unit opex4 €/MWh 5.8 6.9 3.7 3.2

Adjusted EBITDA4 €’000 380,015 517,202 78,861 102,862

Statutory profit/(loss) before tax €’000 254,125 n/a5 (73,857) (65,940)

Operating cashflow €’000 290,473 n/a5 47,956 n/a5

Cash capital expenditure €’000 19,454 n/a5 19,958 n/a5

Closing cash €’000 211,980 211,980 77,288 77,288

1.	 Pro forma figures include the GLA as if it had been acquired on 1 January 2022. The acquisition completed on  
10 July 2022. Pro forma figures for 2021 include the results of Kistos NL1 and Kistos NL2 as if they had been acquired 
on 1 January 2021.

2.	 Comparative information has been restated to align with current year allocation methodology.
3.	 Total production rate includes gas, oil and natural gas liquids and is rounded to the nearest 100 barrels of oil equivalent 

per day. Actual production rates include the impact from acquired businesses only from the date of acquisition 
completion. 

4.	 Non-IFRS measure. Refer to Appendix B to the financial statements for definition and calculation. 
5.	 Certain pro forma equivalents are not applicable or meaningful. The GLA acquisition comprised the purchase of 

interests in an unincorporated joint arrangement with no pre-existing IFRS income statement, balance sheet or cash 
flow statement from which to derive pro forma information.
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Strategic and Operational Highlights

Acquisition of 20% 
interest in Greater  
Laggan Area
Completed the acquisition of 
a 20% interest in the Greater 
Laggan Area (GLA), and 
working interests in other 
west of Shetland development 
and exploration prospects, 
from TotalEnergies for gross 
consideration of $125 million, 
more than doubling Kistos’  
net daily production.

2022 Year in Review

1.52 million  
Nm3 per day 
Pro forma production net  
to Kistos averaged 1.52 million 
Nm3 in 2022, over twice the 
rate of 0.73 million Nm3 
recorded in the year to  
31 December 2021.

Netherlands 
drilling campaigns
2021 drilling campaign 
completed in February 2022, 
increasing production from 
Q10-A and appraising the 
Orion oil field and the Q11-B 
gas discovery.

Subsequent drilling campaign 
finished in Q1 2023, 
designed to mitigate natural 
production decline from 
Q10-A, accelerate recovery 
from certain reservoirs and 
improve the stability of other 
producing wells.

Benriach
Drilling of the Benriach 
exploration well (Kistos 25%) 
has been approved and was 
spudded in March 2023, 
targeting 638 Bcf (operator’s 
gross P50 resource estimate).

Growing reserves
Year-end 2P reserves of  
12.7 MMboe will increase to  
36.3 MMboe on completion of 
the Mime Petroleum A.S. (Mime) 
transaction. 2P reserves plus  
2C resources will be c.80 MMboe 
including Mime.
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Financial Highlights

EBITDA >  
€500 million 
Pro forma Adjusted EBITDA1  
of €517 million for  
the 12 months to  
31 December 2022. 

2022 Year in Review

€19.5 million 
capital expenditure
Capital expenditure on  
a cash basis, excluding 
business acquisitions,  
was €19.5 million  
(2021: €20.0 million), 
primarily on drilling 
campaigns on the  
Q10-A field.

Business 
development 
opportunities
Having now achieved three 
deals in three years (Mime, 
GLA and Tulip), the Group 
continues to evaluate 
business development 
opportunities, in line with its 
strategy and capitalising on 
its financial strength.

€212 million  
cash balance
Cash balances on  
31 December 2022 of 
€212 million (31 December 
2021: €77 million) and 
net cash1 of €130 million 
(31 December 2021: net 
debt of €73 million). 

Result for  
the period
Profit after tax of €73 million, 
including €44 million of 
impairment charges relating 
to exploration assets in the 
Netherlands, €27 million of 
gains from changes and releases 
in acquisition contingent 
consideration balances, and a 
total tax charge of €228 million 
(including €47 million impact 
of the Solidarity Contribution 
Tax in the Netherlands).

Entry into  
Norway
After year end, Kistos 
announced, and subsequently 
completed, the acquisition 
of Mime for consideration 
of $1 (excluding contingent 
payments) plus up to 6 million 
warrants, adding 24 MMboe of 
2P reserves and 2,000 boe/d of 
production with further upside 
expected from completion of the 
Balder X development (10%).

Debt 
management
Retired 46% of outstanding 
debt by repurchasing 
€68 million of Nordic 
Bonds, leaving €82 million 
outstanding. 

1.	 Non-IFRS measure. Refer to Appendix B to the financial statements for definition and calculation.
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Strategic  
Report
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Building Momentum
After completing its first 
acquisition in May 2021, 
Kistos has built on that 
platform in 2022 with 
the acquisition of a 20% 
working interest in the GLA 
from TotalEnergies.

Located offshore of the UK, west of Shetland, 
the GLA acquisition approximately doubled 
our production when it completed in July 
2022. With natural gas representing c.90% 
of GLA output, the deal was consistent with 
our ambition to build a portfolio of assets 
with a role to play in the energy transition. 
Development and exploration upside was also 
added to the portfolio.

In the 12 months to the end of December 
2022, net production from Q10-A gas field 
offshore the Netherlands (Kistos 60% and 
operator) averaged 4,700 boe per day (2021: 
5,000 boe per day pro forma). The drilling 
programme we commenced in July 2021 – 
shortly after taking control of the asset which 
was completed in February 2022 – achieved 
its aim of minimising the natural decline 
in production; although the appraisal well 
drilled on the Q11-B gas discovery failed to 
encounter gas in the primary Slochteren target 
(but did successfully test gas from the Bunter 
and Zechstein formations).

A further drilling campaign at Q10-A was 
initiated in November 2022, and departed 
in March 2023 having safely completed its 
work programme. The Kistos technical team, 
with the assistance of external consultants, 
is undertaking a detailed evaluation of the 
campaign results and future production 
enhancement options, and we are evaluating 
the potential for further drilling campaigns 
in the future. This is being done with a view 
to accelerating production and maximising 
recovery from Q10-A, especially now the 
decision has been taken to continue utilising 
the P15-D platform for export.

This was announced alongside our interim 
results in September 2022. As we stated 
then, it substantially reduces future capital 

expenditure and eliminates the risk of 
production interruptions resulting from the 
work to install a new export route. In addition, 
changes to the tax environment have made 
investment less attractive. For those reasons, 
it was the right decision economically. 

However, because Q10-A will remain reliant 
on the availability of older infrastructure that 
we don’t control, cessation of production is 
likely to occur in the 2030s rather than the 
2040s. This was a major contributor to the 
reduction in Group proved and probable 
reserves in 2022. 

Andrew Austin
Executive Chairman

Having completed three acquisitions to date, 
we remain focused on building the business 
and we continue to evaluate a pipeline 
of business development opportunities, 
which includes geographies other than the 
Netherlands and the UK. Nevertheless, if we 
are to add value for shareholders, it is critical 
that we maintain our financial discipline 
and avoid overpaying for assets. Hence, the 
Board will consider making cash distributions 
to shareholders if attractive opportunities 
cannot be identified. 

It is in this context, we decided not to pursue 
a Proposed Combination with Serica Energy 
last summer. While both the Kistos and Serica 
Boards agreed on the strong industrial logic 
of a combination, terms could not be agreed 
that the Board believed fully reflected the 
value of Kistos.

Importantly, while we assess other potential 
acquisitions, we are pursuing the organic 
growth opportunities within our existing 
portfolio. During 2022, the Orion oil field 
development project completed the Concept 
Assess phase and moved into the Concept 
Select phase and we expect to submit a Field 
Development Plan (FDP) and permitting 
requests to the authorities before the end 
of this year. In addition, we remain mindful 
of the opportunity to develop the Q11-B 
gas discovery but at present work is on hold 
due to the uncertainty surrounding the tax 
regimes in the Netherlands. This has caused 
us to fully impair the value of the assets until 
such time as there is sufficient fiscal clarity or 
incentives available to encourage investment 
in energy security.

Production from GLA in 2022 averaged 
5,900 boe per day from acquisition (6,200 
boe per day net to Kistos on a pro forma 
basis). This was in line with expectations, with 
onshore processing at the Shetland Gas Plant 
(SGP) allowing for very reliable operations. 
On a pro-forma basis, the acquisition 
contributed €250 million of Adjusted EBITDA 
in 2022. The headline cost of acquiring these 
assets was US$125 million, based on an 
effective economic date of 1 January 2022. 
The final firm cash consideration payment 
was US$43 million, the difference being the 
post-tax cashflows generated from the assets 
between the effective economic date and the 
completion date of 10 July 2022.

Executive Chairman’s Statement

“In the 12 months to the 
end of December 2022, net 
production from Q10-A 
gas field offshore the 
Netherlands (Kistos 60% 
and operator) averaged 
4,700 boe per day.”
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In the UK, the Board of Directors has 
approved Kistos’ participation in the Benriach 
exploration well, (Kistos 25%) west of 
Shetland. The well was spudded in March 
2023, targeting 638 Bcf (operator’s gross P50 
resource estimate), with results expected in 
mid-2023. The Board is also ready to sanction 
the Glendronach development in the GLA, 
west of Shetland, with a decision by the joint-
venture partners expected to be taken later in 
2023 to allow further technical reviews to be 
undertaken with the aim of reducing costs.

Central to our operations is our health, safety 
and environmental (HSE) performance. While 
our overall performance was positive, we did 
suffer one Lost Time Incident in early 2022 
on the Borr drilling rig, but we did not suffer 
any medical treatment cases and there was 
no increase in first aid cases. This was despite 
having drilling rigs on location for more than 
six months of the year.

Following an upgrade of the wind turbines  
in 2021, the renewably powered Q10-A 
platform maintained its excellent emissions 
intensity track record during 2022 with  
Scope 1 CO2 emissions of less than 0.01 kg  
per boe (excluding necessary flaring during 
drilling campaigns). CO2 emissions from GLA 
during the period remained below the average 
for the UK North Sea at 11.9 kg per boe (Scope 
1 and Scope 2) and substantially below 
the level attributable to imported liquefied 
natural gas (LNG).

Given that the greenhouse gas emissions 
associated with imported hydrocarbons are 
typically much higher than those associated 
with locally produced hydrocarbons, the 
imposition of so-called windfall taxes on 
Europe’s upstream oil and gas industry is 
difficult to comprehend. This is all the more 
so when the negative implications of these 

measures for energy security of supply are also 
considered. We have already seen companies 
with international asset portfolios cancelling 
North Sea projects and diverting capital 
overseas, and the instability of the fiscal 
regimes in which we operate has prompted us 
to review our investment options.

We are particularly disappointed by the Dutch 
authorities’ retrospective implementation of 
the EU’s Solidarity Contribution Tax, which 
imposes an additional 33% charge on so-
called ‘surplus profit’ made in 2022. Surplus 
profit is defined as anything more than 120% 
of a company’s average annual profit from 
2018–2021 inclusive. Firstly, and by their 
very nature, retrospective taxes go against 
the long-standing consensus that one of the 
key characteristics of a taxation system is 
that it should have a principle of certainty. 
Secondly, on a company level, the Solidarity 
Contribution Tax unfairly impacts companies 
such as Kistos, that had hedged some or 
all their 2022 gas sales below spot prices, 
whereas the counterparties that enjoyed 
profits on the other side of these hedges have 
not been subjected to the tax. Finally, the 
mechanism by which the tax is calculated, 
by reference to so-called ‘baseline’ profits 
for the years 2018 to 2021 inclusive, covers 
some of the lowest commodity prices in the 
last decade and, in the case of Kistos, years in 
which the Group’s Dutch subsidiary realised 
losses or minimal profits due to it being in a 
pre-production phase.

The imposition of this regressive tax means 
that the Group, and the other energy industry 
participants in the EU, will find it difficult 
to justify future material investments and 
developments due to the risk of confiscation 
of profits should oil or gas prices rise 
again. As in the case of Kistos, this has 

Executive Chairman’s Statement

had an immediate effect on investment 
being allocated to the Netherlands, such 
as not proceeding with the reroute of 
production from Q10-A, which in turn affects 
our 2P reserve base. We understand the 
implementation of the Solidarity Contribution 
Tax is subject to legal challenges by other 
parties, and, separately, we believe we have 
a strong argument that our Dutch subsidiary 
is out of scope of the charge. This is because 
the Board of Directors is of the opinion that 
under DAS 270 of Dutch GAAP (the relevant 
accounting standard), the revenue threshold 
for Kistos NL2 to be liable for the solidarity 
contribution has not been met. However, 
due the early stages of this process, the 
requirement to publish our accounts in a 
timely fashion, and lack of precedent for 
this tax, we have reluctantly but prudently 
included the potential charge of €46.9 million 
within the accounts for the year.

Alongside several of our counterparties in 
the sector, we are lobbying the UK and Dutch 
Governments to address our concerns and 
take action that will save jobs, reduce carbon 
emissions, reduce the balance of payments 
deficit and minimise dependence on energy 
imports. We hope they will listen and act 
accordingly, but we cannot be certain of that. 
Therefore, as stated earlier, our focus has to 
be elsewhere, and our pipeline of business 
development opportunities now includes 
assets in jurisdictions other than the UK and 
the Netherlands. To that effect, in April 2023 we 
announced that we had reached a conditional 
agreement to acquire Mime. The transaction 
completed in May and marks our entry into the 
Norwegian Continental Shelf (NCS), adding  
24 MMboe of 2P reserves plus 30 MMboe of 2C 
resources, primarily oil. In terms of production, 
Mime will add over 2,000 boe/d immediately 
and help to boost Group output to in excess 

of 15,000 boe/d in 2025 once the Jotun FPSO 
(on the Balder X development) is onstream. 
The transaction will also act as a platform for 
growth for Kistos and Mime in Norway.

Adjusted EBITDA for 2022 was €380.0 million 
(2021: €78.9 million) while adjusted pro 
forma EBITDA, which includes a full 12-month 
contribution from the GLA, was €517.2 million 
(2021: €102.9 million). This was split evenly 
between the first half and the second half  
of the year, with movements in gas prices  
and production rates offsetting each other. 
Hence, we ended the year with net cash  
of €130.4 million (2021: net debt of  
€72.7 million), which was achieved after 
paying for the GLA acquisition and cash 
capital expenditure of €19.5 million  
(2021: €20.0 million).

Finally, I would like to thank our employees and 
contractors for their work and commitment 
to the Company and to thank our suppliers, 
co-venturers and others for their continued 
support. From a standing start in the fourth 
quarter of 2020, we have built an excellent 
platform and we will seek to deploy further 
capital in the right opportunities or make 
distributions to shareholders. Although we do 
not set explicit long-term targets for reserves 
or production, our focus for which we are well-
placed is to continue generating substantial 
returns for investors and look forward to 
reporting further progress during 2023.

 
Andrew Austin 
Executive Chairman

26 May 2023
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2022 was an important year 
for Kistos, as our acquisition 
of a 20% interest in the 
GLA consolidated our 
position as an operating 
business with significant 
reserves, production and 
technical expertise. 

Our Dutch assets contributed a full 12 months 
of production to the Group for the first 
time and the pro forma Group average gas 
production rate was 1.52 million Nm3 per day 
(net to Kistos) compared with 0.73 million 
Nm3 per day on a pro forma basis in 2021. 
Average daily production was higher in the 
first half of the year owing to a planned 
maintenance shutdown on the P15-D 
platform in the third quarter of the year. 

On 31 January 2022, Kistos entered into an 
agreement with TotalEnergies to acquire 
assets including:

	ˑ 20% working interests in the producing 
Laggan, Tormore, Edradour and Glenlivet 
gas fields, located offshore the UK, west of 
Shetland.
	ˑ 20% interest in the undeveloped 
Glendronach gas field.
	ˑ 25% interest in block 206/4a, which 
contains the 638 Bcf (operator’s gross P50 
resource estimate) Benriach prospect.
	ˑ 20% interest in the SGP.

The consideration payable in respect of 
the acquisition comprised initial cash 
consideration of US$125 million (at the 
effective economic date of 1 January 2022) 
plus certain contingent payments. These 
payments relate to the average day-ahead gas 
price at the National Balancing Point in 2022 
and to the potential development of Benriach.

Kistos expected production from the GLA  
to approximately double Group output. In  
the event, it exceeded that expectation and, 
on a pro forma basis, delivered an average  
of 0.83 Nm3 per day net to Kistos, which 
represented 54% of the Group total. Uptime 
in 2022 was excellent, at over 95% excluding 
planned maintenance.

Drilling campaign
During 2022, we were engaged in two drilling 
campaigns. The first commenced with the 
arrival of Borr Drilling’s Prospector-1 jack-up 
drilling rig at the Q10-A field in mid-July 2021. 
It continued until February 2022. The outcome 
of this programme was:

	ˑ A flow test of the Q10-A Orion oil discovery.
	ˑ A sidetrack of the Q10-A-04 well, which 
was not producing, to a new location in the 
Slochteren formation.
	ˑ A series of production-enhancing 
workovers on existing producing wells at 
the Q10-A gas field.
	ˑ An appraisal well on the Q11-B gas  
discovery (which flowed gas from the  
Bunter and Zechstein formations, although 
failed to encounter gas in the primary 
Slochteren target).

The second campaign commenced in 
October 2022 with the arrival at Q10-A of the 
Valaris 123 jack-up drilling rig. This ended 
in March 2023 and focused on mitigating 
recovery from Q10-A by accelerating the 
recovery of hydrocarbons from certain 
reservoirs and improving the stability of other 
producing wells.

An important part of the acquisition in the 
Netherlands in 2021 was gaining access to 
a highly skilled workforce and an operating 
capability. It is a tribute to the team that we 
had only one Lost Time Incident in more than 
nine months of drilling and testing across two 
separate campaigns.

Gas producing assets
Q10-A (Kistos 60% and operator)
From May 2021 to July 2022, Q10-A 
was Kistos’ principal producing asset. It 
straddles the Q07 and Q10-A production 
licences approximately 20 km offshore the 
Netherlands and received development 
approval in January 2018. Little more than 
a year after the project was sanctioned, 
commercial gas production was achieved in 
February 2019.

The facilities comprise a remotely operated, 
unmanned platform with six well-slots, 
located in relatively shallow water of 
approximately 21 metres. The platform was 
designed to have as small a carbon footprint 
as possible, with on-board wind turbines 
and solar panels providing most of its power. 
Furthermore, any visits to the platform are 
carried out by boat rather than by helicopter.

We estimate the Scope 1 emissions related 
to our production activities offshore the 
Netherlands were less than 0.01 kg CO2e/boe 
in 2021 and 2022. Produced gas is exported 
through a dedicated 42 km pipeline to the 
TAQA-operated P15-D platform, where it 
is processed for onward transportation to 
shore. Following a thorough review in 2022 
of potential alternative export routes, and in 
light of recent tax changes, a decision was 
taken to continue using P15-D. This reduces 
future capital expenditure and removes the 
risk of interruptions to production caused 
by the project. However, Q10-A’s continued 
reliance on P15-D means it is now likely to 
cease production in the early 2030s rather 
than in the 2040s.

Operating Review

Peter Mann
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer's Review
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Greater Laggan Area (Kistos 20%)
The producing Greater Laggan Area (GLA) gas 
fields are in water depths of approximately 
300 to 625 metres and are located up to 
125 km north-west of the Shetland Islands. 
Development approval was originally 
granted in 2010 and first gas was achieved 
at the Laggan and Tormore fields during 
2016. The Glenlivet and Edradour fields 
received development approval in 2015 and 
subsequently came on-stream in 2017.

The fields are tied back to the onshore SGP 
by a 140-kilometre pipeline network, which 
represents the longest subsea-to-shore 
system in the UK North Sea. The SGP is located 
on the north coast of the main island of the 
Shetland Islands. When the hydrocarbons 
arrive onshore, the liquids (condensates) are 
removed and piped to the nearby Sullom Voe 
Terminal, while the gas is processed at SGP 
before being exported to the St Fergus Gas 
Terminal in Scotland.

In 2022, the CO2 emissions intensity (on 
a Scope 1 and Scope 2 basis) from GLA 
production was approximately 12 kg per 
boe, well below the UK average for offshore 
gas fields of 22 kg per boe. As production 
from the GLA naturally declines (prior to any 
incremental production coming on stream) 
this intensity ratio is anticipated to increase in 
2023. The joint-venture operator is evaluating 
energy efficiency and electrification options 
at the SGP during 2023 to further reduce the 
asset’s carbon intensity.

Development projects
Netherlands: Q10-A Orion (Kistos 60% 
and operator)
Kistos drilled an appraisal well at the Q10-A 
Orion oil field in 2021 and successfully flow 
tested an 825-metre horizontal section of the 
reservoir at a rate of 3,200 b/d. The result led 
to a decision to commence the Concept Assess 
phase of development planning for the field. 
This involved building new static and dynamic 
reservoir models before evaluating several 
development concepts with a view to creating 
a shortlist of options to take forward into a 
more detailed phase of work.

Concept Assess was successfully completed 
in the second half of 2022. This led to three 
development concepts being taken forward to 
the Concept Select phase of the project, which 
commenced in early 2023. This is expected 
to be completed later in 2023, potentially 
enabling a Final Investment Decision (FID) to 
be taken by the end of the year.

Netherlands: Q11-B (Kistos 60%  
and operator)
The Q11-B appraisal well was suspended 
in February 2022. Although it failed to 
produce gas from its primary target, this 
disappointment was tempered by successful 
tests from the Zechstein and Bunter 
formations. These outcomes, combined with 
adverse changes to the Dutch fiscal regime, 
have meant that there is currently no material 
expenditure on these licences budgeted or 
planned, and as such the amounts relating to 
Q11-B have been fully impaired.

Chief Executive Officer's Review

GLA: Glendronach (Kistos 20%)
The Glendronach field was discovered in 
2018 and is part of the GLA. It is anticipated 
that the field will be developed with a single 
well tied back to existing infrastructure. It is 
expected to extend the life of the GLA, but FID 
was deferred by the joint-venture partner in 
the second half of 2022. It is now undertaking 
further technical reviews with the aim of 
reducing the cost of the project and Kistos 
anticipates FID will be taken in the second half 
of 2023.

Exploration
GLA: Benriach (Kistos 25%)
Drilling of the Benriach exploration prospect, 
operated by our partner TotalEnergies, 
commenced at the end of Q1 2023 and is 
targeting an operator-estimated P50 gross 
recoverable resources of 638 Bcf (110 MMboe), 
being 160 Bcf (28 MMboe) net to Kistos. Kistos’ 
share of the cost of the well on a dry-hole basis 
is forecast to be c.€18 million pre-tax or  
c.€3 million post tax.

Other
UK 33rd Round (Kistos 25%)
Kistos is part of a TotalEnergies-led joint 
venture that has re-applied for six blocks 
or part-blocks in the GLA as part of the 
UK Government’s 33rd Offshore Oil 
and Gas Licensing Round. The acreage 
covers 24km2 and includes the Ballechin 
exploration prospect.

M10/M11 and other NL licences  
(Kistos 60%)
During the first half of 2022, Kistos applied  
for the M10a and M11 (Kistos 60%) licences 
north of the Wadden Islands to be extended 
beyond 30 June 2022. Historically, Kistos  
has had licences extended past their expiry 
date but, on this occasion and in common 
with some other operators with similar 
licences, the Company was informed that  
the extension had not been granted by the 
Dutch authorities.

Kistos subsequently engaged in discussions 
with the Dutch authorities and lodged an 
appeal against this decision. This included 
full details of our rationale for doing so plus 
a draft FDP to which the Board of Directors 
is willing to commit capital. We are awaiting 
the outcome of the appeal, which was heard 
in December 2022. As a result of this, the 
balance relating to M10/M11 of €7.5 million 
has been impaired in full, although this was 
offset by a release of contingent consideration 
payable of the same amount. 

Outside of the M10/M11 area, in January 2023 
Kistos was awarded the P12b, Q13b and Q14 
licences covering a total acreage of 507 km2 
adjacent to the existing Q10 block.

Reserves
Kistos exited 2021 with 2P reserves of  
18.1 MMboe in the Netherlands while our 
20% interest in the GLA contained a further 
6.2 MMboe at the same date. Since then, our 
reserves have been impacted by the economic 
implications of fiscal amendments in the UK 
and the Netherlands. Therefore, while there 
has been some reduction in technical reserves 
due to reservoir performance, economic 
reserves have been materially impacted.
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Chief Executive Officer's Review

Pro forma production in 2022 was 4.0 MMboe 
while the decision to continue exporting 
via P15-D, in large part due to adverse 
changes to the tax environment, reduced 
reserves by a further 4.3 MMboe. This is 
because it is expected to result in Q10-A 
ceasing production earlier than under an 
alternative export route, due to limitations 
on the existing infrastructure. Net downward 
revisions to previous reserves estimates, 
which relate primarily to the Q10-A reservoir 
proving to be tighter than originally thought, 
amounted to 3.3 MMboe. Overall, these 
movements led to Kistos ending 2022 with 2P 
reserves of 12.7 MMboe.

Acquisition of Mime
After the period end, in April 2023 Kistos 
entered into an agreement to acquire 100% 
of the share capital of Mime Petroleum A.S. 
(Mime), and completed the transaction 
on 23 May 2023. The consideration for the 
transaction is US$1 plus the issue of up to 6 
million warrants exercisable into new Kistos 
ordinary shares at a price of 385p each. 3.6 
million of the warrants can be exercised 
between completion of the transaction and 
18 April 2028. The balance will be exercisable 
from 1 June 2025 until 18 April 2028. A 
payment to Mime’s bondholders of up to 
US$45MM in 2025 is contingent on certain 
operational milestones being achieved. 

Overview of Mime
Mime is headquartered in Oslo, Norway. It 
has an experienced management team and 
is focussed on development and production 
projects on the Norwegian Continental Shelf 
(NCS). It holds a 10% interest in the Balder joint 
venture (comprising the Balder and Ringhorne 
fields) and a 7.4% stake in the Ringhorne East 
unit, all operated by Vår Energi A.S.A.

Based on operator estimates, 2P reserves 
at Balder and Ringhorne were 23.6 MMboe 
net to Mime at the end of 2022. In addition, 
Kistos estimates Mime has net 2C resources of 
29.8 MMboe, largely comprised of additional 
upside in Balder and Ringhorne plus the 2021 
King oil discovery.

Mime’s share of production from Balder 
and Ringhorne is expected to be over 2,000 
boe/d in 2023. This will increase significantly 
once the Balder X project is onstream, with 
production for the enlarged Group expected to 
be over 15,000 boe/d in 2025 once the Jotun 
Floating Production Storage and Offloading 
vessel (FPSO) is onstream.

Balder X comprises the Balder Future and 
Ringhorne Phase IV drilling projects and is 
designed to extend the life of the Balder Hub. 
It includes upgrading the Jotun FPSO, which is 
more than 70% complete and is forecast by the 
operator to sail away in 2024.

Scope 1 and Scope 2 CO2 emissions from the 
Balder Hub are expected to fall by more than 
50% to approximately 7.5kg per boe once 
Balder X is onstream. This is well below both 
the global and the North Sea average.

Acquisition terms and consideration
Following completion and restructuring of 
Mime’s existing bonds, the additional debt 
assumed by the Group will total $225 million, 
comprising:

	ˑ $120 million of Super Senior bonds, which 
will attract interest of 9.75% per annum, 
4.50% of which is payable in cash and 
5.25% of which is payable-in-kind in the 
form of additional Super Senior bonds. The 
maturity date of the Super Senior bonds is 
17 September 2026.
	ˑ $105 million of so-called ‘MIME02’ bonds, 
which will attract an interest rate of 10.25% 
payable-in-kind. The maturity date of the 
MIME02 bonds is 10 November 2027.

A contingent payment of $45 million will be 
made to the MIME02 bondholders in the event 
500,000 bbl (gross) have been offloaded and 
sold from the Jotun FPSO by 31 December 
2024. This will decline to $30 million from  
1 January 2025 to 28th February 2025, to  
$15 million from 1 March 2025 to 31 May 
2025, and to zero thereafter.

If 500,000 bbl (gross) has not been offloaded 
and sold from the Jotun FPSO by 31 May 
2025, the holders of Mime’s Nordic Bonds 
will be allocated up to 2.4 million warrants 
exercisable into Kistos ordinary shares at 
a price of 385p each. The warrants can be 
exercised between 30 June 2025 and 18 April 
2028. Simultaneously, up to 1.9 million of the 
5.5 million warrants issued as consideration 
for the Mime shares will be cancelled.
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Production and revenue
Gas production on a working interest basis 
totalled 391 million Nm3 (10.6 kboe/d 
total hydrocarbon production) in the year 
to 31 December 2022 (2021: 145 million 
Nm3 gas production, and 4.3 kboe/d total 
hydrocarbon production). This 270% 
increase reflected a full year contribution 
from the Q10-A, versus seven months in 
2021, and almost six months production 
from our interest in the GLA. On a pro forma 
basis, Kistos gas production significantly 
increased in 2022 from 268 million Nm3 
(5.0 kboe/d total hydrocarbon production) 
to 556 million Nm3 or (10.9 kboe/d total 
hydrocarbon production).

The Group’s average realised gas price during 
the period was €98.7/MWh versus €57.4/
MWh in 2021 and this, combined with higher 
production, resulted in total revenue from 
gas sales increasing by 459% year-on-year to 
€411.5 million. This includes the impact of the 
hedging programme in the Netherlands which 
ended in March 2022, whereby 300,000 MWh 
was hedged at €25/MWh. On a pro forma 
basis, these figures were €93.8/MWh and 
€568.4 million. Revenue from natural gas 
liquids (NGL) and crude oil sales was €nil but 
€10.7 million on a pro forma basis, reflecting 
the timing of liftings in the periods. This 
compared with €0.1 million and €0.6 million 
on a pro forma basis in 2021.

Costs
GLA inevitably costs more to operate than 
Q10-A, with the fields lying in much deeper 
water, further from shore and a much greater 
distance to the market. Hence, unit opex 
costs for the period on a consolidated level 
increased from €3.7 per MWh in 2021 to  
€5.8 per MWh in 2022. On a pro forma basis, 
there was a more pronounced increase from 
€3.2 per MWh in 2021 to €6.9 per MWh in 
2022 reflecting a full year of higher GLA 
operating costs.

31 December 2022 
(actual)

31 December 2022  
(pro forma)1

31 December 2021 
(actual) 

31 December 2021  
(pro forma)1

Revenue €’000 411,512 568,445 89,628 116,731

Average realised gas price €/MWh 98.7 93.8 57.4 39.8

Unit opex2 €/MWh 5.8 6.9 3.7 3.2

Adjusted EBITDA2 €’000 380,015 517,202 78,861 102,862

Profit before tax €’000 254,125 n/a3 (73,857) (65,940)

Earnings/(loss) per share € 0.31 n/a3 (0.68) n/a3

Operating cashflow €’000 290,473 n/a3 47,956 n/a3

Cash capital expenditure €’000 19,454 n/a3 19,958 n/a3

Closing cash €’000 211,980 211,980 77,288 77,288

1.	 Pro forma figures include the GLA as if it had been acquired on 1 January 2022. The acquisition completed on 10 July 2022.  
Pro forma figures for 2021 Include the results of Kistos NL1 and Kistos NL2 as If they had been acquired on 1 January 2021.

2.	 Non-IFRS measure. Refer to Appendix B to the financial statements for definition and calculation. 
3. 	Certain pro forma equivalents not applicable. The GLA acquisition comprised the purchase of Interests In an unincorporated  

joint arrangement with no pre-existing IFRS Income statement, balance sheet or cash flow statement from which to derive  
pro forma Information.

€’000 Year ended 
31 December 2022

Period ended  
31 December 2021

Pro forma1  
Adjusted EBITDA

517,202 102,862

Pro forma1 
adjustment

(137,187) (24,001)

Adjusted EBITDA 380,015 78,861

Depreciation and 
amortisation

(83,234) (13,277)

Impairments (44,547) (121,036)

Development 
expenses

(1,752) (4,456)

Transaction costs (681) (2,864)

Share-based 
payments

(538) –

Contingent 
consideration 
movements

26,993 –

Operating 
profit/(loss)

276,256 (62,772)

1.	 Pro forma figures include results from GLA as if it had been acquired on 1 
January 2022, and, for 2021, as if the Tulip Oil acquisition had completed 
on 1 January 2021. The acquisitions completed on 10 July 2022 and 20 May 
2021 respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA

Financial Review
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€’000 Year ended 
31 December 

2022 

Period ended  
31 December 

2021

Cash and cash equivalents 
at beginning of period

77,288 –

Net cash generated from 
operating activities

209,473 47,956

Net cash used in investing 
activities

(66,772) (120,654)

Net cash from financing 
activities

(83,816) 149,986

Net increase in cash and 
cash equivalents

139,885 77,288

Foreign exchange losses (5,193) –

Cash and cash equivalents 
on 31 December 2022

211,980 77,288

Cash flow

Financial Review

During 2022, Kistos incurred pre‑FID 
development expenses of €1.8 million 
(2021: €4.5 million) on potential alternative 
evacuation routes for the Q10-A platform 
in addition to progressing development on 
Orion. As FID was not taken on the alternative 
evacuation routes, and Orion is still subject 
to FID, these costs have been expensed in 
the profit and loss account. Following the 
decision to continue exporting Q10-A gas via 
the P15-D platform, no further expenditure is 
anticipated in 2023.

Adjusted EBITDA was €380.0 million or €81.9 
per MWh equivalent of production in 2022. 
Both figures were substantially ahead of 
the comparable figures for the period to 31 
December 2021 of €78.9 million and €47.5 
per MWh equivalent respectively, primarily 
driven by the material increase in commodity 
prices during the period. On a pro forma basis, 
Adjusted EBITDA was €517.2 million or €76.7 
per MWh equivalent of production versus 
€102.9 million or €33.4 per MWh equivalent 
in 2021. 

The impairments primarily relate to the 
Q11-B and Q10-B assets (€36.8 million), 
which have been impacted by changes to 
the fiscal regime introduced by the Dutch 
tax authorities during 2022. These have 
introduced uncertainty into what was 
previously a stable and predictable fiscal 
regime and, unlike equivalent measures in the 
UK, do not incentivise licence holders to invest 
further by means of enhanced deductions 
for investment capital expenditure. Pending 
further clarity on these measures and whether 
they are to be extended, there is currently no 
substantive expenditure on these licences 
budgeted or planned. As such, as there is no 
longer sufficient certainty over whether the 

carrying value can be recovered from future 
development the amounts relating to Q11-B 
and Q10-B have been fully impaired.

Additionally, a charge of €7.5 million was 
recognised against the M10/M11 licences. 
This has been impaired because, as at the 
balance sheet date, the Group’s application 
to renew the relevant licence had not been 
approved and there is uncertainty as to 
whether the Group would be successful in its 
appeal and/or re-application. As the Group 
no longer holds the licences, the contingent 
consideration payable to the seller, which 
would have crystallised upon taking forward 
further development, has been derecognised 
resulting in an offsetting €7.5 million gain.

Capital expenditure
Consistent with our growth plans and to 
ensure we maximise the value of our asset 
portfolio, capital expenditure in 2022 was 
€19.5 million (2021: €20.0 million) on a cash 
basis. The majority of this related to our two 
drilling campaigns. With FID for Glendronach 
delayed, and Orion still in the Concept Select 
phase, capital expenditure in 2023 will not 
ramp up as much as we originally expected. 
Out of currently anticipated cash spend of 
€40–45 million, approximately three-quarters 
relates to the Dutch drilling campaign that 
completed in March 2023 or to the pre-tax 
costs of the Benriach exploration well. On a 
post-tax basis, we expect the Benriach costs 
to be c.15% of the pre-tax costs, as a result of 
the interaction between capital expenditure 
and the EPL.

Kistos expects Mime’s capital expenditure for 
the full year 2023 to be up to $130 million. Tax 
relief is available on this expenditure at a rate 
of 78% and is expected to result in a cash tax 
refund in December 2024.

Profit/loss before tax
Operating profit for the period was 
€276.3 million (2021: operating loss of  
€62.8 million) and a profit before tax of  
€254.1 million (2021: loss before tax 
of €73.9 million). This figure was after 
impairments of €44.5 million (2021: 
€121.0 million), and net finance costs of 
€22.1 million (2021: €11.1 million), including 
interest charges of €10.5 million associated 
with Kistos NL2’s Nordic Bonds and a non-cash 
loss on redemption of €6.4 million relating to 
repurchases of €68.4 million of Nordic Bonds 
during the period (arising as the bonds were 
repurchased at a small premium to par). 

Balance sheet
At the end of 2022, the Company held cash 
and cash equivalents of €212.0 million  
(31 December 2021: €77.3 million) and net 
cash of €130.4 million (31 December 2021: 
net debt of €72.7 million). The increase in 
net cash of over €200 million was achieved 
after capital expenditure and acquisition 
cash outflows of €67.0 million and bond 
repurchases of €71.8 million, and reflected a 
605% increase year-on-year in operating cash 
flow from €48.0 million to €290.5 million.

The effective tax rate for the Group in 2022 
was 89.8% (2021: 45.7%). The increase was 
driven by the introduction, and subsequent 
increase and extension, of the Energy Profits 
Levy in the UK and the imposition of the 
Solidarity Contribution Tax in the Netherlands. 
The latter is a one-off tax levied on so-called 
‘surplus profits’ generated in 2022. The Group 
paid €65.7 million in cash taxes in 2022 
(2021: €0.9 million), all relating to Dutch 
tax liabilities. Due to the timing of the GLA 
acquisition, no cash corporation tax was due 
or paid during 2022 in the UK.

As a result of the above, higher gas prices 
during the year and adverse changes to the 
fiscal regime in the UK and the Netherlands, 
our current tax liability has increased from 
€15.0 million at the end of 2021 to  
€143.1 million at the end of 2022. This 
includes €46.9 million in respect of the 
Solidarity Contribution Tax. The payment 
of these liabilities and the normalisation of 
the timing of our tax payments will impact 
operating cash flow in 2023 and 2024. 

The Group understands the introduction and 
implementation of the Solidarity Contribution 
Tax is subject to legal challenges by other 
parties. Furthermore, due to differences 
between DAS 270 of Dutch GAAP (the relevant 
revenue recognition standard for determining if 
the tax is due) and IFRS 15, the Group believes it 
has strong arguments that its Dutch subsidiary 
is out of scope of this tax (see note 6.3 to the 
financial statements). Therefore, it is not certain 
at this stage if the Group will be required to 
settle this tax liability, notwithstanding the 
inclusion of the tax charge as a liability in these 
financial statements.
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Kistos Holdings plc is an 
independent, UK-based 
company that creates 
value for investors through 
the acquisition and 
management of businesses 
in the energy sector. 

Market context 
The energy market in which we operate 
is undergoing significant change. With 
society’s growing demand for power and 
the impact that greenhouse gases (GHGs) 
from fossil fuels are having on our climate 
reaching a crisis point, we are starting to see 
a concerted shift towards renewable and 
low‑carbon alternatives.

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 
and the ongoing war there has also impacted 
the energy sector. Western Europe can no 
longer rely on large quantities of gas imported 
from Russia, bringing energy security into 
sharp focus and causing prices to rise 
significantly. Undoubtedly the demand for our 
products and therefore the price was affected 
by this and it also encouraged new sources of 
high-cost supply.

Nevertheless, over the long term and provided 
our host governments encourage investment 
in domestically produced gas for the energy 
transition, we believe that our strategy will 
prove to be sustainable and successful.

Our stakeholders
	ˑ Shareholders and investors
	ˑ Customers 
	ˑ Employees and contractors
	ˑ Suppliers and strategic partners
	ˑ Communities 
	ˑ Non-governmental organisations  
and civil society stakeholders 
	ˑ Governments and regulators

Established in October 2020 and 
headquartered in London, we aim to build 
a balanced, long-term portfolio with high-
quality production and development assets, 
energy storage infrastructure and energy 
generation projects along with industry-
leading carbon footprint credentials. 

In May 2021, Kistos transitioned from being 
an investing company to an operating 
business when we completed the acquisition 
of Tulip Oil Netherlands B.V. and its subsidiary, 
Tulip Oil Netherlands Offshore B.V. (renamed 
Kistos NL1 and Kistos NL2, respectively). 
This transaction provided us with significant 
reserves, production and technical expertise.

In mid-2022, Kistos consolidated its 
position as a North Sea gas producer when it 
completed the acquisition of a 20% interest 
in the GLA from TotalEnergies. This non-
operated interest doubled our share of daily 
production and represented more than one-
third of our 2P reserves at the end of 2022.

Our Board members will use their extensive 
experience to identify opportunities for 
further acquisitions as well as operational 
improvements while fully embracing the Net 
Zero 2050 and energy transition agenda.

Who We Are
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Amsterdam

M10a

P15-D

Q10-A

Q11-Beta

Q10-Beta

Q10-Gamma

M11

Our operations
The Company operates several exploration 
and production licences offshore the 
Netherlands, in which we have a 60% working 
interest. Our joint-venture partner, Energie 
Beheer Nederland (EBN), holds the remaining 
40% interest for all our licences.

Offshore the UK, Kistos has working interests of 
between 14% and 25% in a number of licences 
west of Shetland. These interests include 20% 
of the Laggan, Tormore, Edradour and Glenlivet 
producing gas fields as well as 20% of the 
Glendronach gas discovery and 25% of the 
Benriach exploration prospect. The licences are 
operated by TotalEnergies E&P UK.

Gas production 
Commercial gas production from the 
Q10-A gas field – located 20 km offshore 
the Netherlands – began in February 2019. 
The field, sitting across the Q07 and Q10-A 
licences, was responsible for 46% of our 
proforma gas production in 2022. The gas 
is exported through a 42 km pipeline to the 
TAQA-operated P15-D platform, where it is 
processed and transported to shore. 

The producing GLA gas fields are tied back 
to the onshore SGP by a 140-kilometre 
pipeline network. Commercial gas production 
commenced in 2016 and the fields were 
responsible for 54% of our proforma gas 
production in 2022. After being processed  
at the SGP, the gas is exported to the 
St Fergus Gas Terminal in Scotland.

Who We Are

Exploration and development 
In 2021, we appraised the Q10-A Orion oil 
discovery, which is located alongside the 
Q10-A gas field offshore the Netherlands.  
In 2022, we commenced development 
planning and successfully completed the 
Concept Assess phase of the project. Concept 
Select is now underway, with a view to taking 
FID later in 2023.

In the UK, we have a 20% interest in the 
Glendronach gas field, which is part of the GLA. 
Kistos was ready to sanction the development 
of Glendronach before the end of 2022. 
However, the operator is undertaking a further 
technical review of the project with a view 
to reducing costs, and a decision on project 
sanction by the joint-venture partners is now 
expected to occur later in 2023.

Drilling of the Benriach exploration well,  
which is also located in the GLA and where 
Kistos has a 25% interest, was sanctioned 
in 2022 and is targeting a 638 Bcf prospect 
(operator’s P50 recoverable resource  
estimate). The exploration drilling campaign is 
now underway and results are expected  
in mid-2023.

Future plans
In conjunction with our joint-venture partners, 
we have re-applied for acreage that includes 
the Ballechin exploration prospect in the GLA 
as part of the UK’s 33rd Licensing Round. In the 
Netherlands, we have appealed the authorities’ 
refusal to grant us an extension to the M10/
M11 exploration licences. These contain an 
existing gas discovery that has the potential  
to enhance domestically produced gas supplies 
and that Kistos has indicated it is willing  
to develop. 
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What we do

What We Do

Identify and explore
We seek to identify natural 
gas and oil fields through 
acquisition or exploration. 
Thus far, our focus has been on 
North-West Europe, although we 
are also considering alternative 
geographies in response to 
recent fiscal changes.

Develop and drill
We drill appraisal wells to  
assess the viability of oil and 
natural gas discoveries, and 
develop the infrastructure 
and assets needed for viable 
commercial production.

Extraction
We progress development  
assets into oil and gas 
production from our operated 
licences in a safe, responsible 
and sustainable manner. 

Transport and trading
We produce natural gas from 
the Q10-A field offshore the 
Netherlands via a third-party 
platform for onward transport 
to shore where it is sold. Gas  
we produce from the GLA is 
processed at the SGP prior to 
onward transportation to the  
St Fergus gas terminal in 
Scotland where it is sold. 
Modest amounts of Natural  
Gas Liquids (NGLs) and crude 
 oil extracted from the GLA gas 
stream are sold at St Fergus  
and the Sullom Voe 
Terminal respectively.

Employees and contractors 
	ˑ 24 employees
	ˑ 7 contractors 

Natural resources
	ˑ 12.7 MMboe proved and probable 
reserves (end 2022)

Financial resources
	ˑ €212.0 million of cash at end 2022
	ˑ €429.5 million capital employed
	ˑ €19.5 million cash capital expenditure

Tangible assets
	ˑ 15 producing wells and 
associated infrastructure

What we rely on
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Customers
Wholesale gas buyers – typically 
utility or other large energy 
companies – are increasingly 
looking to buy gas with a lower 
carbon footprint.

Storage
We are looking at energy 
storage solutions as well as 
carbon capture, utilisation and 
storage opportunities as a way 
to future-proof our business.

Use
Our produced gas is used by 
industrial and other commercial 
companies, utility and other 
power generation businesses, 
and by residential customers. 

Energy transition  
and climate change

	ˑ Estimated Scope 1 CO2 emissions 
from our operated activities 
offshore of less than 0.01 kg/boe in 
2022 (excluding necessary flaring 
during drilling campaigns)

Investors
	ˑ €380 million of Adjusted EBITDA
	ˑ €103 million of consolidated  
net assets

Our people
	ˑ €7.7 million in employee  
salary and benefits
	ˑ 17% women represented on  
the Board
	ˑ 17% women in senior leadership 
and management positions

Contribution to countries  
of operation

	ˑ €30.9 million spend on goods 
and services

Creating value

What We Do
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Our Business Strategy
Our main objectives 
are to generate value 
for shareholders 
while maximising our 
sustainability and low-
carbon footprint credentials. 
In short, we want to make 
returns to shareholders in 
a way that benefits current 
and future generations.

Our role in energy transition
We recognise that the world needs to move 
on from fossil fuels such as coal, towards 
more sustainable sources of energy. This is 
not straightforward, but Kistos is a gas and oil 
business that fully embraces the Net Zero 2050 
agenda. Our founding principle is to be part of 
the energy transition by producing hydrocarbons 
with the lowest possible carbon footprint.

Producing natural gas will be critical to 
Europe’s transition to a low-carbon future, so 
our approach involves increasing our reserves 
and production capacity of natural gas with 
low Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions. Oil will also 
remain part of Europe’s energy mix for the 
foreseeable future, and it will be important to 
minimise the carbon footprint of those barrels.

We already proudly produce gas in the Dutch 
and UK sectors of the North Sea through the 
unmanned Q10-A platform, which is powered 
by wind turbines and solar energy, and from 
the GLA.

Our growing portfolio
We believe that shareholder value is a more 
important metric than reserves or production 
capacity, but we remain committed to 
growing our business.

In the first half of 2021, we purchased Tulip 
Oil Netherlands (renamed Kistos NL1) and 
its subsidiary, Tulip Oil Netherlands Offshore 
(renamed Kistos NL2). This deal provided us 
with 60% interests in, and operatorship of, the 
producing Q10-A gas field, as well as other oil 
and gas discoveries in the Dutch sector of the 
North Sea. 

In July 2022, we completed the acquisition of 
a 20% interest in the GLA gas fields west of 
Shetland from TotalEnergies. This more than 
doubled our gas production capacity and 
provided a foothold in the UK from which we 
can continue to grow our business.

Then, in May 2023, we completed the 
acquisition of Mime marking our expansion 
into the Norwegian Continental Shelf. This 
transaction will increase total Group reserves 
plus resources to c.80 MMboe and boost 
Group production to in excess of 15,000 boe/d 
in 2025 once the Jotun FPSO is on production 
at the Balder X development.

Focusing on environmental, 
social and governance issues
Beyond our business strategy, it is important 
to manage the environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) issues associated with 
our Company through responsible business 
practices. On the following pages, we 
summarise how we identified our priority ESG 
issues, our ESG strategy and our ESG goals.
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The materiality process
To help manage risk, we need to understand 
the ESG issues that matter to our stakeholders 
and are most significant to our business. In 
the second half of 2021, Flag Communication 
was commissioned to undertake our first-ever 
materiality analysis. 

The process involved: 

	ˑ A desk-based research and media scan; 
	ˑ A review of Kistos’ corporate approach and 
policies;
	ˑ A review of material issues reported by a 
benchmark group of peers and best practice 
companies; and
	ˑ Interviews with seven internal and external 
subject matter experts, to score potential 
material issues in terms of impact on the 
business and influence over stakeholders.
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Significance of Kistos’ economic, environmental and social impacts
1

1

5

5

Key  Environmental  Social  Governance  Economic

Price Volatility
Asset and Cyber Security

Diversity, Equality and Inclusion

Air Quality

Training and Education

Research and Innovation

Fines and Prosecution

Human Rights

Biodiversity

Infectious Diseases

Direct Emissions

Anti-Competitive Behaviour

Risk Management

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery
Operational Energy Use

Market Presence

Circularity

Employment

Economic Impacts

Stakeholder Engagement

Economic Performance Funding and Investment
Global Energy Transition

Action on Climate Change

Operations in Sensitive or Complex Locations

Financial Risk of Climate Change

Ecological Impacts

Decommissioning

Effluents and Waste

Health and Safety

Spills and Incidents

Business Ethics

Procurement Practices

Governance

Sustainability of Supplier Operations

Community Engagement and Investment

Public Policy and Lobbying

Access to Energy

Our Material ESG Issues
In 2021, we undertook our 
inaugural ESG materiality 
assessment, to identify  
and prioritise the issues 
related to sustainability  
and responsible business 
that are most important  
to Kistos.

Materiality matrix
Below, we summarise the key responses and findings from these stages. All issues plotted on the matrix are significant to both 
stakeholders and Kistos, but the most material issues were deemed to be Spills and Incidents, Risk Management and Health and Safety. 
Most issues are interrelated and should not be considered in isolation.
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Caring for the environment
We will continue to put sustainability first  
with every decision we make.

	ˑ Action on Climate Change
	ˑ Global Energy Transition
	ˑ Operational Energy Use 
	ˑ Spill Performance
	ˑ Air Quality, Emissions and Waste
	ˑ Decommissioning
	ˑ Ecological Impacts and Biodiversity

Putting people first
We will create safe, inclusive workplaces, promote 
human rights and strengthen our communities.

	ˑ Health and Safety
	ˑ Access to Energy
	ˑ Engagement with Communities and Stakeholders
	ˑ Employment, Training and Education
	ˑ Diversity, Equality and Inclusion
	ˑ Human Rights

Operating ethically and responsibly
We will act with integrity to ensure  
we’re always doing the right thing. 

	ˑ Risk Management
	ˑ Business Ethics and Governance
	ˑ Operations in Sensitive or Complex Locations
	ˑ Sustainable Procurement 
	ˑ Financial Risks of Climate Change
	ˑ Funding and Investment
	ˑ Economic Performance 

Our ESG Strategy

As an energy business with  
a vital role to play in society’s 
transition to a low-carbon 
future, we explore opportunities 
for growth and create value  
for our investors. But we seek  
to do so in harmony with the 
planet and with people at the 
heart of our approach.

Our inaugural materiality assessment (see page 18) 
helped us to identify the ESG issues that are most 
important to the Company and our stakeholders. It 
is these issues that have formed the foundation for 
our ESG strategy, grouped under three pillars covering 
environmental, social and governance issues.

In particular, our strategy will broaden the scope of 
our stewardship approach to the environment. We 
fully embrace the aims of the countries in which we 
operate – the UK and the Netherlands – to reach net 
zero GHG emissions by 2050, and work with suppliers 
to promote good practice. 

We remain committed to supplying the natural gas 
that will enable the transition to renewable energy 
as cleanly as possible, while emitting as little CO2 
as possible in the process. We are confident that we 
can contribute to a more sustainable future without 
compromising our growth ambitions. 

Putting 
people 

first

Operating  
ethically and 
responsibly

Caring  
for the 

environment
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Through our ESG strategy, we are making progress 
towards achieving the following ESG goals.

Our ESG Goals

Caring for the environment 
Have zero operational spills annually in our owned facilities. Annual

Recycle more than two-thirds of our waste in our direct operations  
(excluding non-operated businesses, suppliers or partners).

2025

Have zero hazardous contaminants in discharges to water annually in our direct operations. Annual

Achieve net zero office-based GHG emissions in our facilities. 2025

Halve methane emissions from our direct operations, compared to 2021. 2025

Achieve zero methane emissions from our direct operations. 2030

Halve GHG emissions from our direct operations, compared to 2021. 2030

Achieve net zero GHG emissions from our direct operations. 2050

Invest in carbon capture or offset to support the UK’s and the Netherlands’ 
net zero ambitions.

2025

Have an ongoing net positive impact on biodiversity throughout our direct operations. 2025

Achieve ISO 14001 certification for our operated sites. 2025

Creating safe, respectful workplaces
Keep our employees and contractors safe and well, with a goal of zero harm to people 
annually in our direct operations.

Annual

Establish a diversity and inclusion strategy for employees in our direct operations. 2024

Achieve gender pay parity in our direct operations. 2025

Have more than 30% of senior leadership roles in our direct operations held by women. 2030

Ensure that historically underrepresented ethic groups account for more than 20% of all 
permanent employees in our direct operations.

2030

Review our policies to ensure equality and equity for all in our direct operations. Annually

Operating ethically and responsibly
Provide all permanent employees in our direct operations with training on our Code 
of Ethics.

2024

Gain ISO 37001 anti-bribery management systems certification for our operated sites. 2025

Update our security guidelines against the latest ISO standards for our owned business. 2025

Goal Goal
Goal  
year

Goal  
year
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ESG Outlook and  
Non-Financial Performance

Environment
Acting on climate change
We believe that natural gas has an important 
role to play in the energy transition, bridging 
the gap on the journey from fossil fuels to 
a renewable, zero-carbon future. To that 
end, we continue to explore ways to produce 
gas with a very low carbon footprint in an 
environmentally benign way as we seek to 
support the UK’s and the Netherlands’ net zero 
ambitions. In 2022, plans were made to invest 
to increase the wind generation capacity on 
our Q10-A offshore gas production platform 
by installation of a third wind turbine. This 
will be implemented during 2023.

Direct emissions and air quality
Our Scope 1 emissions levels are minimal, 
thanks to the solar panels and wind turbines 
that power the Q10-A platform. In 2022, we 
estimate the Scope 1 emissions related to our 
activities offshore the Netherlands were less 
than 0.01 kg CO2e/boe excluding flaring. This 
represents a 55% reduction compared to 2021 
mainly due to the increased use of renewable 
wind energy for the platform as opposed to 
the use of the standby diesel generator for 
power. Including flaring undertaken during 
our drilling campaign, we estimate the figure 

to be 0.279 kg CO2e/boe. Including Scope 2 
emissions, which relate primarily to the 
combustion of gas in compressors on the 
P15-D platform that used to process and 
export the gas production from Q10-A, we 
estimate the comparable figures to be 13.8 kg 
CO2e/boe and 14.1 kg CO2e/boe respectively.

Across the Q10-A platform in the Netherlands 
and the GLA offshore the UK, where Kistos has 
a non-operated interest, the Company’s  
Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions are 
significantly below the North Sea average. 
Furthermore, they are estimated to be c.62% 
lower than the CO2 emissions associated with 
imported liquefied natural gas (LNG).

We have also implemented a programme to 
identify and prevent methane leaks from our 
operations with annual inspections, exceeding 
the four-year inspection requirement.

In our 2021 report, we published a number of 
goals related to reducing the GHG emissions 
from our offices and direct operations. In 
2023, we plan to refurbish our office in The 
Hague. This will include the installation of an 
improved ventilation system, double glazing, 
and more energy efficient lighting and 
appliances.

Operational energy use
Our Q10-A platform is unmanned and is 
powered sustainably using solar energy and 
wind turbines. Compared to using diesel 
generators, Kistos estimates this saved 
approximately 41 tonnes of CO2 emissions. 
Similarly, the Company estimates that its 
policy of conducting offshore visits via boat 
rather than helicopter saved more than  
21 tonnes of CO2 emissions. We continue to 
reduce CO2 emissions through the reduced 
reliance on standby diesel power generation.

Spills and incidents
We have robust processes in place to prevent 
major accidents and avoid spillages at sea, 
as well as clearly defined mitigation and 
clean-up procedures should an unexpected 
incident occur. Until we have developed a ‘no 
flaring’ policy, we limit gas flaring as much as 
is practicable. During 2022, we experienced 
one overflow into an in-field separator at 
the onshore Hemrik facility. An investigation 
was launched immediately but, in line with 
our goal to have zero operational spills, no 
contaminants escaped into the environment.

Effluents and waste
We strictly adhere to guidelines compliant 
with EU REACH regulations in preventing the 
use of certain chemicals and materials that 
are considered harmful to the environment. In 
2022, we continued to strive to reduce waste 
from our direct operations, in support of our 
goal to recycle more than two-thirds of our 
waste in our direct operations.

Biodiversity
We employ people to watch bird migrations 
and inform us when flaring during drilling 
operations can be conducted safely without 
affecting local wildlife. We also limit the 
ultrasonic sounds from our operations to 
prevent harm to local marine life and take 
specialist advice to keep seals away from our 
platforms. Striving to make a net positive 
impact on biodiversity throughout our direct 
operations, in 2022 we continued to explore 
practical steps to achieve this goal.
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ESG Outlook and Non-Financial Performance

Social
Health and safety
Having incorporated third-party contractors 
into our safety culture, our HSE performance 
remains strong. In pursuit of our goal of zero 
harm to people in our direct operations, we 
had just one Lost Time Incident in 2022, as 
well as one incident of non-compliance, one 
near miss and one identified (non-reportable) 
hazard during six months of drilling and 
testing operations. The strict protocols and 
rigorous testing procedures we have in place 
to keep our employees and contractors safe 
have also ensured that our operations and 
offices have not been disrupted by COVID-19.

Employment
As a result of policies brought in during the 
pandemic, we now have a more flexible 
working environment for all employees. 
However, we remain mindful of the need 
for direct interactions and networking to 
support the professional development of our 
people. Therefore, a comprehensive employee 
satisfaction survey was conducted in 2022. 

This was positive overall and confirmed that 
Kistos’ employees experience a high degree of 
job satisfaction and appreciate the working 
atmosphere. Teamwork is good and people 
feel a high degree of job security, and a large 
majority of staff perceive their roles to be 

necessary and useful. Vertical trust towards 
management has continued to grow following 
the integration of Tulip Oil into the Group.

We have taken action to address areas of 
concern identified by the survey, including 
issues with ergonomics and perceived 
workload. Furthermore, we have started work 
on setting up a comprehensive competence 
management system, through which we can 
demonstrate that Kistos has the competencies 
to perform its operations in a safe and 
professional manner.

Diversity, equality and inclusion
Diversity, equality and inclusion (DEI) is 
important to us. We have a roughly 75:25 
male/female split across our workforce and 
we aim to enhance our approach to equality 
and equity across our business by developing 
a corporate DEI strategy. In 2022, we reviewed 
our policies to ensure equality and equity for 
all in our direct operations.

Stakeholder engagement
As well as ongoing dialogue with our 
employees and contractors, partners, 
suppliers and investors, all our activities 
require the involvement of the relevant 
regulatory bodies, the State Supervisor of 
Mines (SodM) in the Netherlands and the 
North Sea Transition Authority (NSTA) in 
the UK. We also work closely with Element 
NL and OEUK, which represent the interests 
of extractive companies operating in the 
Netherlands and UK respectively. 

Other important stakeholder groups include 
the coastal communities who live near our 
operations, TotalEnergies as the operator of 
the GLA assets, listings agencies such as the 
Alternative Investment Market (AIM) and the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), and the 
coastguards who patrol the waters in which 
our offshore assets are situated.
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ESG Outlook and Non-Financial Performance

Governance
Governance
The Board is responsible for setting the 
Company’s strategic aims, defining the 
business plan and strategy, and managing 
Kistos’ financial and operational resources. 
Overall supervision, acquisition, divestment 
and other strategic decisions are determined 
by the Board. In conjunction with other 
Executive Directors, our Executive Chairman is 
charged with day-to-day responsibility for the 
implementation of the Company’s strategy.

Risk management
Kistos identifies, assesses and manages 
the risks critical to its success. Overseeing 
these risks benefits the Group and protects 
its business, people and reputation. We use 
the risk management process to provide 
reasonable assurance that the risks we face 
are recognised and controlled. This approach 
enables the organisation to achieve its 
strategic objectives and create value. 

Ethics, anti-corruption and bribery
We foster a culture that promotes ethical 
and responsible behaviour. We also work in 
locations where bribery and corruption are 
unlikely but nevertheless, we remain vigilant 
to the risk. 

Funding and investment
Management regularly reviews the Group’s 
cash forecasts and its covenants to ensure an 
adequate headroom of cash availability. Each 
project has a clear delivery framework with 
a responsible project lead. Delivery against 
the project objectives, timeline and cost 
are regularly monitored. Risks being faced 
are discussed and where appropriate risk 
mitigation steps implemented.

Procurement practices and sustainability 
of suppliers
We treat suppliers equally, without 
discrimination, promoting a ‘one-team’ 
culture. Where applicable, we work with 
suppliers pre-qualified for oil and gas 
operations. Kistos ensures any risks and costs 
borne by suppliers undertaking activities that 
support our business are proportional to the 
scope of the work. 

Economic performance
Price volatility is both an opportunity and 
a risk to our business. While we benefit 
financially from the current rise in the price 
of gas, we still need to consider the wider 
impacts in terms of fuel poverty, the effect on 
manufacturing and the fertiliser industry. 

Operations in sensitive or 
complex locations
The Group manages such risks in the 
context of upcoming developments through 
engagements with stakeholders. Where 
necessary, alternative options are also 
considered to allow for risk mitigation. 
External consultants with experience in 
managing these developments are employed 
to help complement the existing team skills.
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Section 172

Stakeholder Engagement

We understand the 
importance of considering 
stakeholders in long-term 
decision making and 
we engage with various 
stakeholder groups in 
support of the ethos 
of Section 172 of the 
Companies Act. 

Kistos Directors act in a way that they 
consider, in good faith, to be most likely to 
promote the success of our Company for the 
benefit of all our stakeholders.

This includes considering the interests of our 
employees, maintaining high standards of 
business conduct, strengthening relationships 
with our partners and considering our impacts 
on local communities and the environment. 

Section 172 specifies that the Directors must 
act in good faith when promoting the success 
of the Company and have regard (among 
other things) to the following:

	ˑ The likely long-term consequences of any 
decision.
	ˑ The interests of employees.
	ˑ The need to foster business relationship with 
suppliers, customers and others.
	ˑ The impact of the Company’s operations on 
the community and environment.
	ˑ The desirability of maintaining a reputation 
for high standards of business conduct.
	ˑ The need to act fairly as between members.

The Board of Directors is collectively 
responsible for the decisions made towards 
the long-term success of the Company. The 
way in which the strategic, operational 
and risk management decisions have been 
implemented throughout the business is 
detailed in this Strategic Report.

Key Board decisions
During 2022, the Board of Directors approved 
the acquisition of interests in the GLA from 
TotalEnergies E&P UK, a deal which completed 
in July 2022. It did so after a thorough 
evaluation of the assets, which led to the 
conclusion that the transaction was in the 
best interests of Kistos’ shareholders, by 
increasing the Group’s gas and oil reserves 
and production and by diversifying into the 
UK oil and gas market.

Given the significant levels of cash generation 
during the year, the Board decided that it 
would be an appropriate use of the Group’s 
cash resources to repurchase €68.4 million 
of its outstanding €150 million of Nordic 
Bonds. This has strengthened the Group’s 
balance sheet and will reduce future 
interest payments.

The Board also approved the intention to enter 
into a Proposed Combination with Serica. 
However, despite all parties agreeing there was 
industrial logic in such a combination, terms 
could not be agreed that the Board believed 
fully reflected the value of Kistos and therefore 
the Board decided not to take the process 
further forward.

The Board approved the capital reorganisation 
of the Group late in 2022, resulting in the 
incorporation of a new holding company for 
the Group. This has positioned the Group 
with a more suitable structure for future 
acquisitions and financing activities.

Engaging with our 
stakeholders
We regularly engage with stakeholders to 
inform decision making and support the 
Board’s understanding of how our activities 
impact on them. Our materiality assessment 
(see page 18), which helped us to identify 
the ESG issues that are most important to 
the Company and our stakeholders, is a good 
example of this process at work. Examples 
of how we engage with some of our key 
stakeholders are outlined below.

Employees and contractors
Our employees and contractors are a 
significant asset to our business. The Board 
engages with employees to understand how 
we can ensure Kistos is a great place to work. 
The Executive Directors regularly visit our 
main operations office in The Hague to engage 
with employees and facilitate two-way 
communications. During periods when travel 
has not been possible or practical, regular 
video calls are conducted with senior team 
members in the Netherlands.
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Stakeholder Engagement

We seek to ensure that:	

	ˑ There is a mindset of continuous 
improvement to achieve the Company’s 
vision and goals;
	ˑ Health, Safety and the Environment 
are considered paramount throughout 
the organisation;
	ˑ Remuneration reviews are undertaken. This 
aids retention of the skills critical to the 
business by verifying employees at all levels 
are being treated fairly, and that pay and 
benefits are competitive;
	ˑ There is ongoing training and development, 
and that career advancement is achievable;
	ˑ The Company’s policies and procedures are 
freely available;
	ˑ Personal development reviews and work 
appraisals are conducted;
	ˑ Employees are informed of the results 
and important business decisions and are 
encouraged to engage with management; and
	ˑ Working conditions are favourable.

Partners and suppliers
Kistos works closely with joint operation 
partners to deliver solutions for asset safety, 
integrity and field life. We collaborate with 
our partners to develop risk mitigation 
strategies for any delays or instances of 
underperformance in our operations. 

We engage regularly with partners to share 
knowledge, offer support and use our influence 
to establish best practices. Senior management 
prepare for and attend Technical Committee 
Meetings (TCMs) and Operating Committee 
Meetings (OCMs) to advise on material 
decisions, together with Board representatives; 
both as operator (in the Netherlands) and as a 
non-operating partner (in the UK).

Looking forward, following completion of 
the acquisition of Mime, Kistos will engage 
fully with the operator (Vår Energi) of Mime’s 
licence interests to ensure it has a complete 
understanding of their performance.

Governments and regulators
We seek to build strong, transparent 
relationships with host governments and 
regulatory authorities. We comply with all 
relevant legislation in the areas where we 
have our operations and disclose all necessary 
information. Kistos engages with SodM in 
the Netherlands to provide updates on the 
business and development activity. The 
Group’s external advisors provide advice in 
respect of changes to legislation or regulation 
and advise the Board directly.

In the Netherlands, we are a member of 
Element NL, which works with regulatory 
bodies and the Dutch Government on 
issues that impact the oil and gas industry. 
In the UK, we are a member of Offshore 
Energies UK (OEUK) and the Association of 
British Independent Exploration Companies 
(BRINDEX), both of which work closely with 
the North Sea Transition Authority (NSTA) and 
enter into dialogue with the UK Government 
on regulatory and fiscal matters impacting oil 
and gas operators.

Community and environment
Kistos recognises and is aware of the potential 
impact that it may have on the environment 
and the communities it serves. With that in 
mind, in our first year of operation, we have 
undertaken an ESG materiality study and 
formulated an ESG strategy. More details 
regarding these initiatives can be found on 
pages 18 to 23.

Maintaining high standards 
of business conduct
Kistos Holdings plc is incorporated in the UK 
and governed by the Companies Act 2006. The 
Company has adopted the Quoted Companies 
Alliance Corporate Governance Code 2018 
(the ‘QCA Code’) and the Board recognises 
the importance of maintaining a good level 
of corporate governance, which together 
with the requirements to comply with the 
AIM Rules ensures that the interests of the 
Company’s stakeholders are safeguarded. The 
Board requires ethical behaviour and business 
practices to be implemented throughout 
the business. Our Anti-Bribery Statement 
and Policy is provided on the Company’s 
website (www.kistosplc.com). The Company’s 
expectation of honest, fair and professional 
behaviour is reflected by this and there is zero 
tolerance for bribery and unethical behaviour 
by anyone representing the Company.

The importance of making all employees feel 
safe in their environment is maintained and 
a Whistleblowing Policy is in place to enable 
staff to confidentially raise any concerns freely 
and to discuss any issues that arise. Strong 
financial controls are in place and are well 
documented. The Board regularly considers 
the key business risks, and a risk matrix 
is maintained.

Shareholders and 
bondholders
We have responsibilities as a listed company, 
with shares on the AIM market of the London 
Stock Exchange, and bonds on the Oslo 
Børs. The investor section of Kistos’ website 
serves as our primary method for shareholder 
and bondholder communication. Here, we 
publish our reports, financial results, investor 
presentations, share price updates and 
regulatory news announcements. Regular 
dialogue is maintained with investors and 
analysts through meetings, conferences 
and presentations.

Shareholder and bondholder engagement is 
the responsibility of the Executive Chairman, 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer. They are also responsible for ensuring 
other Board members are fully briefed on 
shareholder and bondholder discussions from 
investor days and fund manager meetings. 
More formally, the Board engages with 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
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Principal Board Decisions

Principal Risks and Risk Management
Kistos identifies, assesses 
and manages the risks 
critical to its success
Overseeing these risks benefits the Group and 
protects its business, people and reputation. 
We use the risk management process to 
provide reasonable assurance that the risks 
we face are recognised and controlled. This 
approach enables the organisation to achieve 
its strategic objectives and create value. 
Depending on the nature of the risk, we 
may elect to accept the risk, manage it with 
controls or other mitigating actions, transfer 
the risk to others or remove risk as much as 
possible by ceasing those activities giving 
rise to the risks. The Directors confirm they 
have carried out a robust assessment of the 
principal risks facing the Group, including 
those that would significantly adversely 
impact its strategy, business model, future 
performance or liquidity.
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Political risk
There are risks that changes in national government policies towards oil and 
gas-focused companies adversely impact the ability of the Group to deliver its 
strategy. This could result in challenges, delays and refusals related to permitting 
applications for development, appraisal and exploratory drilling in Kistos-owned 
or targeted blocks.

Peter 
Mann  
CEO

Directly and through Element NL, OEUK, BRINDEX and other industry associations, the Group 
engages with the respective governments and other appropriate organisations to ensure 
the Group is kept abreast of expected potential changes and takes an active role in making 
appropriate representations.

Growth of reserves base
The Group’s growth strategy is dependent on identifying new reserves and 
resources, and does so through development and acquisition. Organic growth is 
focused on developing existing resources into producible reserves.

As part of this growth strategy, there is a risk that the Group may fail to  
identify attractive acquisition opportunities or select inappropriate exploration 
work programmes.

Exploration drilling may deliver adverse results due to factors including poor 
quality (or misinterpretation of) data, failure/underperformance of offshore 
vessels or other crucial equipment, unforeseen problems occurring during drilling 
and delays to offshore operations due to unfavourable weather.

The long-term commodity price forecast and other assumptions used when 
assessing potential projects and investment opportunities can have a significant 
influence on the forecast return on investment.

Inappropriately valued targets may result in overpaying for acquisitions, leading to 
subsequent impairments of assets and goodwill and lead to adverse reputational 
and share price impact. Similarly, an inability to convert existing resources to 
reserves, or dry holes experienced during dilling campaigns, may give rise to 
impairments and reduce future forecast cash flows.

Andrew 
Austin 
Executive 
Chairman

The Group identifies and evaluates a broad range of acquisitions and similar opportunities 
and maintains strong relationships within the industry. Potential opportunities are evaluated 
internally and with support from subject matter experts where appropriate. A rigorous 
assessment process evaluates and determines the risks associated with all potential business 
acquisitions and strategic alliances, including conducting stress-test scenarios for sensitivity 
analysis. If applicable, each assessment includes an analysis of the Group’s ability to operate 
in a new jurisdiction.

Exploration, appraisal and development cases are robustly assessed and stress tested against 
cost, price and taxation sensitivities. 

Risk
Executive  
ownership Mitigation Change

St
ra

te
g

ic

Direction of change

Increase in risk 
No change in risk 

Decrease in risk

Principal Risks and Risk Management
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Principal Risks and Risk Management

Direction of change

Increase in risk 
No change in risk 

Decrease in risk

Climate change
Changes in laws, regulations, policies, obligations and social attitudes relating to 
the transition to a lower carbon economy could lead to higher costs, or reduced 
demand and prices for gas, impacting the profitability of the Group. Sources of 
debt and equity finance may become more expensive or restricted as investors 
diversify away from oil and gas-based investments.

Peter 
Mann 
CEO

The Board actively reviews the Group’s strategy towards energy transition with an aim to provide 
long‑term returns to shareholders, and regularly considers the impact of climate change and 
potential changes to policy in its decision making. It continues to investigate and implement 
actions on its existing assets that could reduce its environmental footprint, and environmental 
considerations are a key factor in determining any potential inorganic growth activity.

The value of projects is discounted in the future for later life production to take into account 
possible reduced demand for hydrocarbons.

The Group stress tests its budgets and forecasts in respect to the cost of carbon 
emission allowances.

Cyber security
Breaches in, or failures of, the Group’s information security management could 
adversely impact its business activities. The Group’s information security 
management model is designed with defensive structural controls to prevent and 
mitigate the effects of computer risks. It employs a set of rules and procedures, 
including a Disaster Recovery Plan, to restore critical IT functions.

Richard 
Slape 
CFO

The Group outsources its provision of IT equipment and help-desk services to third parties. 
Various network management systems are used to protect the Group’s IT environment.

Joint venture
As a minority non-operating partner in the GLA partnership, the interests and 
objectives of the partners may not be aligned. This may result in longer decision 
making processes, programmes approved which are not in line with the Group’s 
strategy and/or investment cases which the Group believes are in its best interests 
not voted through by partners.

Peter 
Mann 
CEO

The Group has representatives on all of the joint ventures’ committees (including operating, 
finance and technical) and regularly engages with the joint-venture operator and other 
participants in the joint venture with regards to key decision and strategic direction.

New  
risk

Risk
Executive  
ownership Mitigation Change

St
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g
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HSE and compliance
The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to HSE, compliance, planning, 
environmental, regulatory, licensing and other permitting rules associated 
primarily with production operations, drilling and construction. 

A loss of hydrocarbon containment, in addition to causing harm to the 
environment, could result in reputational damage and incur financial penalties.

Peter 
Mann  
CEO

The Group works closely with regulators to ensure that all required planning consents and 
permits for operations are in place and maintains continual dialogue with all stakeholders to 
understand emerging requirements. 

All activities are conducted in accordance with Board-approved policies, standards and 
procedures. The Group requires adherence to its Code of Conduct and runs compliance 
programmes to provide assurance on conformity with relevant legal and ethical requirements.

The Group manages such risks in the context of upcoming developments through 
engagements with stakeholders. Where necessary, alternative options are also considered 
to allow for risk mitigation. External consultants with experience in managing these 
developments are employed to help complement the existing team skills.

Potential development routes on existing production and new development opportunities 
are reviewed to maximise shareholder returns.

Hydrocarbon production and operational 
performance
The Group’s production volumes (and therefore revenue) are dependent on the 
operational performance of its producing assets. The Group’s producing assets 
are subject to operational risks, including no critical spare equipment or plant 
availability during the required plant maintenance or shutdowns; asset integrity 
and health, safety, security and environment incidents; and low reserves recovery 
from the field and exposure to natural hazards such as extreme weather events.

Peter 
Mann  
CEO

The Group continuously reviews production performance from each of its wells to enable it to 
predict well performance and plan well-intervention activities as needed. 

To the extent possible discussions are held with third parties to manage shutdowns both 
planned and unplanned.

Planned and unplanned downtime assumptions are built into the corporate budgeting cycle 
and cash flow projections.

Following acquisition of interests in the producing GLA assets, the Group’s production base is 
diversified and thus is no longer exposed to a single source of revenue. 

Project delivery
Risk of delays in project delivery and higher costs being incurred, especially under 
the current high inflationary environment.

Peter 
Mann 
CEO

Each project has a clear project delivery framework with a responsible project lead. Delivery 
against the project objectives, timeline and cost are regularly monitored. Risks being faced 
are discussed and where appropriate risk mitigation steps implemented. Project costs are 
stress tested against cost increases with adequate contingency built in to estimates.

Retention of key personnel 
The Group may not be able to retain key personnel, and there can be no assurance 
that the Group will be able to continue to attract and retain all personnel suitably 
qualified and competent necessary for the safe and efficient operation and 
development of its business.

Peter 
Mann 
CEO

The Board seeks to cultivate a safe, respectful working environment where people can thrive. 
Management has undertaken a benchmarking exercise on salaries to ensure that acquired 
staff are retained through a strong remuneration culture. Workplace surveys are undertaken to 
ascertain morale and employee concerns and allow management to swiftly address any issues. 
A long-term share incentive plan is now in place for key staff in the UK and the Netherlands.

Risk
Executive  
ownership Mitigation
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Change

Direction of change

Increase in risk 
No change in risk 

Decrease in risk

Principal Risks and Risk Management
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Commodity price risk
The Group’s cashflow and results are heavily dependent on natural gas and other 
commodity prices, which are dependent on several factors including the impact of 
climate change concerns, geopolitics (including events such as the Russia-Ukraine 
conflict) and regulatory developments. 

Richard 
Slape  
CFO

The Board continuously reviews the oil and gas markets to determine whether future hedges 
are needed and has the necessary contracts in place to undertake hedging activities if 
required.

Cash flow projections and liquidity analyses are regularly tested for downside price scenarios.

Liquidity risk
Adverse changes to production, commodity prices, taxation and surety bond 
requirements may put pressure on the Group’s available liquidity, constraining 
its options to grow the business or, in the worst cases, cause it to breach its bond 
covenants or become insolvent. 

Richard 
Slape  
CFO

Management regularly reviews the Group’s cash forecasts and its covenants to ensure an 
adequate headroom of cash availability. The Group is in regular dialogue with potential 
providers of finance and surety bond providers.

Decommissioning costs and timing
The future costs and timing of decommissioning is a significant estimate; any 
adverse movement in price, operational issues and changes in reserves and 
resource estimates could have a significant impact on the cost and timing of 
decommissioning. Where decommissioning costs are to be shared as part of a 
joint venture, risk of partners not fulfilling their commitments leaving remaining 
partners exposed. Changes to commodity prices, the taxation regime, inflation 
rates and other factors may mean that the Group is not able to renew its surety 
bonds in respect of its DSA obligations, resulting in the Group having to cover 
its obligations fully in cash, restricting the amount of funds available for other 
opportunities and day-to-day operations.

Richard 
Slape  
CFO

The Group mitigates this risk through in-house decommissioning experience, coupled with a 
continued focus on delivering asset value to defer abandonment liabilities. 

Decommissioning security arrangements and postings in place for UK assets which mitigate 
risk from a regulatory and joint-venture partner perspective.

The Group maintains strong relationships with surety bond providers and has obtained 
comfort that the surety market can continue to provide security for the expected 
DSA provisions.

Taxation
Longer-term additional and increased taxes imposed on oil and gas companies 
by governments in reaction to so-called ‘windfall profits’ arising from short-term 
movements in commodity prices have led to a higher tax burden. Uncertainty over 
tax regimes may also hinder future investment decisions and reduce the returns 
from, and profitability of, operations.

Should the Dutch tax office rule unfavourably against the Group with regards to 
the Solidarity Contribution Tax, this would have a material impact to the Group’s 
projected cash position.

Richard 
Slape  
CFO

The Group engages with various industry bodies to raise concerns and suggest alternative 
approaches to proposed taxation policies. Projects and liquidity projections are modelled 
with various tax sensitivities in place. 

The Group engages the support and advice of external experts and legal counsel on taxation 
matters for areas where there exists significant uncertainty and judgement.

The Group will review its investment strategy and may decide not to invest further in, or 
consider withdrawing from, jurisdictions with a recent history of significant tax changes, 
implementation of retrospective taxation, or where the taxation regime proves too 
burdensome.

New risk

Risk
Executive  
ownership Mitigation Change

Direction of change

Increase in risk 
No change in risk 

Decrease in risk
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Chairman’s Introduction
The Board has established 
the corporate governance 
values of the Company and 
has overall responsibility 
for setting the Company’s 
strategic aims, defining the 
business plan and strategy, 
and managing the financial 
and operational resources 
of the Company. 

Overall supervision, acquisition, divestment 
and other strategic decisions are considered 
and determined by the Board. Andrew Austin, 
in addition to acting as Executive Chairman 
and in conjunction with the other Executive 
Directors, is charged with the day-to-day 
responsibility for the implementation of the 
Company’s strategy. The Executive Directors 
are supported by the Non-Executive Directors, 
senior management of the Group, the wider 
team and external service providers as 
required.

The Board follows the QCA Code on the basis 
it is most suited to our requirements, size, 
strategy, resources and stage of development. 
It offers a flexible but rigorous framework 
that allows Kistos to continue to develop its 
governance model in support of the business. 
The QCA Code requires us to apply the 
following principles:

1.	 �Establish a strategy and business model 
that promotes long-term value for 
shareholders.

2.	�� Seek to understand and meet shareholder 
needs and expectations.

3.	� Take into account wider stakeholder 
and social responsibilities and their 
implications for long-term success.

4.	�� Embed effective risk management, 
considering both opportunities and 
threats, throughout the organisation.

5.	� Maintain the Board as a well-functioning, 
balanced team led by the Chair.

6.	�� Ensure that between them the Directors 
have the necessary up-to-date 
experience, skills and capabilities.

7.	� Evaluate board performance based on 
clear and relevant objectives, seeking 
continuous improvement.

8.	� Promote a corporate culture that is based 
on ethical values and behaviours.

9.	� Maintain governance structures and 
processes that are fit for purpose and 
support good decision making by  
the Board.

10. 	� Communicate how the company 
is governed and is performing 
by maintaining a dialogue with 
shareholders and other relevant 
stakeholders.

Andrew Austin
Executive Chairman

The Board is united in working to ensure that 
the Company delivers for its shareholders 
while maintaining high standards of employee 
welfare, safety and corporate governance, and 
a commitment to the environment.

Building and maintaining strong relationships 
with our shareholders is critical to the success 
of the business. The Board seeks to ensure 
that it engages regularly with investors. In 
2022, this included on-to-one meetings with 
larger investors, attendance at conferences 
and interviews with the Executive Chairman 
that were made freely available to all investors 
online.

As at the date of this document, the Board 
has adopted the policies and procedures 
to comply with applicable market abuse 
legislation, including its Share Dealing Code 
relating to the dealing in securities of the 
Company by Directors, Senior Managers and 
employees. The Board is responsible for taking 
all proper and reasonable steps to ensure 
compliance with the Share Dealing Code by 
the Directors, Senior Managers and employees 
of the Company.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by:

 
Andrew Austin 
Executive Chairman

26 May 2023
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Board composition
As of 31 December 2022, the Board comprised 
the Executive Chairman, Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and three Non-
Executive Directors. The Board has judged 
all of the Non-Executive Directors to be 
independent (see Principle 5 below). 

The minimum qualifications for serving 
as a member of the Board of Directors of 
Kistos Holdings plc (Kistos) are that a person 
demonstrates, by significant accomplishment 
in their field, an ability to make a meaningful 
contribution to the Board’s oversight of 
the business and affairs of Kistos and 
that a person has an impeccable record 
and reputation for honesty and ethical 
conduct in both their professional and 
personal activities.

All committees operate under clearly 
defined terms of reference to ensure proper 
functioning and effective application of 
best practice. Committees are required 
to report back to the Board following a 
committee meeting. 

More information regarding each committee 
can be found on pages 39 to 44.

Board objectives/activities
The Board is responsible for formulating, 
reviewing and approving the Company’s 
strategy, budgets and corporate actions. 
The effectiveness of the Board, Director and 
senior management appointments and the 
Company’s succession planning is evaluated 
on a regular basis.

Principle 1: Strategy and 
business model
The Group’s strategy and business model  
is described in the Strategic Report.

Principle 2: Shareholder needs 
and expectations
The Company engages with shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting, after the 
announcements of results, and after the 
announcements of significant operational 
events or transactions. It also regularly 
presents at investor events. During 2022, the 
Company engaged with stakeholders through 
a combination of online forums and face-to-
face meetings.

Principle 3: Wider stakeholder 
and social responsibilities
Kistos seeks to be a responsible corporate 
citizen in all its areas of operation and is 
committed to maintaining a high standard of 
corporate governance. In 2022, the Company 
continued its assessments of ESG matters, 
with HSE and other ESG matters representing 
key areas of focus in Board and other 
meetings. Further details of this are on  
pages 18 to 23.

Principle 4: Risk management
The Board provides leadership within a 
framework of prudent and effective controls. 
The Board has established the corporate 
governance values of the Company and 
has overall responsibility for setting the 
Company’s strategic aims, defining the 
business plan and strategy, defining its 
dividend policy and managing the financial 
and operational resources of the Company 
as well as the review and approval of the 
Company’s financial statements.

The Company has an established Code 
of Conduct and set of values that is 
communicated and reiterated to all 
employees. The Board acknowledges 
that it is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining the Group’s system of internal 
controls and reviewing its effectiveness. 
The procedures that include, inter alia, 
health and safety, financial, operational, 
compliance matters and risk management 
(as detailed in the Strategic Report) are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Statement of Compliance

In addition, any nominees for the position 
of Director shall be selected based on, among 
other things, experience, knowledge, skills, 
expertise, diversity, ability to make independent 
analytical inquiries, understanding of Kistos’ 
business environment, and willingness 
to devote adequate time and effort to 
Board responsibilities.

Board committees  
and structure
The Board has four committees:

	ˑ Nomination Committee;
	ˑ Audit Committee;
	ˑ Disclosure Committee; and
	ˑ Remuneration Committee.
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Statement of Compliance

The Group’s internal control procedures 
include the following: 

	ˑ Board approval for all significant projects, 
including corporate transactions and major 
capital projects.
	ˑ The Board receives and reviews regular 
reports covering both the technical 
progress of projects and the Group’s 
financial affairs to facilitate its control. 
	ˑ There is a budgeting and planning system 
for all items of expenditure with an annual 
budget approved by the Board. Risk 
assessment and evaluation is an integral 
part of the annual planning cycle.
	ˑ The Group has internal control and risk 
management systems in place in relation 
to the Group’s financial reporting process 
and the Group’s process for preparing 
consolidated financial statements. These 
systems include policies and procedures 
to ensure that adequate accounting 
records are maintained, and transactions 
are recorded accurately and fairly to 
permit the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).
	ˑ The Audit Committee reviews draft annual 
and interim reports before recommending 
their publication to the Board. The Audit 
Committee discusses the significant 
accounting policies, estimates and 
judgements applied in preparing these 
reports with the Executive Directors and 
external auditors.

The internal control system can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. In 2022, the 
Board has again considered the need for a 
separate internal audit function but, bearing in 
mind the present size and composition of the 
Group, still does not consider it appropriate.

Principle 5: Board balance
The Board continues to assess the diversity 
and tenure of its members and those of the 
senior management team. Although two of 
them are shareholders in the Company, all 
the Non-Executive Directors are considered 
independent. The Board has reached this 
conclusion after taking note of The Investment 
Association’s Principles of Remuneration, 
which encourages share ownership by Non-
Executive Directors provided they do not 
receive incentive awards geared to the share 
price or corporate performance.

Principle 6: Board skills  
and experience
The Board, collectively, has significant 
experience in the North Sea oil and gas, 
exploration, development and production 
sector. The Directors have also consummated 
at least 13 significant acquisitions, including 
the GLA transaction in 2022, and planned and 
executed three farm-out transactions with 
energy majors as counterparties.

The Directors are familiar with the key issues 
facing both offshore and onshore exploration 
and development activity. The Board has, in 
aggregate, more than 60 years of experience 
in subsurface engineering and geology and 
has been responsible for running complex 

and challenging fields and drilling operations, 
both offshore and onshore.

In addition, the Board has significant 
expertise and experience of dealing with the 
political and social issues facing the industry 
at both the local and national governmental 
levels, both in the UK and overseas.

Principle 7: Board performance
The Chairman has a responsibility to lead 
the Board effectively and to oversee the 
adoption, delivery and communication of the 
Company’s corporate governance model. It 
is imperative that the relationship between 
the Chairman and other Board members is 
collaborative and cordial but robust. The 
Board members work together in the best 
interests of the Company, while remaining 
comfortable to engage in rigorous and 
constructive debate. There is a strong flow of 
communication between the Directors and 
between the Chairman and other Executive 
Directors in particular.

The Directors have a wide knowledge of 
the Company’s business and understand 
their duties as Directors of a company listed 
on AIM. The Directors have access to the 
Company’s Nominated Advisor (Nomad), 
auditors and legal counsel as and when 
required. These advisors can provide formal 
support and advice to the Board from time 
to time and do so in accordance with good 
practice. The Directors are also able, at the 
Company’s expense, to obtain advice from 
external advisors if required.

Further details of the Directors’ skills and 
experience can be found in their biographies 
on page 45.
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Statement of Compliance

Principle 8: Corporate culture
The Company’s strategy to promote an 
ethical corporate culture is described in the 
ESG Outlook and Non-Financial Performance 
section of this report on pages 21 to 23.

Principle 9: Governance 
structures and processes
Kistos’ Directors acknowledge the importance 
of corporate governance, believing that the 
QCA Code provides the Company with a 
framework to provide an appropriate level 
of governance. 

The Board is accountable for good governance 
and maintains control over the Company. 
Kistos holds regular Board meetings at which 
financial, operational and other reports 
are considered and voted on. The Board 
is responsible for strategy, operational 
performance, financial performance, 
approval of major capital expenditure 
and internal controls.

There is an organisational structure with lines 
of responsibility and delegation of authority 
to executive management. The Board is 
responsible for monitoring the activities of 
the executive management. The Board has 
three independent Non-Executive Directors, 
with Alan Booth acting as the Senior 
Independent Director. The Chairman ensures 
the Board discharges its responsibilities and 
is also responsible for facilitating full and 
constructive contributions from each of the 
Directors in determination of Kistos’ strategy 
and objectives.

The Company is committed to a corporate 
culture that embraces equal opportunity, 
diversity, social responsibility, safety 

and a commitment to the environment. 
The Directors seek to instil these values 
throughout the Company. Kistos promotes 
this commitment through statements on its 
website, in its annual reports and through its 
direct communications with employees and 
other stakeholders. 

The Company has adopted a share dealing 
code, which the Board regards as appropriate 
for an AIM-listed company and is compliant 
with the UK Market Abuse Regulations 
(MAR). The Company takes all reasonable 
steps to ensure compliance by the Directors, 
employees and agents with the provisions of 
the AIM Rules relating to dealings in securities. 

The Directors acknowledge the importance 
of ensuring that the Company and its 
stakeholders operate within the requirements 
of the UK Bribery Act. The Company has 
a zero-tolerance approach to bribery and 
corruption and has adopted an anti-bribery 
policy to protect itself, its employees and 
other parties with which it engages.

Principle 10: Communication
The Board recognises the benefits of engaging 
with shareholders and stakeholders, and 
to ensure this happens, meets regularly 
to update them with the activities of the 
Company. Details of who our stakeholders are 
and how we engage with them can be seen on 
pages 24 to 25.

In addition, the Company’s financial and 
operational performance is summarised in 
the Annual Report and the Interim Report. 
Other updates are provided throughout 
the year through regulatory news releases, 
press releases and regular updates to the 
Company’s website.

Board meetings
Meetings attended

	ˑ Andrew Austin		  10/10
	ˑ Peter Mann		  10/10
	ˑ Richard Slape		  10/10
	ˑ Richard Benmore 	 10/10
	ˑ Alan Booth		  10/10
	ˑ Julie Barlow		  10/10

Time commitments
The Board ensures that any members 
appointed have sufficient time available to 
function effectively and efficiently for the 
benefit of the shareholders and the Company.

Succession planning
The Nominations Committee reviews the 
composition of the Board with a view 
to ensuring that its members have a 
combination of skills and experience that 
fits with the future of the Company and, 
within these criteria, promotes gender and 
ethnic diversity.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present 
their report and audited 
consolidated financial 
statements of the Group 
for the year ended 31 
December 2022.

Research and development
The Group undertakes various research and 
development studies as part of its continuous 
evaluation of reservoirs, by improving its 
internal geological and petrophysical models, 
production forecasting and other outputs.

Streamlined energy  
and carbon reporting
Under the Limited Liability Partnerships 
(Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 
2018 (the ‘2018 Regulations’), the company 
is an unquoted company and therefore the 
energy use and associated GHG emissions 
to be considered are those assets located 
in the UK and UK offshore area within the 
Group’s boundary of reporting. The Group 
has set the boundary for reporting to be 
the operational control boundary, which 
would therefore include only those assets 
where the Group is the nominated or legal 
operator of the joint venture or consortium. 
As the company is a non-operator partner 
in its UK offshore activities (which are 
operated by TotalEnergies), the emissions 
and energy usage from these assets are 
not taken into account for the purposes of 
the 2018 Regulations. For the remaining 
activities within the reporting boundary, 
being primarily UK head office activities, the 
company consumed less than 40,000 kWh of 
energy during the year.

Political donations
The Group made no political donations  
during the year.

The Company is not a close company as defined 
in the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988. 
The Company is incorporated, domiciled and 
registered in the United Kingdom.

Company registration
Kistos Holdings plc is a public company 
limited by shares, incorporated in England 
and Wales with registered number 14490676, 
and is the ultimate parent company of the 
Kistos group of companies. Its registered 
office is 2nd Floor, 3 St James’s Square, 
London SW1Y 4JU.

Principal activities  
and status
The Group’s principal area of activity is 
acquisition and operation of companies or 
businesses in the upstream oil and gas sector. 
The Group’s operations are currently based in 
the UK and the Netherlands.

Dividends
The Directors did not pay an interim dividend 
and have not proposed a final dividend.

Future developments
The likely future developments of the Group’s 
business are set out in the Strategic Report on 
pages 7, 10 and 14.

Charitable donations
The Group made charitable donations 
totalling €6,000 during the year.

Directors
The Directors of the Company who were in 
office during the year and up to the date of 
signing the financial statements were:

	ˑ Andrew Austin (Executive Chairman)
	ˑ Peter Mann (Chief Executive Officer
	ˑ Richard Slape (Chief Financial Officer)
	ˑ Alan Booth (Non-Executive Director)
	ˑ Julie Barlow (Non-Executive Director)
	ˑ Richard Benmore (Non-Executive Director)

Directors’ indemnities  
and insurance
Subject to the conditions set out in the 
Companies Act 2006, the Company has 
arranged appropriate Directors and Officers 
insurance to indemnify the Directors and 
Officers against liability in respect of 
proceedings brought by third parties. Such 
provision remains in force at the date of 
this report.

The Company indemnifies the Directors 
against actions they undertake or fail to 
undertake as Directors or Officers of any 
Group company, to the extent permissible 
for such indemnities to meet the test of a 
qualifying third-party indemnity provision 
as provided for by the Companies Act 2006. 
The nature and extent of the indemnities 
is as described in Section 154 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association as adopted 

on 17 November 2022. These provisions 
remained in force throughout the year and 
remain in place at the date of this report.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 15 May 2023, the latest practicable date 
in compiling this information, in addition 
to the Directors’ interests as set out in the 
Remuneration Report, the Company had 
received notification from the following 
institutions and individuals of interests more 
than 3% of the Company’s issued ordinary 
shares with voting rights:

Holder Number Interest

Tulip Oil Holding B.V. 8,742,775 10.55%

Canaccord Genuity Wealth 4,620,970 5.58%

Investec Wealth & Investment 
Limited 4,160,700 5.02%

Schroders plc 4,125,000 4.97%

Fidelity Worldwide Investment 4,071,962 4.91%

Chelverton Asset Management 3,250,000 3.92%

Trium Capital LLP 3,219,035 3.88%
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Rights and obligations  
of ordinary shares
At a General Meeting every holder of ordinary 
shares present in person and entitled to vote 
shall have one vote, and every proxy entitled 
to vote shall have one vote (unless the proxy 
is appointed by more than one member, in 
which case the proxy has one vote for or one 
vote against if the proxy has been instructed 
by one or more members to vote for the 
resolution and by one or more members to 
vote against the resolution; or if the proxy has 
been instructed by one or more shareholders 
to vote either for or against a resolution and 
by one or more of those shareholders to use 
their discretion how to vote). On a poll, every 
member present in person or by proxy and 
entitled to vote shall have one vote for every 
ordinary share held. Subject to the relevant 
statutory provisions and the Articles of 
Association, holders of ordinary shares are 
entitled to a dividend where declared or paid 
out of profits available for such purposes. 
Subject to the relevant statutory provisions 
and the Articles of Association, on a return of 
capital on a winding-up, holders of ordinary 
shares are entitled to participate in such a 
return. There are no redemption rights in 
relation to the ordinary shares.

AGM notice
Notice of the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting will be advised separately.

Independent auditors
The Audit Committee continue to review 
the external auditors’ independence and 
consider the quality, nature, scope and results 
of their work. The auditors, BDO LLP, have 
indicated willingness to continue in office 
and a resolution that they be reappointed as 
auditor of the Company will be proposed at 
the next AGM.

As required under s418(2) of the Companies 
Act the Directors have ensured that all 
relevant information has been provided to 
the auditors and that the Directors have taken 
steps to ensure they are aware of all relevant 
audit information and passed this onto 
the auditors.

Information included 
elsewhere in the Annual 
Report
The Strategic Report is set out on pages 5 to 30 
and includes a comprehensive review of the 
business and the future developments of  
the Group.

Other disclosures required by the Companies 
Act 2006 have been included in the Strategic 
Report and/or financial statements as follows:

	ˑ Note 4.6 to the financial statements – 
the Group’s financial risk management 
objectives and policies
	ˑ Pages 18 to 25 – information concerning 
environmental matters, employees, 
community issues, social matters,  
human rights, anti-corruption and  
anti-bribery matters
	ˑ Pages 24 to 25 – stakeholder engagement

Directors’ Report

	ˑ Page 10 and note 7.5 to the financial 
statements – significant events occurring 
after the reporting period
	ˑ Note 2.10 to the financial statements – 
acquisitions

Details of any long-term incentive schemes 
can be found within the Remuneration 
Committee Report.

Corporate governance
The Company’s statement on corporate 
governance can be found in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

Going concern
To assess the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, base case and downside cash 
flow forecasts have been prepared which 
cover a period of at least 12 months from the 
approval of this Report.

The forecasts and projections made in 
adopting the going concern basis take into 
account forecasts of commodity prices, 
production rates, operating and general and 
administrative (G&A) expenditure, committed 
and sanctioned capital expenditure, and the 
timing and quantum of future tax payments. 

The available liquidity of the Group as at the 
end of April 2023 (the latest practicable date 
of preparing these financial statements) was 
€268 million. To assess the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, cash flow 
forecasts were evaluated for the period to 
December 2024 (the going concern period), 
by preparing a base case forecast and various 
downside sensitivities.

The base case going concern assessment 
assumed the following:

	ˑ Q10-A production in line with latest 
internal forecasts, taking into account 
the results of the recently completed well 
intervention campaign that finished in 
March 2023;
	ˑ GLA production in line with latest available 
operator forecasts;
	ˑ Commodity prices based on observable 
forward curves prevailing at the latest 
practicable date;
	ˑ Committed and contracted capital 
expenditure only (being primarily the costs 
of the Benriach well campaign currently 
underway and Mime’s share of Balder X 
capital expenditure);
	ˑ Completion of the acquisition of Mime  
(note 7.5.3) in July 2023 (for which there 
is only $1 upfront cash consideration, 
and any cash contingent consideration 
expected to be payable January 2025 at 
the earliest), with the Group assuming 
Mime’s restructured debt from that point 
and consolidating Mime’s expected future 
cashflows (including revenues from oil 
production, capital expenditure and 
corporation tax rebates);
	ˑ Obligations under Decommissioning Security 
Agreements (DSAs) for the GLA fields satisfied 
by the purchase of surety bonds in Q4 2023 
(in respect of obligations for 2024) based on 
the most recent funding requirement and DSA 
model received from the operator, and at a 
similar cost to 2023; and
	ˑ Settlement of the €47 million Solidarity 
Contribution Tax charge in Q2 2024 
(notwithstanding that the Group believes  
it is out of scope of the charge).
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This base case forecast demonstrated that  
the bond covenants (minimum liquidity  
and leverage ratio) were complied with and 
that the Group had sufficient cash to meet  
its obligations throughout the going  
concern period.

A key assumption within the forecast is the 
continued availability of surety bonds used 
to cover obligations under Decommissioning 
Security Agreements (DSAs). At 31 December 
2022, the Group had €27.4 million of surety 
bonds in issue which are redetermined 
annually. The next redetermination takes 
place in June 2023, with renewed bonds 
(or other arrangements, if applicable) to be 
put in place by the end of 2023. As part of 
the going concern assessment the Directors 
sought advice from surety bond brokers over 
the Group’s ability to renew surety bonds 
given the combined impact of higher tax 
and inflation rates adversely impacting the 
calculation of the amount of security required. 
Based on the advice received, the Directors 
are of the view that the surety market will 
continue to provide security up to the current 
DSA provisions and those required in the 
foreseeable future. 

Various downside scenarios were also 
analysed, including reasonably possible 
commodity price and production downsides, 
and a scenario where the Group has to fully 
cover its DSA obligations in cash. Individually 
these scenarios demonstrated an ability to 
meet the bond covenants and have sufficient 
cash available to continue in operational 

Directors’ Report

existence in the going concern period. If the 
DSA obligations were required to be fully 
covered in cash and either the commodity 
price or production downside scenarios 
realised, then it is estimated that, with no 
mitigating activities undertaken, the Group 
may fall below its liquidity covenants in or 
around November 2024. A reverse stress 
test was also performed, which showed that 
either a reduction in sales volume or price 
of approximately 45% (compared to the 
base case forecast) for the remainder of the 
going concern period, with all other factors 
held constant, would result in the liquidity 
covenants similarly being breached in 
November 2024. However, as these potential 
breaches are forecast to occur shortly prior 
to the receipt of a material Norwegian cash 
tax rebate anticipated in December 2024, 
the Group is of the opinion that, should this 
combination downside scenario crystallise, it 
would be able to manage its liquidity position 
and avoid any breach via temporary working 
capital management. As outlined above, the 
Group believes the possibility that it will be 
unable to renew its surety bonds on the same 
basis as currently posted to be unlikely.

Accordingly, the Directors have concluded 
that these circumstances form a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence 
throughout the going concern period. For 
these reasons, the Directors continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the 
Annual Report and Accounts.

Responsibility statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing  
the annual report and the financial  
statements in accordance with applicable  
law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to 
prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under that law the Directors 
are required to prepare the group financial 
statements in accordance with UK adopted 
international accounting standards, and the 
company financial statements in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards and applicable law). 
Under company law the Directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the group and 
company and of the profit of the group for 
that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the 
Directors are required to:

	ˑ Select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;
	ˑ Make judgments and accounting estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent;
	ˑ State whether they have been prepared in 
accordance with UK adopted international 
accounting standards subject to any 
material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; and
	ˑ Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the group 
and the company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are 
sufficient to show and explain the company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the company and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Website publication
The Directors are responsible for ensuring the 
annual report and the financial statements 
are made available on a website. Financial 
statements are published on the company’s 
website in accordance with legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements, 
which may vary from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity 
of the company’s website is the responsibility 
of the Directors. The Directors’ responsibility 
also extends to the ongoing integrity of the 
financial statements contained therein.

This report was approved by the Board of 
Directors on 26 May 2023 and signed on its 
behalf by: 
 
Andrew Austin 
Executive Chairman

26 May 2023
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Remuneration Committee Report
Overview 
The Committee comprises only Non-
Executive Directors, being chaired by Alan 
Booth and having as its other member Julie 
Barlow. The Committee met three times in 
the period ended 31 December 2022. The 
Executive Chairman was also invited to attend 
these meetings. In accordance with the 
Committee’s terms of reference, no Director 
may participate in discussions relating to 
their own terms and conditions of service 
or remuneration.

Summary of the Committee’s 
responsibilities 
The Committee’s responsibilities include the 
following: 

	ˑ Making recommendations to the Board of 
Directors on the Company’s policy on the 
remuneration of the Executive Chairman, 
Executive Directors and any other Senior 
Managers delegated to the Committee 
to consider; 
	ˑ Determining, within agreed terms 
of reference, the remainder of the 
remuneration packages for each of 
them, including pension rights, bonus 
arrangements, any compensation payments 
and the implementation of executive 
incentive schemes; 
	ˑ Monitoring the level and structure of 
remuneration for senior management; and 
	ˑ Reviewing the design of employee share 
incentive plans for approval by the Board and 
determining the policy on annual awards to 
Executive Directors and Senior Managers.

Key areas of focus in the year 
ended 31 December 2022
The Committee’s particular areas of focus 
during the year were as follows:

	ˑ Implementation of a share option incentive 
scheme for all employees, including those 
employed by subsidiaries;
	ˑ Review of the Executive Chairman’s and 
Executive Directors’ salaries and bonus 
arrangements for the year; and
	ˑ Agreement of bonus principles for senior 
employees.

Chairman’s statement 
The Committee is pleased to present its 
Annual Report on Remuneration for 2022. The 
aim of the Remuneration Committee is to set 
clear objectives for each individual Executive 
Director and Executive team member, 
taking into account where an individual has 
particular influence and responsibility. 

Following the successful completion of 
the GLA acquisition in July, the Executive 
Chairman’s annual salary increased from 
£300,000 to £400,000, the CEO’s salary 
increased from £250,000 to £350,000 and 
the CFO’s salary increased from £200,000 to 
£300,000 (with effect from January 2022).  
The Non-Executive Directors’ salaries 
remained unchanged at £36,000 each.

The Committee continued to conclude that 
while it has a general framework for targets, 
it was not appropriate to set specific targets 
for 2022, will not set specific targets for 2023 
either with the Company still in an active 
acquisition mode, and is looking to ensure 
that the senior management team and 
Executive Directors focus on evaluating and 
pursuing further development and acquisition 
opportunities throughout the year. 

Directors’ remuneration 
policy 
The Company’s policy is to maintain levels of 
remuneration sufficient to attract, motivate 
and retain senior executives of the highest 
calibre who can deliver growth in shareholder 
value. Executive Directors’ remuneration 
currently consists of basic salary, benefits 
(including pensions allowance) and bonus. 
Long-term incentive schemes, including 
share option plans, may be introduced in the 
future in line with Company expansion and 
feedback from shareholders. The Company 
continues to seek to strike an appropriate 
balance between fixed and performance-
related rewards so that the total remuneration 
package is structured to align a significant 
proportion to the achievement of performance 
targets, reinforcing a clear link between pay 
and performance. 

The performance targets for staff, senior 
executives and the Executive Directors are 
intended to be aligned to the key drivers of the 
business strategy, thereby creating a strong 
alignment of interest between staff, Executive 
Directors and shareholders. 

The Remuneration Committee will continue 
to review the Company’s remuneration 
policy and make amendments, as and when 
necessary, to ensure it remains fit for purpose 
and continues to drive high levels of executive 
performance and remains both affordable and 
competitive in the market.

Key activities during the year
During the year, the key activities of the 
Committee included:

	ˑ Introducing and implementing the share 
option incentive awards to all eligible 
Group employees;
	ˑ Introducing and implementing the share 
option matching awards to certain 
members senior management;
	ˑ Engaging with PwC on the potential 
introduction of a Value Creation Plan (VCP) 
for Executive Directors that, ultimately, was 
not implemented following feedback from 
shareholders;
	ˑ Approving the award of salary changes 
and one-off bonuses payable to Executive 
Directors following the completion of the 
GLA acquisition in July 2022; and
	ˑ Agreeing the changes in remuneration for 
employees and Directors for 2022.
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Remuneration Committee Report

Policy table 
Element of reward – Base salary

Purpose and link to strategy To provide fixed remuneration to:

•	 Help recruit and retain key individuals; and

•	 Reflect the individual’s experience, role and contribution within the Company.

Operation The Remuneration Committee takes into account a number of factors when setting salaries, including: 

•	 Scope and complexity of the role;

•	 The skills and experience of the individual; 

•	 Salary levels for similar roles within the industry; and 

•	 Pay elsewhere in the Company.

Salaries are reviewed, but not necessarily increased, annually with any increase usually taking effect 
in January.

Performance conditions None.

Maximum opportunity The current base salary of the Directors is disclosed below. Salary increases are made with 
reference to the average increase for the wider Company. The Committee retains discretion to make 
higher increases in certain circumstances, for example, following an increase in the scope and/
or responsibility of the role or the development of the individual in the role, by benchmarking or 
following the completion of a material transaction.

Element of reward – Other benefits and pension contributions 

Purpose and link to strategy To provide a basic benefits package, in order to help recruit and retain key individuals.

Operation The Company provides Executive Directors with medical insurance and death-in-service for themselves 
(and their family, if elected) either through cover directly arranged by the Company or by making 
additional contributions to Executive Directors if the individual arranges their own cover.

The Company makes pension contributions into a defined contribution scheme at a percentage 
of gross salary and bonus for certain Executive Directors. No additional contribution is made for 
those Executive Directors who do not receive the Company pension contributions. The contribution 
percentage is equal to that provided to other UK employees.

Performance conditions None.

Element of reward – Annual bonus

Purpose and link to strategy To incentivise and reward the achievement of annual financial, operational and individual objectives 
that are key to the delivery of the Company’s short-term strategy.

Operation •	 The Remuneration Committee will determine on an annual basis the level of deferral, if any, of the 
bonus payment into Company shares. 

•	 Maximum bonus levels and the proportion payable are considered in the light of market bonus levels 
for similar roles among the industry sector. 

•	 The Remuneration Committee sets targets that require appropriate levels of performance, taking into 
account internal and external expectations of performance.

•	 As soon as practicable after the year end, the Remuneration Committee meets to review performance 
against objectives and determines pay out levels.

Performance conditions The award will be based on performance against individual objectives.

Maximum opportunity No maximum potential bonus has been set.

Share option schemes and long-term incentive plans for Executive Directors
There are currently no share option schemes or long-term incentive plans available to the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors.

After the Remuneration Committee had taken advice from PwC, in February 2022 the Company 
announced an intention to establish a Value Creation Plan (VCP) to motivate the Executive 
Directors to achieve exceptional levels of performance and deliver further returns for Kistos’ 
shareholders. However, after holding discussions with stakeholders and listening to their 
concerns, the VCP was not put in place and no awards were made.

Annual report on remuneration remit of the Remuneration Committee
The remit of the Remuneration Committee is outlined in the Corporate Governance section. 

Share price movements during the year 
The Group’s closing share price on 31 December 2022 was 435 pence. The highest closing price 
during the period was 665 pence. 

Current arrangements in financial year (audited)  
Executive Directors
Executive Directors are employed with either party being able to give a notice period of twelve 
months. Directors’ emoluments for the year were as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 2022

£’000 Salary
Benefits 
in kind

Bonus  
(cash)

Bonus 
(shares)

Pension 
contributions Total

Andrew Austin 400 17 400 – – 817

Peter Mann 350 3 350 – 88 791

Richard Slape 300 17 300 – 76 693

Total – Executive Directors 1,050 37 1,050 – 164 2,301

Total – Executive Directors (€’000) 1,231 43 1,231 – 192 2,697
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Remuneration Committee Report

14 October 2020 – 31 December 2021

£’000 Salary
Benefits 
in kind

Bonus  
(cash)

Bonus 
(shares)

Pension 
contributions Total

Andrew Austin 171 41 210 – – 422

Peter Mann1 62 1 88 – 15 166

Richard Slape2 50 4 60 – 11 125

Total – Executive Directors 283 46 358 – 26 713

Total – Executive Directors (€’000) 330 53 416 – 30 829

1. Peter Mann was appointed as a Director on 14 October 2021. The amounts disclosed reflect amounts earned as remuneration, other benefits and bonus pro-rata 
as time as a Director during the period.

2. Richard Slape was appointed as a Director on 14 October 2021. The amounts disclosed reflect amounts earned as remuneration, other benefits and bonus pro-
rata as time as a Director during the period.

The 2023 annual salaries for the Executive Directors have been agreed by the Committee as 
£440,000 for Andrew Austin, £385,000 for Peter Mann and £330,000 for Richard Slape. The 
increases granted were in line with the inflationary environment prevailing at the time and the 
rate of increase was commensurate to that granted to other UK employees.

Non-Executive Directors 
Non-Executive Directors are employed under rolling contracts with notice periods of three 
months, under which they are not entitled to any pension, benefits or bonuses.

Year ended 31 December 2022

£’000 Salary
Benefits 
in kind

Bonus  
(cash)

Bonus 
(shares)

Pension 
contributions Total

Richard Benmore 36 – – – – 36

Alan Booth 36 – – – – 36

Julie Barlow 36 – – – – 36

Total – Non-Executive Directors 108 – – – – 108

Total – Non-Executive Directors (€’000) 127 – – – – 127

14 October 2020 – 31 December 2021

£’000 Salary
Benefits 
in kind

Bonus  
(cash)

Bonus 
(shares)

Pension 
contributions Total

Richard Benmore 39 – – – – 39

Alan Booth 39 – – – – 39

Julie Barlow 39 – – – – 39

Total – Non-Executive Directors 117 – – – – 117

Total – Non-Executive Directors (€’000) 136 – – – – 136

The 2023 annual salary for each Non-Executive Director has been agreed by the Committee 
as £40,000.

Directors’ interest in ordinary shares

Shares at 
31/12/22

% of total shares 
in issue at 
31/12/22

Shares at 
31/12/21

% of total shares 
in issue at 
31/12/21

Andrew Austin 14,295,162 17.25 14,145,162 17.07

Peter Mann 1,264,516 1.53 1,264,516 1.53

Richard Slape 129,032 0.15 129,032 0.15

Richard Benmore 1,132,258 1.37 1,132,258 1.37

Alan Booth 232,258 0.28 232,258 0.28

Julie Barlow – – – –

Comparative information reflects the number of shares held in Kistos plc.

 
Alan Booth 
Chairman Remuneration Committee

26 May 2023
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Nomination Committee Report
Summary of the Committee’s 
responsibilities
The Committee’s responsibilities include the 
following:

	ˑ Considering the size, structure and 
composition of the Board of Directors, 
retirements and appointments of 
additional and replacement Directors; and
	ˑ Ensuring that plans are in place for orderly 
succession to the Board of Directors and 
senior management positions, so as to 
maintain an appropriate balance of skills 
and experience within the Group and the 
Board of Directors.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is chaired by 
Richard Benmore and its other member is 
Alan Booth.

Following the appointment of Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors in 2021 in order to 
complete a Board which is compliant with 
the QCA Code, the Committee did not have 
the need for any formal meetings during 
2022. On an informal basis, discussions 
within the Committee continue on a potential 
widening of the Board and, where practicable, 
enhancing the diversity of the Board.
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Audit and Disclosure Committees’ Report
Summary of the Committees’ 
responsibilities
The Committees’ responsibilities include the 
following:

	ˑ The Audit Committee reviews reports 
from management and the Group’s 
auditors relating to the Group’s Annual 
Report and Accounts and the interim 
results announcements. It advises the 
Board on whether the Annual Report 
and interim announcement are fair, 
balanced and understandable, and 
provide the information necessary for 
Kistos’ stakeholders to assess performance 
against the Group’s strategy. The ultimate 
responsibility for reviewing and approving 
the Annual Report and Accounts remains 
with the Board of Directors.
	ˑ The Audit Committee ensures compliance 
with accounting standards and the AIM 
Rules and ensures that effective systems 
of internal financial and non-financial 
controls (including the management of risk 
and whistleblowing) are maintained.
	ˑ The Audit Committee reviews the external 
auditors’ independence and considers the 
nature, scope and results of the auditors’ 
work and policy on any non-audit services 
that are provided by the external auditors. 
The Committee is also responsible for 
making recommendations to the Board 
of Directors on the appointment of the 
external auditors and remuneration. 

	ˑ The Disclosure Committee enforces the 
Group’s inside information policy and 
assesses whether information is ‘inside 
information’ and resolves queries about its 
materiality. For instance, the Committee 
will determine whether an announcement 
is required in respect of any such inside 
information and procure that such 
announcement is made as soon as possible, 
in accordance with the provisions of the 
AIM Rules and UK MAR.
	ˑ The Disclosure Committee operates as part 
of the Audit Committee and monitors and 
reports upon the Company’s obligations 
under the Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules.

Audit Committee
The Committee comprise only Non-Executive 
Directors, both being chaired by Julie 
Barlow and having as its other member 
Alan Booth. Meetings are aligned with the 
Group’s financial reporting calendar and the 
Committee met three times during the year 
ended 31 December 2022, and again in  
March 2023.

The Executive Chairman, CEO and CFO 
are invited to attend each meeting of 
the Committee and participated in all 
the meetings during the year. Members 
of the senior management team are also 
invited to attend where appropriate. The 
external auditors attend meetings and meet 
the Committee without the presence of 
management at least annually.

Audit Committee membership
Audit Committee meetings attended during 
2022 (out of a total possible):

	ˑ Julie Barlow (Chairman)	 3/3
	ˑ Alan Booth		  3/3

In March 2022, the Committee met primarily 
to review and approve the 2021 Annual 
Report and Accounts. In support of this, 
the Committee received papers from 
management on significant and judgemental 
financial reporting issues and considered 
the appropriateness of the conclusions 
therein and disclosures made in the financial 
statements, including those made around 
COVID-19 and the Russia-Ukraine conflict. The 
Committee also received the audit completion 
paper from BDO and challenged the external 
auditor on their approach and findings, 
considered the effectiveness of the external 
auditor and reviewed their independence. 

At the September 2022 meeting, the 
Committee met to review and approve 
the 2022 Interim Results announcement, 
including the disclosures made around the 
GLA acquisition, pro forma information and 
other matters.

During the December 2022 meeting, the 
Committee received the proposed plan for 
the external audit of the Group’s 2022 Annual 
Report and Accounts by BDO, including the 
approach to be taken in auditing the GLA 
acquisition and the resulting new stream 
of business and the impact of new auditing 
standards, and received an update from BDO 
on the impact of climate change on corporate 
reporting and risk disclosures.

Annual Report and financial reporting
With regards to the 2022 Annual Report 
and Accounts, the areas of focus for the 
Committee included:

	ˑ The Group’s going concern and viability 
disclosures in the financial statements;
	ˑ Impairment of intangible exploration and 
evaluation assets;
	ˑ The impact of a change in reserves on the 
depreciation charge;
	ˑ The application of newly enacted taxes , 
including the Solidarity Contribution Tax;
	ˑ Business combination accounting following 
the GLA acquisition;
	ˑ The capital re-organisation of the group 
and associated accounting;
	ˑ Consistency of application of accounting 
policies;
	ˑ Ongoing compliance with relevant financial 
reporting standards, AIM and legal 
requirements;
	ˑ The appropriateness of assumptions and 
judgements for items subject to estimates; 
and 
	ˑ The clarity and completeness of disclosures 
in the financial statements.

Overall, the Committee focuses on whether, 
taken as a whole, the Annual Report is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides 
the information necessary for shareholders 
and stakeholders to assess the Group’s 
performance, business model and strategy. 
The Committee and the Board believe this 
to be the case. The Committee considered 
in particular the following major financial 
statement items that require significant 
judgement and contain key sources of 
estimation uncertainty in the preparation of 
the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts:
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New accounting issues arising  
during the year
Greater Laggan Area acquisition
The Committee considered management’s 
conclusion over the assessment of joint 
control of the arrangement arising from 
the purchase of working interests in the 
Greater Laggan Area (GLA), classifying the 
transaction as a business combination and 
the approach taken in determining the fair 
values of assets, liabilities and corresponding 
goodwill arising from the transaction. The 
Committee challenged management on 
the assumptions used (including discount 
rate, production forecasts and estimates 
of future gas and oil prices) and other key 
areas of judgement such as the measurement 
of contingent consideration payable, 
allocation of goodwill to cash-generating 
units (CGUs) and the initial recognition of 
deferred tax balances. The Committee was 
satisfied as to the assumptions made and 
that appropriate disclosure had been made in 
the financial statements. 

Recurring accounting issues
Going concern
The Committee received up-to-date cash 
flow projections prepared by management 
that supported the use of the going concern 
assumption in the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

In light of revisions to the Group’s reserves 
following acquisitions and changes to 
assumptions over reservoir conditions 
and continued market volatility, specific 
consideration was given to sensitivities over 
forecast production and gas price in order 
to stress test the going concern assumption. 

The impact of continued availability of surety 
bonds to cover obligations under DSAs was 
also considered, as was the application of 
recently enacted tax changes (including cijns) 
within the forecasts and the potential impact 
of the Solidarity Contribution Tax (should the 
Group ultimately be required to settle this). 
Finally, the Committee took into account the 
acquisition of Mime, which completed in 
May 2023 after the balance sheet date, and 
challenged management on the impact on 
cashflow within its projections and going 
concern conclusion. Overall the Committee 
was satisfied that there was a reasonable 
expectation that the Group can continue 
in operational existence throughout the 
going concern period and that appropriate 
disclosure had been made in the 2022 Annual 
Report and Accounts.

Taxes
The Committee noted that the Group’s liability 
to the Solidarity Contribution Tax charge 
was a significant judgement and agreed 
that appropriate disclosure had been made 
in the financial statements, including the 
presentation of the significant judgments and 
in the sensitivity analysis undertaken on the 
assessment of going concern.

Impairment
The Committee received management’s 
memoranda on impairment testing of 
intangible and tangible assets and agreed 
with management that an impairment test 
was required for the UK Production and 
Development CGU (due to the recognition of 
goodwill therein following the acquisition) 
and that sufficient impairment triggers had 
arisen that required an impairment test of 
the Dutch Production CGU. Management 

presented to the Committee cash flow 
forecasts, including various risks and 
sensitivities, over production rates and 
commodity prices. It also examined the 
discount rate used by management to 
discount the cash flows to present value 
and concluded that the rate as appropriate. 
The Committee challenged management’s 
methodology and was satisfied that no 
impairment was necessary for either CGU.

For intangible assets, the Committee 
challenged management as to the 
triggers requiring impairment for the 
Dutch exploration assets being impaired 
and concluded that there was sufficient 
uncertainty over the recoverability of their 
carrying amount to require a full impairment 
to be made.

Audit and Disclosure Committees’ Report

Other financial reporting matters
The Committee also considered other 
disclosures, judgements and areas of 
estimation that had an impact on the 
financial statements including:

	ˑ Alternative performance measures;
	ˑ Estimation and disclosure of abandonment 
liabilities;
	ˑ Accounting for the capital reorganisation 
of the Group;
	ˑ The reserves bases and methodology for 
unit-of-production depreciation charges; 
	ˑ Accounting for the repurchases and 
subsequent derecognition of bond debt; 
and
	ˑ Events after the balance sheet date.

The Committee agreed with management’s 
treatment in each case.
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Board of Directors

Andrew Austin
Executive Chairman

	ˑ Executive Chairman 
of RockRose Energy 
from 2016 until 2020, 
delivering a 42x return to 
shareholders.
	ˑ Jointly founded IGas Energy 
in 2004 and developed 
it to become the leading 
onshore hydrocarbon 
producer in the UK.
	ˑ 17 years working in 
investment banking in the 
City of London, including 
roles with Merrill Lynch, 
Nomura, Citibank and 
Barclays Capital.

Peter Mann
Chief Executive Officer

	ˑ CEO and Managing 
Director of RockRose 
Energy from 2017 until 
2021 following five years 
at IGas Energy.
	ˑ While at IGas, Peter was 
responsible for business 
strategy and implementing 
restructuring strategy 
in a difficult oil price 
environment. 
	ˑ Prior to IGas, Peter’s 
career included various 
management roles. He also 
served in the British Army 
for six years.

Richard Slape
Chief Financial Officer

	ˑ CFO of RockRose Energy 
from 2019 until 2021.
	ˑ Richard has over 30 years 
of experience working 
with independent oil 
and gas exploration and 
production companies.
	ˑ Spent much of his career 
working in equity capital 
markets and also held roles 
at Rockhopper Exploration 
and Lansdowne Oil & Gas, 
where he was a Director.

Richard Benmore
Non-Executive Director

	ˑ 35 years of industry 
experience with Conoco, 
Oryx Energy, Nimir 
Petroleum, EnCana, Nexen 
Petroleum and IGas Energy. 
	ˑ Managed Nexen’s 
unconventional projects in 
the UK and Poland and was 
a Board member of Nexen 
Exploration UK.
	ˑ Richard was a Non-
Executive Director of 
RockRose Energy.

Julie Barlow
Non-Executive Director

	ˑ Group Financial Controller 
and Company Secretary 
for the Pentex Group of 
companies.
	ˑ Managing Director of the 
Production Division of  
Star Energy.
	ˑ In 2017, Julie became an 
independent contractor 
working with a number 
of organisations across 
different industries in 
finance, mergers and 
acquisition (M&A) 
activity and subsequent 
integrations.

Alan Booth
Non-Executive Director

	ˑ Over 30 years of experience 
in oil and gas exploration 
and production.
	ˑ A Non-Executive Director 
of Ophir Energy plc from 
2013 to 2018, when he 
became CEO.
	ˑ Founder and CEO of EnCore 
Oil, an AIM-listed oil and 
gas exploration company, 
and a founder/Director of 
EnCounter Oil Ltd.
	ˑ Former President of 
UK Offshore Operators 
Association and former 
Director of the Oil & Gas 
Independents Association.
	ˑ Currently Executive Chair  
at Storegga Geotechnologies, 
a company delivering 
CCS, hydrogen and other 
subsurface renewable 
projects in the UK and 
internationally.
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Consolidated  
Financial 
Statements
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€’000 Note Year ended 31 
December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Revenue 2.1 411,512 89,628

Other operating income 11 61

Exploration expenses (374) (123)

Production costs 2.3 (22,927) (6,143)

Development expenses 2.4 (1,752) (4,456)

General and administrative expenses 3.2 (9,426) (7,426)

Depreciation and amortisation 2.6 (83,234) (13,277)

Impairments 2.8 (44,547) (121,036)

Change in fair value and releases of contingent 
consideration 2.10.2 26,993 –

Operating profit/(loss) 276,256 (62,772)

Interest income 3.5 267 –

Interest expenses 3.5 (11,283) (8,993)

Other net finance costs 3.5 (11,115) (2,092)

Net finance costs (22,131) (11,085)

Profit/(loss) before tax 254,125 (73,857)

Tax (charge)/credit 6.1 (181,229) 33,749

Solidarity Contribution Tax charge 6.3 (46,935) –

Total tax (charge)/credit 6.1 (228,164) 33,749

Profit/(loss) for the period 25,961 (40,108)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (€) 3.1 0.31 (0.68)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (€) 3.1 0.31 (0.68)

Consolidated income statement Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 

€’000 Note Year ended 31 
December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Profit/(loss) for the period 25,961 (40,108)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Losses on cash flow hedges 5.4 (9,404) (38,624)

Hedging losses reclassified to profit or loss 5.4 21,185 26,843

Income tax on items of other comprehensive income 5.4 (5,891) 5,891

Foreign currency translation differences (43) 382

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 31,808 (45,616)

€’000 Note 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Non-current assets

Goodwill 2.7 10,913 –

Exploration and evaluation assets 2.7 43,338 45,771

Property, plant and equipment 2.6 282,474 171,227

Deferred tax assets 6.2 566 13,496

Investment in associates 61 –

Other long-term receivables 102 –

337,454 230,494

Current assets

Inventories 4.5 9,688 902

Accrued income 4.2.1 47,962 40,299

Other receivables 4.2 6,600 8,439

Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 211,980 77,288

276,230 126,928

Total assets 613,684 357,422

Equity

Share capital 5.3 9,464 9,627

Share premium 5.3 – 94,181

Merger reserve 5.3 140,105 14,734

Capital reorganisation reserve 5.3 (80,995) –

Hedge reserve 5.4 – (5,890)

Translation reserve 5.5 339 382

Share-based payment reserve 5.6 538 –

Retained earnings 33,261 (42,463)

Total equity 102,712 70,571

Non-current liabilities

Abandonment provision 2.5 123,503 15,904

Bond debt 5.1 80,800 145,074

Deferred tax liabilities 6.2 118,325 57,288

Other non-current liabilities 4.4 4,197 31

326,825 218,297

Current liabilities

Trade payables and accruals 4.3 19,372 23,479

Current tax payable 143,134 14,980

Abandonment provision 2.5 2,585 1,272

Other liabilities 4.4 19,056 28,823

184,147 68,554

Total liabilities 510,972 286,851

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 613,684 357,422

The notes on pages 49 to 79 are an integral part of these financial statements and were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 May 2023.

Andrew Austin 
Executive Chairman

Consolidated Financial Statements
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€’000 Note Share 
capital

Share  
premium

Merger 
reserve

Capital 
reorganisation 

reserve

 Hedge  
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

Total  
equity

At 14 October 2020 – – – – – – – – –

Loss for the period – – – – – – (40,108) – (40,108)

Other comprehensive 
income

– – – – (5,890) 382 – – (5,508)

Total comprehensive 
income for the 
period

– – – – (5,890) 382 (40,108) – (45,616)

Transactions with 
owners

Shares issued in 
the period

5.3 9,627 94,181 14,734 – – – – – 118,542

Share issue costs 5.3 – – – – – – (2,355) – (2,355)

Total transactions 
with owners

9,627 94,181 14,734 – – – (2,355) – 116,187

At 31 December 2021 9,627 94,181 14,734 – (5,890) 382 (42,463) – 70,571

Profit for the year – – – – – – 25,961 – 25,961

Other comprehensive 
income

– – – – 5,890 (43) – – 5,847

Total comprehensive 
income for the year

– – – – 5,890 (43) 25,961 – 31,808

Transactions with 
owners

Capital reduction 5.3 – (35,266) (14,734) – – – 50,000 – –

Equity-settled share-
based payments 

3.4 – – – – – – – 538 538

Capital re-organisation 5.3 (163) (58,915) 140,105 (80,995) – – (237) – (205)

Total transactions 
with owners

(163) (94,181) 125,371 (80,995) – – 49,763 538 333

At 31 December 2022 9,464 – 140,105 (80,995) – 339 33,261 538 102,712

Consolidated statement of changes in equity Consolidated cash flow statement 

€’000 Note Year ended 31 
December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit/(loss) for the period 25,961 (40,108)

Tax charge/(credit) 6.1 228,164 (33,749)

Net finance costs 3.5 22,131 11,085

Depreciation and amortisation 2.6 83,234 13,277

Impairment charge 2.8 44,547 121,036

Change in contingent consideration payable 2.10.2 (26,993) –

Share-based payment expense 3.4 538 –

Taxes paid (65,729) (890)

Abandonment costs paid 2.5 (2,319) –

Increase in trade and other receivables (1,382) (40,990)

(Decrease)/increase in trade, other payables and 
provisions

(13,094) 18,582

Increase in inventories (4,717) (287) 

Decrease in other non-current assets/liabilities 132 –

Net cash inflow from operating activities 290,473 47,956

Cash flows from investing activities:

Payments to acquire fixed assets (19,454) (19,958)

Acquisition of business 2.10 (40,047) (100,696)

Payment of contingent consideration 2.10.2 (7,500) –

Interest received 229 –

Net cash outflow from investing activities (66,772) (120,654)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from share issue 5.3 – 102,441

Costs incurred for share issue 5.3 – (2,355)

Repayment of long-term payables (209) (79)

Bond interest paid (11,566) (7,461)

Other interest paid 3.5 (268) –

Proceeds from bond refinancing 5.1 – 3,000

Bond issue costs 5.1 – (2,933)

Bond redemption costs and repurchase of own bonds 5.1.1 (71,773) (2,627)

Proceeds from bond issue 5.1 – 60,000

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (83,816) 149,986

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 139,885 77,288

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 4.1 77,288 –

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes (5,193) –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 4.1 211,980 77,288

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Section 1: General information and basis of preparation
Kistos Holdings plc (‘the Company’) is a public company, limited by shares, incorporated and 
domiciled in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 
2006 (registered company number 14490676). The nature of the Company and its consolidated 
subsidiaries’ (together ‘the Group’) operations and principal activity is the exploration, 
development and production of gas and other hydrocarbon reserves principally in the North Sea 
and creating value for its shareholders through the acquisition and management of companies 
or businesses in the energy sector.

1.1 Basis of preparation and consolidation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention (except 
for derivative financial instruments and contingent consideration assumed in a business 
combination, which have been measured at fair value) in accordance with UK-adopted 
International Accounting Standards, in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 and in accordance with the requirements of the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) Rules.

These financial statements represent results from continuing operations, there being no 
discontinued operations in the periods presented.

Kistos Holdings plc, a company registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 
with registered company number 14490676, was incorporated on 17 November 2022 in England 
and Wales and its shares, with effect from 22 December 2022, are publicly traded on AIM in 
London. On 22 December 2022, by means of a Scheme of Arrangement, the Company became 
the new parent company for the Kistos Group of companies; the previous parent company being 
Kistos plc (a company registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 with 
registered company number 12949154). Following the Scheme of Arrangement, shareholders in 
Kistos plc received the same number and nominal value of Kistos Holdings plc ordinary shares. 
As the owners of the original parent had the same absolute and relative interests in the net 
assets of the original group and the new group immediately before and after the reorganisation, 
these consolidated financial statements of Kistos Holdings plc are presented as if the Company 
headed the new group for all of the current and prior reporting period. The change in parent 
company and legal capital of the group has been reflected in the statement of changes in equity.

These consolidated financial statements cover the calendar year 2022, which ended at the 
balance sheet date of 31 December 2022. The comparative period is the long period of account 
from 14 October 2020 to 31 December 2021.

1.2 Going concern
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern basis 
of accounting. The forecasts and projections made in adopting the going concern basis take 
into account forecasts of commodity prices, production rates, operating and general and 
administrative (G&A) expenditure, committed and sanctioned capital expenditure, and the 
timing and quantum of future tax payments. 

The Group’s cash balances as at the end of April 2023 (the latest practicable date of preparing 
these financial statements) was €268 million. To assess the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, management evaluated cash flow forecasts for the period to December 2024  
(the going concern period), by preparing a base case forecast and various downside sensitivities.

The base case going concern assessment assumed the following:

	ˑ Q10-A production in line with latest internal forecasts, taking into account the results of the 
recently completed well intervention campaign which finished in March 2023;
	ˑ GLA production in line with latest available operator forecasts;
	ˑ Commodity prices based on observable forward curves prevailing at the latest practicable date;
	ˑ Committed and contracted capital expenditure only (being primarily the costs of  
the Benriach well campaign currently underway and Mime’s share of Balder X  
capital expenditure);
	ˑ Completion of the acquisition of Mime (note 7.5.3) in July 2023 (for which there is only 
$1 upfront cash consideration, and any contingent consideration expected to be payable 
January 2025 at the earliest), with the Group assuming Mime’s restructured debt from that 
point and consolidating Mime’s expected future cashflows (including revenues from oil 
production, capital expenditure and corporation tax rebates);
	ˑ Obligations under Decommissioning Security Agreements (DSAs) for the GLA fields satisfied 
by the purchase of surety bonds in Q4 2023 (in respect of obligations for 2024) based on the 
most recent funding requirement and DSA model received from the operator, and at a similar 
cost to 2023; and
	ˑ Settlement of the €47 million Solidarity Contribution Tax charge in Q2 2024 
(notwithstanding that the Group believes it is out of scope of the charge).

This base case forecast demonstrated that the bond covenants (minimum liquidity and leverage 
ratio) were complied with and that the Group had sufficient cash to meet its obligations 
throughout the going concern period.
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A key assumption within the forecast is the continued availability of surety bonds used to 
cover obligations under Decommissioning Security Agreements (DSAs). At 31 December 2022, 
the Group had €27.4 million of surety bonds in issue which are redetermined annually. The 
next redetermination takes place in June 2023, with renewed bonds (or other arrangements, if 
applicable) to be put in place by the end of 2023. As part of the going concern assessment the 
Directors sought advice from surety bond brokers over the Group’s ability to renew surety bonds 
given the combined impact of higher tax and inflation rates adversely impacting the calculation 
of the amount of security required. Based on the advice received, the Directors are of the view 
that the surety market will continue to provide security up to the current DSA provisions and 
those required in the foreseeable future. 

Various downside scenarios were also analysed, including reasonably possible commodity price 
and production downsides, and a scenario where the Group has to fully cover its estimated 
DSA obligations in cash. Individually these scenarios demonstrated an ability to meet the bond 
covenants and have sufficient cash available to continue in operational existence in the going 
concern period. If the estimated DSA obligations were required to be fully covered in cash and 
either the commodity price or production downside scenarios realised, then it is estimated that, 
with no mitigating activities undertaken, the Group may fall below its liquidity covenants in or 
around November 2024. A reverse stress test was also performed, which showed that either a 
reduction in sales volume or price of approximately 45% (compared to the base case forecast) 
for the remainder of the going concern period, with all other factors held constant, would 
result in the liquidity covenants similarly being breached in November 2024. However, as these 
potential breaches are forecast to occur shortly prior to the receipt of a material Norwegian 
cash tax rebate anticipated in December 2024, the Group is of the opinion that, should this 
combination downside scenario crystallise, it would be able to manage its liquidity position 
and avoid any breach via temporary working capital management. As outlined above, the Group 
believes the possibility that it will be unable to renew its surety bonds on the same basis as 
currently posted to be unlikely.

As a result of the above, the Directors have concluded that there is a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence throughout the going 
concern period, and therefore the going concern basis is adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements.

1.3 Significant events and changes in the year
The financial performance and position of the group was significantly affected by the following 
events and changes during the year:

	ˑ The acquisition of a 20% interest in the Greater Laggan Area (GLA) producing gas fields and 
associated infrastructure alongside various interests in certain other exploration licences, 
including a 25% interest in the Benriach prospect, from TotalEnergies E&P UK Limited in July 
2022, arising in the recognition of, among other assets and liabilities, €222.7 million of fixed 
assets, €115.0 million of decommissioning liabilities and €10.9 million of goodwill (note 2.10);
	ˑ A significant increase in average realised sales prices and therefore significantly higher 
revenue as compared to the prior period due to increased commodity prices (note 2.1);
	ˑ The recognition of €44.3 million of impairment charges to exploration and evaluation assets 
in the Netherlands segment following changes to the tax regimes making it more uncertain 
that the carrying value of those assets could be recovered through successful development 
(note 2.8);
	ˑ An increase to the unit-of-production depletion charge rate in the Netherlands segment 
following a revision to the reserves base for depreciation purposes (note 2.6);
	ˑ Gains of €27.0 million recognised in the income statement relating changes in contingent 
consideration payable (note 2.10.2), comprising a €19.5 million fair value gain relating 
to actualisation of the GLA acquisition payment linked to gas price, and a release 
of €7.5 million relating to the M10/M11 licence from the Tulip Oil acquisition (the 
corresponding asset for which was also fully impaired in the period);
	ˑ A tax charge of €71.6 million arising from the introduction of the Energy Profits Levy (EPL) in 
the UK (note 6.2);
	ˑ A tax charge of €46.9 million arising from the retrospective imposition of the Solidarity 
Contribution Tax in the Netherlands (note 6.1 and 6.3); 
	ˑ A capital reduction resulting in an increase to retained earnings of €50 million, a reduction 
to share premium of €35 million and a reduction to the merger reserve of €14 million  
(note 5.3); and
	ˑ A capital reorganisation (being the incorporation of Kistos Holdings plc as the new 
controlling party of the Group) resulting in an increase in the merger reserve to 
€140.1 million and creation of a capital reorganisation reserve (note 5.3).
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1.4 Foreign currencies and translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which each entity operates (the functional 
currency). Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are translated to the 
entity’s functional currency at the foreign exchange rates at the date of the transactions. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. All UK-
incorporated entities in the Group, including Kistos Holdings plc, have a functional currency of 
pounds Sterling (GBP). All Dutch-incorporated entities have a functional currency of euros (EUR). 

These financial statements are presented in EUR, a currency different to the functional currency 
of the reporting entity (which is GBP), as a significant proportion of the consolidated results are 
attributable to subsidiaries whose functional currency is EUR, and the debt issued by members 
of the Group is denominated in EUR.

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand EUR, unless otherwise stated. 

The results and balance sheet of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

	ˑ Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the 
date of that balance sheet (except for long-term assets and liabilities which are translated at 
the historical rate);
	ˑ Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for 
the period; and
	ˑ All resulting exchange differences are recognised in ‘Other comprehensive income’.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

1.5 New and amended accounting standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following new accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations for the first time:

	ˑ Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use – Amendments to IAS 16;
	ˑ Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3;
	ˑ Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37); and
	ˑ Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020.

The adoption of the changes and amendments above has not had any material impact on the 
disclosure or on the amounts reported in the financial statements, nor are they expected to 
significantly affect future periods.

1.6 New and amended accounting standards not yet adopted
A number of other new and amended accounting standards and interpretations have been 
published that are not mandatory for the reporting period ended 31 December 2022, nor 
have they been early adopted. These standards and interpretations are not expected to have a 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

1.7 Accounting judgements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors are required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only the period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

The following are critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt 
with separately below), that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements:

	ˑ Acquisition accounting – definition of a business and assessment of control (note 2.10);
	ˑ Identification of impairment indicators for fixed assets and goodwill (note 2.8); and
	ˑ Uncertain tax positions (note 6.3).

The assumptions concerning the future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the balance sheet date that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are:

	ˑ Estimated future cash flows from assets used as basis for impairment testing for fixed assets 
and goodwill (note 2.8);
	ˑ Estimated quantity of reserves and contingent resources (section 2); and
	ˑ The estimated cost for abandonment provisions (note 2.5).

The presumption of going concern is no longer deemed a significant judgement due to the 
strong cash balances of the Group and projected significant headroom over its debt covenants 
even taking into account downside sensitivities on commodity prices and production rates. See 
note 1.2 for further analysis of the assessment of going concern.
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1.7.1 Impact of climate change and energy transition on accounting judgements and major 
sources of estimation uncertainty
The Directors have taken into account climate change and the desire by national and 
international bodies to transition towards a lower carbon economy were considered in preparing 
these consolidated Financial Statements. Most immediately, the energy transition is likely to 
impact future gas and oil prices which in turn may affect the recoverable amount of the Group’s 
assets. The estimate of future cash flows from assets, which includes management’s best 
estimate of future oil prices, is considered a key source of estimation uncertainty. Further details 
of the key price assumptions are outlined in note 2.8, including sensitivity analysis outlining the 
amount by which commodity prices would need to change to reduce the recoverable amount 
to the carrying amount of the assets being tested. Under current forecasts assuming the assets 
in their current condition, the Group’s oil and gas assets are likely to be fully depreciated within 
five years, during which timeframe it is expected that global demand for gas will remain robust. 
Accordingly, the impact of climate change on expected useful lives of the Group’s current assets 
is not considered to be a significant judgement or estimate. In addition to oil and gas assets, 
climate change and energy transition could adversely impact the future development or viability 
of intangible exploration and evaluation assets. The existence of impairment triggers for such 
assets under IFRS 6 is considered a critical accounting judgement (see note 2.8).

Section 2: Gas and oil operations
Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty applicable to this 
section as a whole

Key source of estimation uncertainty – estimation of reserves and contingent resources
Reserves and contingent resources are those hydrocarbons that can be economically extracted 
from the Group’s licence interests. The Group’s reserves and contingent resources have been 
estimated based on information compiled by independent qualified persons, as updated and 
refined by the Group’s internal experts and external contractors. These estimates use standard 
recognised evaluation techniques and include geological and reservoir information (as updated 
from data obtained through operation of a field), capital expenditure, operating costs and 
decommissioning estimates. These inputs are validated where possible against analogue 
reservoirs, and actual historical reservoir and production performance.

Changes to reserves estimates may significantly impact the financial position and 
performance of the Group. This could include a significant change in the depreciation charge 
for fixed assets, abandonment provisions, the results of any impairment testing performed 
and the recognition and carrying value of any deferred tax assets. During the period, the 
Group re-assessed the reserves for the Q10-A field following changes to royalty taxes, a 
decision not to proceed with an alternative export route and revised understanding of the 
reservoirs. The revised assessment was approved and made effective during Q3 2022, with 
the reserves used in the revised unit-of-production calculation being only that quantity of 
hydrocarbons the wells in their condition at the time were estimated to be able to access, 
ie a no further activity case. Management estimate that the field contains a higher level 
of hydrocarbon reserves than that used in the unit-of-production depletion calculation 
which can be accessed with successful developments including further well interventions, 
stimulation, sidetrack and infill wells. 

2.1 Revenue

€’000 Year ended 31 December 2022 14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Netherlands UK Total Total

Sales of liquids – – – 108

Sales of natural gas 285,053 126,459 411,512 89,520

Total revenue from contracts with customers 285,053 126,459 411,512 89,628

All revenue in the prior period was attributable to the Netherlands region.
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2.2 Segmental information

2.2.1 Segments and principal activities
The performance of the Group is monitored by the Executive Directors (comprising the Executive 
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) on a geographical basis, and 
therefore there are now two reportable segments identified for the Group’s business:

	ˑ Netherlands: Comprising the production and sale of gas and other hydrocarbons from the 
Q10-A field, and the costs associated with exploration, appraisal and development of other 
Dutch licences; and
	ˑ UK: Comprising the production and sale of gas and other hydrocarbons from the Group’s 
interest in the GLA, and the costs associated with exploration, appraisal and development of 
other licences in the UK North Sea. This segment was created during the year, following the 
acquisition completed in July 2022 (note 2.10).

The key measure of performance used by the Executive Directors to review segment performance 
is Adjusted EBITDA (note 2.2.2). They also receive disaggregated information concerning 
revenue, income tax charge and capital expenditure by segment on a regular basis. Information 
about measures of total assets and liabilities by segment is not regularly provided to the 
Executive Directors. Transactions between segments are measured on the same basis as 
transactions with third parties and eliminate on consolidation. 

2.2.2 Adjusted EBITDA 
The Executive Directors use Adjusted EBITDA to assess the performance of the operating 
segments. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRS measure, which management believe is a useful metric 
as it provides additional useful information on performance and trends. Adjusted EBITDA is 
not defined in IFRS or other accounting standards, and therefore may not be comparable with 
similarly described or defined measures reported by other companies. It is not intended to be a 
substitute for, or superior to, any nearest equivalent IFRS measure.

Adjusted EBITDA excludes the effects of significant items of income and expenditure which 
may have an impact on the quality of earnings such as provisions for impairment, other non-
cash charges such as depreciation and share-based payment expense, transaction costs and 
development expenditure. A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA by segment to profit before tax, 
the nearest equivalent IFRS measure, is presented below.

€’000 Note Year ended 31 
December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Netherlands Adjusted EBITDA 270,626 81,211

UK Adjusted EBITDA 112,899 –

Head office costs and eliminations (3,510) (2,350)

Group Adjusted EBITDA 380,015 78,861

Development expenses 2.4 (1,752) (4,456)

Share-based payment expense 3.4 (538) –

Depreciation and amortisation 2.6 (83,234) (13,277)

Impairments 2.8 (44,547) (121,036)

Transaction costs (681) (2,864)

Change in fair value and releases of contingent 
consideration

2.10.2 26,993 –

Operating profit/(loss) 276,256 (62,772)

Net finance costs (22,131) (11,085)

Profit/(loss) before tax 254,125 (73,857)

Transaction costs in the current period include:

	ˑ Costs relating to the GLA acquisition; and
	ˑ Costs incurred on a proposed transaction with Serica Energy plc, which did not proceed.

Transaction costs in the prior period relate to those costs incurred on the Tulip Oil acquisition.

2.2.3 Other segmental disclosures

Significant judgement – inter-segment revenue
For the purposes of segmental reporting, the Netherlands segment has reported within 
revenue the net margin recognised from gas purchased from the UK segment sold on to third 
parties. The assessment of whether the Dutch entity in the arrangement is acting as principal 
or agent (and thus recognises revenue from the arrangement on a gross or net basis) is a 
significant judgement and has been based on the indicators in IFRS 15, an assessment of 
control, the terms and conditions of the relevant contracts, and other indicators providing 
persuasive evidence. Management’s conclusion on this judgement has no impact on the total 
consolidated revenue presented in the income statement, but impacts on its conclusion over 
the applicability of the Solidarity Contribution Tax (note 6.3).
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€’000 Year ended 31 December 2022 14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Netherlands UK Total Total

Segment revenue 285,748 125,908 411,656 89,628

Inter-segment revenue (144) – (144) –

Revenue from external customers 285,604 125,908 411,512 89,628

€’000 Year ended 31 December 2022 14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Income tax charge/(credit):

  Netherlands 135,414 25,963

  UK 121,740 –

  Unallocated and consolidation adjustments (28,990) (59,712)

Total 228,164 (33,749)

All Netherlands segment external revenue in the current and prior period was derived from a 
single external customer. All UK segment revenue in the current year was derived from another 
single external customer.

2.3 Production costs
Production costs include:

	ˑ The export of the gas produced from the Q10-A platform to a third-party platform, P15-D, 
including treatment tariff, compression tariff, CO2 emission costs and fixed fees;
	ˑ Operating costs of the Shetland Gas Plant including support and services and emission costs;
	ˑ Well maintenance expenditures;
	ˑ Accounting movements in inventory and net realisable value adjustments; 
	ˑ Capacity fees, tariffs and other transportation costs;
	ˑ Structural and facility-related surveys; and
	ˑ G&A allocated to production costs.

2.4 Development expenses
Development expenses include the costs related to pre-Final Investment Decision (pre-FID) 
expenses incurred on front-end engineering and design related to:

	ˑ Potential alternative gas export routes from the Q10-A field;
	ˑ Concept Assess and Concept Select phases of the Q10 Orion oil field development project; 
and
	ˑ G&A allocated to development expenses.

2.5 Abandonment provision 

Source of estimation uncertainty – estimate of abandonment provisions
Decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many 
factors, including changes to the relevant legal requirements, the expected cessation of 
production date of the related asset, the emergence of new technology or experiences at 
other assets. The expected timing, work scope, amount of expenditure and risk weighting 
may also change. Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining 
the abandonment provision balance. The estimated decommissioning costs, and inflation 
and discount rates applied to derive the amounts recognised on the balance sheet, are 
reviewed at least annually, and the results of this review are then assessed alongside 
estimates from operators (where the Group is a non-operating partner in an arrangement). 

€’000 Abandonment provision

At 1 January 2022 17,176

Acquisitions 115,004

Accretion expense 1,875

Changes in estimates to provisions (1,877)

Utilisation (2,319)

Effect of change to discount rate (3,729)

Foreign exchange differences (42)

At 31 December 2022 126,088

Of which:

Current 2,585

Non-current 123,503

Total 126,088
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Abandonment provisions comprise:

	ˑ In the Netherlands, the Group’s share of the estimated cost of abandoning the producing 
Q10-A wells, decommissioning the associated infrastructure, plugging and abandoning the 
currently suspended Q11-B well, and removal and restoration of certain onshore pipelines 
and corresponding land from historic assets.
	ˑ In the UK, the Group’s share of the estimated cost of plugging and abandoning the 
producing and suspended Laggan, Tormore, Edradour and Glenlivet wells, removal of the 
associated subsea infrastructure, and demolition of the Shetland Gas Plant and restoration 
of the land upon which the plant is constructed. 

The abandonment of the Q10-A wells and associated infrastructure is expected to take place 
between eight and nine years from the balance sheet date, in 2025 for the Q11-B well (based on 
the regulatory requirement to abandon the well by that time as, at the balance sheet date, no 
extension of the licence or production consent had been concluded) and within one year for the 
onshore pipelines and land restoration. The removal and restoration of onshore pipelines and 
corresponding land is expected to take place within one year of the balance sheet date.

The abandonment of the UK fields and associated infrastructure is expected to take place 
between five and 14 years from 31 December 2022 based on current production and commodity 
price forecasts and sanctioned development plans.

The utilisation of provisions in the period relates to the onshore abandonment of the onshore 
Donkerbroek-Hemrik location. 

Abandonment provisions are initially estimated in nominal terms, based on management’s 
assessment of publicly available economic forecasts and determined using an inflation rate of 
2.5% (2021: 1.0%) and a discount rate of 2.5% to 3.5% (2021: 0.5%). The changes in estimates to 
provisions arises primarily as a result of the increased inflation rate assumed.

The Group has in issue €27.4 million of surety bonds as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil) to 
cover its obligations under DSAs for the GLA fields and infrastructure. The amount of the bonds 
required is re-assessed each year, changing in line with estimated post-tax cash flows from 
the assets, revisions to the abandonment cost, inflation rates, discount rates and other inputs 
defined in the DSAs.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 
€’000 Assets under 

construction 
Production  

facilities and wells 
Other Total 

Cost

At 14 October 2020 – – – –

Acquisition of business (note 2.10.1) 1,227 174,156 142 175,525

Additions 9,187 692 183 10,062

Other – 151 – 151

Reclassifications (10,414) 10,414 – –

At 31 December 2021 – 185,413 325 185,738

Acquisition of business (note 2.10) – 189,790 – 189,790

Additions 7,401 3,885 1,416 12,702

Disposals – (11,922) (58) (11,980)

Foreign exchange differences and other 
movements – (8,435) – (8,435)

At 31 December 2022 7,401 358,731 1,683 367,815

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment

At 14 October 2020 – – – –

Depreciation charge for the period – (13,161) (116) (13,277)

Provision for impairment (note 2.8) – (1,234) – (1,234)

At 31 December 2021 – (14,395) (116) (14,511)

Depreciation charge for the period – (83,023) (211) (83,234)

Foreign exchange differences – 734 3 737

Disposals – 11,922 31 11,953

Provision for impairment (note 2.8) – (286) – (286)

At 31 December 2022 – (85,048) (293) (85,341)

Net book value at 31 December 2021 – 171,018 209 171,227

Net book value at 31 December 2022 7,401 273,683 1,390 282,474

‘Assets under construction’ relates to wells drilled but not yet producing. The ‘Other’ category 
includes office and IT equipment, including assets (primarily office leases) held as right-of-use 
assets (note 5.2).

‘Disposals’ represent the removal of fully depreciated assets following the conclusion of the 
abandonment campaign on the location Donkerbroek Hemrik in Kistos NL1. 
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2.7 Intangible assets

€’000 Goodwill Exploration and 
evaluation assets

Total 

Cost

At 14 October 2020 – – –

Acquisition of business (note 2.10.1) 7,000 144,856 151,856

Additions – 13,717 13,717

At 31 December 2021 7,000 158,573 165,573

Acquisition of business (note 2.10) 10,913 32,923 43,836

Additions – 8,660 8,660

Other – 245 245

At 31 December 2022 17,913 200,401 218,314

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairments 

At 14 October 2020 – – –

Impairment (7,000) (112,802) (119,802)

At 31 December 2021 (7,000) (112,802) (119,802)

Impairment – (44,261) (44,261)

At 31 December 2022 (7,000) (157,063) (164,063)

Net book value at 31 December 2021 – 45,771 45,771

Net book value at 31 December 2022 10,913 43,338 54,251

Exploration and evaluation assets include the exploration licence portfolio acquired as part of 
the GLA acquisition, and the Orion oil prospect on the Q10-A licence. The Group’s licences are 
outlined in note 2.9.

2.8 Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill

Critical judgement – identification of impairment indicators
Under IAS 36 the Group is required to consider if there are any indicators of impairment for 
property, plant and equipment. The judgement as to whether there are any indicators of 
impairment takes into consideration a number of internal and external factors, including 
changes in estimated reserves, significant adverse changes to production versus previous 
estimates of management, changes in estimated future oil and gas prices, changes in 
estimated future capital and operating expenditure to develop and produce commercial 
reserves, and adverse changes in applicable tax regimes. Where indicators are present and an 
impairment test is required, the calculation of the recoverable amount requires estimation of 
its value in use and/or fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCOD) using discounted cash flow 
models or other approaches. These assessments are performed on a cash-generating unit 
(CGU) basis, unless a lower level is deemed appropriate.
The judgement as to whether there are any indicators of impairment for intangible exploration 
assets is made by reference to, among other factors, the indicators outlined in IFRS 6, including 
the lack of planned or budgeted substantive expenditure on a licence, a lack of commercially 
viable reserves discovered, and other factors that indicate that the carrying amount of the 
intangible asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by sale.

Key source of estimation uncertainty – estimated future cash flows used in  
impairment testing
In performing impairment tests, management uses discounted cash flow projections to 
estimate value in use or FVLCOD as an asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. These forecasts 
include estimates of future production rates of gas and oil products, commodity prices and 
operating costs, and are thus subject to significant risk and uncertainty. Changes to external 
factors and internal developments and plans can significantly impact these projections, 
which could lead to additional impairments or reversals in future periods. Where applicable, 
a sensitivity analysis to the key estimates and assumptions is outlined below.

Impairments of property, plant and equipment in the Netherlands segment of €0.3 million relate 
to a portion of the previously producing A01 well which, at the balance sheet date, had been 
partially abandoned in preparation for the drilling of a sidetrack.

Impairments of intangible exploration and evaluation assets in the Netherlands segment of 
€44.3 million comprise:

	ˑ A full impairment of the carrying value attributed to the Q11-B exploration asset  
(€26.8 million);
	ˑ A full impairment of the carrying value attributed to the Q10-B exploration asset  
(€10.0 million); and
	ˑ A full impairment of the carrying value attributed to the M10/M11 exploration asset  
(€7.5 million).
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The Q11-B and Q10-B assets have been impaired due to the scale, manner and nature of additional 
taxes introduced by the Dutch tax authorities. These increased taxes and levies have introduced 
uncertainty into what was previously a stable and predictable fiscal regime and, unlike equivalent 
measures in the UK, do not incentivise licence holders to invest further by means of enhanced 
deductions for capital expenditure. As budgeted spend on these assets has now been placed on 
hold pending further clarity on these measures and whether they are to be extended, and taking 
into account that during the previous year’s drilling campaign the Q11-B appraisal well failed to 
produce gas from its primary target (but did have more successful tests from the Zechstein and 
Bunter formations), there is no longer sufficient certainty over whether the carrying value can be 
recovered from future development, therefore the amounts have been impaired in full.

The M10/M11 asset has been impaired because, as at the balance sheet date, the Group’s 
application to renew the relevant licence had not been successful, and there is sufficient 
uncertainty as to whether the Group would be successful in its appeal and/or re-application. 
€7.5 million of contingent consideration payable (which would have crystallised upon 
confirmation by the Group to the vendor of the Group’s intention to proceed with the 
exploitation of the M10/M11 licences by February 2022) has also been derecognised and a 
corresponding gain recognised as a separate line in profit and loss (see note 2.10.2).

The imposition of cijns in the Netherlands, and re-assessment of reserves on the Q10-A field, 
were considered by management to be impairment triggers for the Netherlands Production 
CGU. An impairment test was therefore undertaken, using a value-in-use method, which 
demonstrated that the recoverable amount exceeded the CGU’s carrying amount and therefore 
no impairment charge was necessary. 

An impairment test was also carried out in respect of the UK Production and Development CGU, 
with the primary impairment indicator being the introduction, and subsequent increase and 
extension of, the Energy Profits Levy (increasing the effective tax rate applicable on the CGU from 
40% at acquisition to 75%).

The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined by assessing the FVLCOD of the CGU, by 
way of discounted cash flow projections, in line with how other market participants would 
typically value such assets. The valuation is Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to a number of 
unobservable inputs used in the estimate.

The key assumptions used in determining FVLCOD were as follows:
	ˑ NBP gas price of 287p/therm in 2023, 218p/therm in 2024 and 138p/therm in 2025 based 
on independent forecasts and estimates prevailing at the balance sheet date;
	ˑ Production rates forecast by the asset operator, with the expected natural decline consistent 
with past performance, extending to the estimated cessation of production date (ie no 
growth rates applied);
	ˑ Decommissioning liabilities in line with the carrying value of the provisions at the balance 
sheet date; and
	ˑ A post-tax discount rate of 13% reflecting the specific risks relating to the segment and 
geographical region.

The costs of disposal were not considered to be material for the purposes of the exercise.

The results of the impairment test were that the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying 
amount by €86 million. It is estimated that a change to the following key assumptions would 
result in the recoverable amount being equal to the carrying amount:

	ˑ A reduction to the forward gas curve of 60%; or
	ˑ A reduction to projected production rate of 60%. 

2.9 Joint arrangements and licence interests
The Group has the following interests in joint arrangements that management has assessed as 
being joint operations. Following acquisition of the GLA assets, Kistos Energy Limited is the non-
operational partner in joint arrangements with the operator, TotalEnergies E&P UK. Except where 
otherwise noted, the interest and status of licences is the same as at the end of the prior period. 

Field or licence Licence owner Licence type Status Interest at  
31 December 2022

M10a & M111 Kistos NL1 B.V. Exploration Operated 60%

Terschelling-Noord Kistos NL1 B.V. Exploration Operated 60%

Donkerbroek Kistos NL1 B.V. Production Operated 60%

Donkerbroek-West Kistos NL1 B.V. Production Operated 60%

Akkrum-11 Kistos NL1 B.V. Production Operated 60%

Q07 Kistos NL2 B.V. Production Operated 60%

Q08 Kistos NL2 B.V. Exploration Operated 60%

Q10-A Kistos NL2 B.V. Production Operated 60%

Q10-B Kistos NL2 B.V. Exploration Operated 60%

Q11 Kistos NL2 B.V. Exploration Operated 60%

Laggan, Tormore, Edradour and 
Glenlivet (licences P911, P1159, 
P1195, P14532 and P1678)4

Kistos Energy Limited Production Non-operated 20%

Benriach (licences P2411 and 
P14532)4

Kistos Energy Limited Exploration Non-operated 25%

Bunnehaven (licence P24153)4 Kistos Energy Limited Exploration Non-operated 25%

Cardhu (licence P2594)4 Kistos Energy Limited Exploration Non-operated 20%

Roseisle (licence P2604)4 Kistos Energy Limited Exploration Non-operated 14%

1. 	The Group does not hold the M10/M11 licence at the balance sheet date and is in the process of appealing the non-renewal of the licence.
2. 	Licence P1453 is split into the portion including and excluding the Benriach area.
3.	 In process of being relinquished.
4.	 Acquired during the period.

In January 2023, Kistos NL2 B.V. was awarded the P12b, Q13b and Q14 exploration licences 
where it will act as operator with 60% interest.
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2.10 Business combinations 

Significant judgement – assessment of control
Judgement has been applied as to whether the Group has joint control of the arrangement 
arising from the purchase of working interests in the GLA. If joint control is not present, 
the acquisition cannot be a business combination and would be accounted for instead as 
an asset acquisition. Under the voting rights extant in the joint operating agreements, no 
individual party has the ability to veto (and thus have control over) day-to-day decisions 
and activities of the joint arrangement. However, as unanimous consent is required over 
activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement, management has concluded 
the Group does have joint control. As the acquired processes of the arrangement are clearly 
substantive, and both outputs and inputs are present, management has concluded that 
the transaction meets the definition of a business and therefore the acquisition has been 
accounted for using the acquisition method under IFRS 3.

To continue value creation for shareholders, on 10 July 2022, the Group completed the 
acquisition of a 20% working interest in the GLA licences, producing gas fields and associated 
infrastructure alongside various interests in certain other exploration licences, including a 25% 
interest in the Benriach prospect, from TotalEnergies E&P UK Limited; all comprising working 
interests in unincorporated joint operations (together, the ‘GLA acquisition’). The headline 
consideration was $125 million based on an effective economic date of 1 January 2022, with the 
final firm consideration payment being reduced from $125 million by the post-tax cashflows 
generated from the assets between the effective economic date and the completion date  
(and other adjustments). The primary reasons for the acquisition were to diversify the Group’s 
production base by gaining exposure to the UK North Sea and potential exploration upside.

The acquisition consideration, management’s assessment of the net assets acquired and 
subsequent goodwill arising are as follows:

€’000 At acquisition date 

Consideration:

Cash 40,047

Contingent consideration 38,029

Total consideration 78,076

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment 189,790

Exploration and evaluation assets 32,923

Investment in associates 61

Net working capital (3,826)

Abandonment provisions (115,004)

Net deferred tax liability (36,781)

Goodwill 10,913

Net assets acquired 78,076

Goodwill arises primarily from the requirements to recognise deferred tax on the difference 
between the fair value and the tax base of the assets acquired. This fair value uplift is not tax 
deductible and therefore results in a net deferred tax liability and corresponding entry to 
goodwill.

Transaction costs of €0.4 million were incurred, recognised within ‘General and administrative 
expenses’ in the profit and loss account, and within operating cash flows in the cash flow 
statement.

The contingent consideration comprises two elements:

	ˑ Up to a maximum of $40 million (€39.3 million) payable based on a formula including 
GLA gas production and average quoted gas prices through 2022. The fair value of this 
contingent consideration was assessed to be €34.9 million at the acquisition date, based on 
actual gas prices and production up to the acquisition date, forecast gas production for the 
balance of the year and an option pricing model using observable forward gas curves as at 
the acquisition date and forecast gas production for the balance of the year. At the balance 
sheet date all of the inputs to the contingent consideration calculation were available, and 
therefore it has been remeasured to the final settlement amount of €15.8 million, which was 
settled in cash in March 2023. The change in contingent consideration payable was driven 
primarily by movements in the gas price during the year as compared to the forward gas 
curves at the acquisition date. This contingent consideration has been classified as Level 3 in 
the fair value hierarchy.
	ˑ Upon the successful development of the Benriach area, consideration of $0.25 per MMBtu 
of the approved net 2P reserves following first gas. The fair value of this contingent 
consideration was assessed by management to be €3.1 million, estimated based on the 
operator’s P50 estimate of gross recoverable resources (638 Bcf), risk-adjusted to reflect 
management’s assessment of chances of successful discovery and development, and 
discounted to present value based on the earliest estimated time that the contingent 
payment could crystallise. As at 31 December 2022, there has been no change in the 
amount recognised for the liability other than the interest accretion expense of €0.1 million 
(recognised within finance costs). This contingent consideration has been classified as  
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
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2.10.1 Acquisition in prior period
On 20 May 2021, Kistos plc completed the 100% acquisition of Tulip Oil Netherlands B.V. 
(renamed to Kistos NL1) and Tulip Oil Netherlands Offshore B.V. (renamed to Kistos NL2) for 
consideration of €155.0 million. The acquisition consideration, management’s assessment of 
the net assets acquired, and subsequent goodwill arising were as follows:

€’000 At acquisition date 

Consideration:

Cash 124,225

Shares issued in Kistos plc 15,750

Contingent consideration 15,000

Total consideration 154,975

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment 175,525

Exploration and evaluation assets 144,856

Deferred tax assets 19,477

Cash and cash equivalents 23,529

Net working capital 1,163

Bond debt (85,417)

Abandonment provisions (14,158)

Deferred tax liabilities (117,000)

Goodwill 7,000

Total net assets acquired 154,975

Contingent consideration of €15.0 million payable was recognised on acquisition, and 
comprised the following:

	ˑ €7.5 million payable by February 2022 upon confirmation by Kistos of its intention to 
proceed with exploitation activities in respect of Vlieland Oil (Orion); and
	ˑ €7.5 million payable by February 2022 upon confirmation by Kistos of its intention to retain 
ownership of the M10/M11 licences.

The contingent consideration in respect of Orion was paid during the current year. Contingent 
consideration relating to M10/M11 has been derecognised in full because, as at the balance 
sheet date, the Group had not been successful in its application to renew the relevant licences. 
Contingent consideration relating to the acquisition which was not recognised on the balance 
sheet is disclosed in note 7.2.

2.10.2 Movement in contingent consideration payable
The movement of contingent consideration balances is as follows:

€’000 GLA acquisition Tulip Oil acquisition 

At 14 October 2020 – –

Recognised on acquisition – 15,000

At 31 December 2021 – 15,000

Recognised on acquisition 38,029 –

Contingent consideration paid – (7,500)

Gain recognised following change in fair value (19,493) –

Accretion expense 153 –

Gain recognised following derecognition – (7,500)

Foreign exchange differences 375 –

At 31 December 2022 19,064 –

2.10.3 Contribution
The GLA acquisition contributed revenue of €125.9 million and a loss after tax of €20.1 million 
in the period from acquisition. If the acquisition had completed on 1 January 2022, consolidated 
revenue for the Group would have been €568.4 million. It has been considered impracticable to 
disclose the impact to consolidated profit and loss after tax if the acquisition had completed 
on 1 January 2022, due to the complexity of remeasuring the fair value of the acquired assets at 
1 January and subsequent impact to depreciation, the complexity of measuring the contingent 
consideration payable at 1 January and subsequent impact to gain or loss on remeasurement, 
the combined impact of the above and other factors on the initial deferred tax liability 
recognised and subsequent deferred tax charge or credit and the lack of available information 
to determine the timing of certain expenditure for tax and EPL purposes. The impact to Adjusted 
EBITDA and EBITDA as if the acquisition had completed on 1 January 2022 is disclosed in 
Appendix B. 

2.11 Commitments
As at the reporting dates, the Group had outstanding contractual capital commitments as follows:

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Contractual commitments to acquire property, plant 
and equipment 2,553 1,400

Contractual commitments on intangible assets 
(including commitments on exploration assets)

27,483 –

Total 30,036 1,400
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Section 3: Income statement
3.1 Earnings per share

Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to  
31 December 2021

Consolidated profit/(loss) for the period, 
attributable to shareholders of the Group (€’000) 

25,961 (40,108)

Weighted average number of shares used in 
calculating basic earnings per share

82,863,743 58,867,726

Potential dilutive effect of:

Employee share options 135,989 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and 
potential ordinary shares used in calculating diluted 
earnings per share

82,999,732 58,867,726

Earnings/(loss) per share (€) 0.31 (0.68)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (€) 0.31 (0.68)

3.2 General and administrative expenses

€’000 Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Salaries and contractors 6,598 3,114

Training, travel and subsistence 229 129

IT and communication 162 105

Professional services 2,657 4,238

Other (including recovery and capitalisation of costs) (220) (160) 

Total other operating expenses 9,426 7,426

3.3 Employee benefit expenses

€’000 Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Wages and salaries 6,286 2,585

Social security costs 910 272

Equity-settled share-based payments (note 3.4) 538 –

Total employee benefit expenses 7,734 2,857

At the end of the period there were 24 employees (2021: 17 employees) of the Group (excluding 
Non-Executive Directors); 16 (2021: 12) in the Netherlands, two in Germany (2021: nil) and six 
(2021: five) in the United Kingdom. 

The average number of employees in the Group is as follows:

Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to  
31 December 2021

Technical 14 4

Support 7 3

Management 3 3

Total staff 24 10

3.4 Share based-payment arrangements
During the year, the Group introduced share-based payment schemes for certain employees, 
which are outlined below. The total charge in respect of share-based payments for the year was 
€0.5 million (2021: nil).

Share option incentive awards (equity-settled)
On 1 February 2022, the Group established a share option programme that entitles all full-time 
employees of Kistos plc and Kistos NL2 to purchase shares of Kistos plc. Under this programme, 
holders of vested options are entitled to purchase shares at the option price of the shares once 
the options have vested. All options are to be settled by delivery of new shares. 

Share option matching awards (equity-settled)
On 1 February 2022, the Group offered certain full-time employees in Kistos plc and Kistos NL2 
to participate in an employee share purchase plan. To participate in the plan, the employees are 
required to buy, or already hold, shares of Kistos plc (‘matched shares’) with own funds. Under 
this programme, holders of vested options are entitled to purchase shares at the option price of 
the shares once the options have vested. All options are to be settled by delivery of new shares. 

The key terms and conditions of the arrangements are as follows:

Share-based payment 
arrangement

Grant date Number of  
shares

Vesting conditions Contractual  
life of options

Incentive awards 14 February 2022 215,382 Employee remains in service during the  
vesting period. Option vest in equal  

instalments on the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the awards 

10 years

Matching awards 25 April 2022 125,690 Employee remains in service during the vesting 
period and holds the equivalent number of 

matched shares at the vesting date. Option vest 
in equal instalments on the first, second and 

third anniversaries of the awards

10 years
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Measurement of fair values
Share option incentive awards (equity-settled)
The fair value of the share option programme has been measured using the Black-Scholes 
formula. Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the arrangements were 
not taken into account in measuring fair value. 

The inputs used in the measurements of the fair values at grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payment arrangements were as follows: 

Share-based payment arrangements

Incentive awards 
2022

Matching awards  
2022

Fair value at grant date in £ £2.27 £2.64

Share price at grant date £3.57 £4.14

Exercise price £2.73 £3.43

Expected volatility 49.83% 50.49%

Periods to exercise 10 years 10 years

Expected dividends Not applicable Not applicable

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 0.44% 1.12%

Expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of historical volatility of the share price, 
particularly over the historical period commensurate with the term between the initial public 
offering of Kistos plc’s shares and the grant date(s) of the share-based payment programme(s). 
No expected dividends were included in the option pricing model as the granting entity has no 
history of paying dividends. Based on lack of historical data, it is expected that all employees 
remain in place during the scheme and will have a maximum of 10 years to exercise the options. 
At 31 December 2022, no employees have left the employer that participate in the share option 
programme(s). 

Following the capital reorganisation, the terms of the share options were modified such that 
once the share options have vested and upon their exercise, they will be settled in ordinary 
shares of Kistos Holdings plc instead of Kistos plc. However, as the reorganisation was an 
exchange of ordinary shares in Kistos Holdings plc for those of Kistos plc (with each share 
having the same economic and voting rights) it was determined that there was no change to the 
fair value of share options as a result of this modification.

Reconciliation of outstanding share options
As at 31 December 2022 the following share options are outstanding, as the date of the first 
anniversary has not yet been reached, none of these share options have been vested. Based on 
the vesting conditions, requiring at least three years of service for the full share options awards, 
the costs of share-based payments are front-loaded. 

Incentive awards Matching awards 

Outstanding at 1 January 2022 – –

Share options first anniversary 65,813 38,405

Share options second anniversary 32,907 19,203

Share options third anniversary 21,938 12,802

Outstanding at 31 December 2022 120,658 70,410

Fair value per share € €2.71 €3.13

Upon vesting of the share options and exercise by the employee, the obligation will be settled by 
Kistos Holdings plc. 

3.5 Interest and other net finance costs

€’000 Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Interest income (267) –

Total interest income (267) –

Bond interest payable 10,543 8,900

Bank charges and other interest expense 268 93

Surety bond interest 472 –

Total interest expenses 11,283 8,993

Accretion expense on abandonment provisions and 
other liabilities (note 2.5 and 2.10.2)

2,028 43

Accretion expense on lease liabilities 42 2

Amortisation of bond costs (note 5.1) 1,062 700

Hedge ineffectiveness recognised in income 
statement

– 625

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 1,569 (59)

Loss on bond redemption (note 5.1.1) 6,414 –

Loss on bond modification – 781

Total other net finance costs 11,115 2,092

Total 22,131 11,085
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Section 4: Working capital
4.1 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank accounts and restricted cash balances. The restricted 
funds at the end of 2021 and 2022 relate to a bank guarantee for the office lease in The Hague. 

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Bank accounts 211,958 77,266

Restricted funds 22 22

Cash and cash equivalents 211,980 77,288

4.2 Trade and other receivables

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Receivables due from joint operation partner 3,198 3,920

Other receivables 1,594 2,014

Prepayments 679 163

VAT receivable 1,129 2,342

Total other receivables 6,600 8,439

4.2.1 Accrued income
The accrued income balance of €48.0 million (2021: €40.3 million) represents amounts due to 
the Group in respect of gas sales revenue which had not been invoiced at the balance sheet date. 
All accrued income amounts had been invoiced and collected in full within one month of the 
corresponding reporting date.

Information about the Company’s exposure to credit risk and impairment losses for other short-
term receivables is included in note 4.6.

4.3 Trade payables and accruals

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Trade payables 7,271 9,018

Accruals 12,101 14,461

Total trade payables and accruals 19,372 23,479

Trade payables are unsecured and generally paid within 30 days. Accrued expenses are also 
unsecured and represents estimates of expenses incurred but where no invoice has yet been 
received. The carrying value of trade payables and other accrued expenses are considered to be 
fair value given their short-term nature.

4.4 Other liabilities

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Bond interest payable 831 1,854

Hedge liability – 11,781

Salary and salary-related liabilities 202 97

Contingent consideration (note 2.10.2) 15,796 15,000

Joint operator payable 1,945 –

Lease liabilities 282 91

Other liabilities – current 19,056 28,823

Contingent consideration 3,268 –

Other loans – 31

Lease liabilities 929 –

Other liabilities – non-current 4,197 31

The interest on bond debt is payable semi-annually. The hedge liability represented the fair 
value liability in respect of the cash flow hedge for the remaining period of the gas price hedge 
contract. As at 31 December 2022 the hedge liability is nil, as no hedges are in place in respect of 
future production.

4.5 Inventory

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Spares and supplies 3,896 775

Crude oil and natural gas liquids 5,792 127

Total inventory 9,688 902

No inventory was recognised as an expense in the current or prior year. The movement in 
inventory net realisable value provisions amounted to a charge of €0.8 million (2021: nil).

4.6 Financial instruments and financial risk management

4.6.1 Financial risk management objectives
The Group is exposed to a variety of risks including commodity price risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The use of derivative financial instruments is 
governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Kistos Board. Compliance with policies and 
exposure limits is monitored and reviewed internally on a regular basis. The Group does not 
enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivatives, for speculative purposes.
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4.6.2 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The following table shows the fair values of financial liabilities which are carried at fair value, 
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The Group holds no financial assets recognised 
and measured at fair value.

€’000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial liabilities

Contingent consideration – GLA 
acquisition

– – 19,064 19,064

Total at 31 December 2022 – – 19,064 19,064

Contingent consideration – Tulip Oil 
acquisition

– – 15,000 15,000

Hedging derivatives – – 11,781 11,781

Total at 31 December 2021 – – 26,781 26,781

4.6.3 Risk management framework
The Kistos Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 
risk management framework. The Kistos Board is responsible for developing and monitoring the 
Group’s risk management policies.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 
the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls but also to monitor risks and adherence 
to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed when needed to reflect changes 
in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group aims to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.

4.6.4 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk for the Group has been assessed as 
comprising foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and other commodity price risk.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

Entities within the Group undertake transactions in currencies other than their functional 
currency, which gives rise to transactional currency risk. The Group manages this risk to an 
extent by holding certain amounts of cash in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency to act as an economic hedge against foreign exchange movements. From time to time, 
the Group may use instruments or derivatives to hedge specific future foreign currency payments 
or receipts; however, no such transactions were entered into during the current or prior period.

As at 31 December 2022, 49% of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents was held in EUR (31 
December 2021: 60%).

A reasonably possible strengthening or weakening of GBP at 31 December 2022 would have 
affected the measurement of monetary items denominated in a foreign currency and affected 
equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant, and ignores any impact of forecast sales 
and/or expenses. The exposure to other foreign currency movements is not material.

€’000 Profit or loss Equity, net of tax

31 December 2022 Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

GBP (10% movement) 10,499 (10,499) 1,073 (1,073)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to interest rate movements through its cash and cash equivalents deposits 
which earn (and, where interest rates are below zero, are charged) interest at variable interest rates.

The Group’s borrowings carry fixed rates of interest (note 5.1) and thus there is no interest rate 
exposure thereon. 

For the year ended 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a 1% increase in interest rates would 
have increased the Group’s profit after tax by approximately €0.2 million, and a 1% decrease 
would have reduced the Group’s profit after tax by approximately €0.2 million. This sensitivity 
has been calculated on the assumption that the amount of cash and cash equivalents on the 
Group’s interest-bearing accounts at the balance sheet date had been in place for the whole year. 
The impact on equity would be the same as the impact on profit after tax.

Other price risk – commodity price risk
Commodity risk predominantly arises from the sale of natural gas from the Group’s interest 
in the Q10-A and GLA fields, as the price realised from the sale of natural gas is determined 
primarily by reference to quoted market prices on the day and/or month of delivery.

The Group has used derivatives to mitigate the commodity price risk associated with its 
underlying oil and gas revenues. Where such transactions are carried out, they are done based 
on the Company’s guidelines.
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In 2021, Kistos NL2 hedged monthly production from the Q10-A (being the hedged item) at 
an amount of 100,000 MWh per month at a price of €25/MWh (being the hedged instrument) 
for the nine-month period from July 2021 to March 2022. Kistos NL2 engaged in this cash flow 
hedge to cover the potential volatility of the gas price and the impact that this may have on the 
concurrent capital expenditure programme. In the current period, the hedge was effective (2021: 
€0.6 million of hedge ineffectiveness was recognised within net finance costs).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no commodity price hedging arrangements in place. 

The Group enters into other commodity contracts (such as purchases of carbon emission 
allowances, fuel and chemicals) in the normal course of business, which are not derivatives, and 
are recognised at cost when the transactions occur.

4.6.5 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will suffer a financial loss as a result of another party failing 
to discharge an obligation and predominantly arises from cash and other liquid investments 
deposited with banks and financial institutions, receivables from the sale of natural gas and 
other hydrocarbons, and receivables outstanding from its joint operation partner.

The Group has a credit policy that governs the management of credit risk, including the 
establishment of counterparty credit limits and specific transaction approvals. The Group’s 
oil and gas sales are predominantly made to international oil market participants including 
the oil majors, trading houses and refineries. Joint operators are predominantly international 
major oil and gas market participants and entities wholly owned by the Dutch state. Material 
counterparty evaluations are conducted utilising international credit rating agency and financial 
assessments. Where considered appropriate, security in the form of trade finance instruments 
from financial institutions with appropriate credit ratings, such as letters of credit, guarantees 
and credit insurance, are obtained to mitigate the risks.

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of €212.0 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 
€77.3 million). As at 31 December 2022, 99% of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are held 
with bank and financial institution counterparties which have an investment grade credit rating. 

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss 
basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash and 
cash equivalents have low credit risk based on external credit ratings of the counterparties.

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables represent 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at year end, as the Group has not recognised an 
allowance for credit losses in the current or prior period. The Group has no material financial 
assets that are past due.

4.6.6 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets.

The Group manages its liquidity risk using both short- and long-term cash flow projections, 
supplemented by debt financing plans and active portfolio management. Ultimate responsibility 
for liquidity risk management rests with the Kistos Board, which has established an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework covering the Group’s short-, medium- and long-term 
funding and liquidity management requirements.

Cash forecasts are regularly produced, and sensitivities run for different scenarios including, 
but not limited to, changes in commodity prices, different production rates from the Group’s 
producing assets and delays to development projects. In addition to the Group’s operating cash 
flows, portfolio management opportunities are reviewed to potentially enhance the financial 
capability and flexibility of the Group. 

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise trade payables (note 4.3), other liabilities (note 4.4) 
and bond debt (note 5.1). The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is shown in note 4.7.

In addition to the amounts held on balance sheet, the Group has in issue €27.4 million of surety 
bonds as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil) to cover its obligations under Decommissioning 
Security Agreements (DSAs) for the GLA fields and infrastructure. Should the Group be in default 
under the DSAs resulting in the bond provider being required to pay out on those bonds, the 
Group would be required to indemnify the providers by paying cash to cover their liability. If the 
surety market were to deteriorate such that the Group is unable to renew its bonds, the various 
DSAs would require the Group to post cash into trust the equivalent value.

4.7 Maturity analysis of financial liabilities
The maturity analysis of contractual undiscounted cash flows for non-derivative financial 
liabilities is as follows:

€’000 Within 3 months 3 months to  
1 year

1–5 years More than  
5 years

Total

Bond debt – 7,379 98,319 – 105,698

Contingent consideration 15,796 – – 6,191 21,987

Other liabilities 2,147 – – – 2,147

Lease liabilities 75 308 1,110 – 1,493

Trade payables and accruals 19,372 – – – 19,372

At 31 December 2022 37,390 7,687 99,429 6,191 150,697

Bond debt – 7,379 169,144 – 176,523

Other non-current liabilities – – 31 – 31

Contingent consideration – 15,000 – – 15,000

Other liabilities 120 68 – – 188

Trade payables and accruals 23,479 – – – 23,479

At 31 December 2021 23,599 22,447 169,175 – 215,221
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Section 5: Capital and debt
5.1 Bond debt

€’000 €90 million bond €60 million bond Bond costs Total

Opening balance – – – –

Acquisition of business (note 2.10.1) 86,497 – (1,080) 85,417

Proceeds from bond issue 3,000 60,000 – 63,000

Transaction costs – – (2,588) (2,588)

Amortisation of bond costs – – 700 700

Interest 893 – – 893

Modification of bond terms (2,348) – – (2,348)

At 31 December 2021 88,042 60,000 (2,968) 145,074

Amortisation of bond costs – – 1,062 1,062

Interest 23 – – 23

Derecognition on repurchase (65,359) – – (65,359)

At 31 December 2022 22,706 60,000 (1,906) 80,800

During 2021, Kistos NL2 refinanced an existing €87 million bond with a new €90 million bond, 
denominated in EUR with a tenor from May 2021 to November 2024. Interest is paid on a semi-
annual basis.

Following the acquisition of Kistos NL1 and Kistos NL2 in 2021, a new €60 million bond was 
issued by Kistos NL2 that runs from May 2021 to May 2026, denominated in EUR with an interest 
rate of 9.15% per annum. Interest is paid on a semi-annual basis. Kistos NL1 and Kistos plc are 
guarantors. Each guarantor irrevocably, unconditionally, jointly and severally:

	ˑ Guarantees to the bond trustee the punctual performance by Kistos NL2 of all obligations 
related to the bonds;
	ˑ Agrees to make payment to the bond trustee on request in the event of non-payment by 
Kistos NL2, together with any default interest; and
	ˑ Indemnifies the Bond Trustee against any cost, loss or liability incurred in respect of the 
obligations of Kistos NL2.

Kistos NL2 has issued a security in favour of the bond trustee over its assets for both bonds, 
including a pledge over all intercompany receivables between Kistos NL2 and Kistos NL1 and 
Kistos plc. In addition, a Netherlands Pledge has been provided to the bond trustee covering all 
receivables of Kistos NL2 and Kistos plc.

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

€’000 Currency Nominal 
interest 

rate

Year of 
maturity

Face value Carrying 
amount

Face value Carrying 
amount

€90 million bond € 8.75% 2024 21,572 22,706 90,000 88,042

€60 million bond € 9.15% 2026 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000

Total 81,572 82,706 150,000 148,042

The face value of the 8.75% 2024 bonds as at balance sheet date is presented net of €21.6 million 
of bonds repurchased (but not cancelled).

The fair value of the non-current borrowings is €85.4 million as at 31 December 2022, based on 
quoted prices available. They are classified as Level 1 fair values in the fair value hierarchy as they 
are listed on the Oslo Børs.

5.1.1 Repurchase of bonds
During 2022, the Group repurchased €68.4 million in nominal value of its €90 million bonds  
at an average price of 104.9%. Although the bonds cannot be cancelled, the liability relating to 
the repurchased amount has been treated as being extinguished, and a loss on repurchase of 
€6.4 million has been recognised in the income statement due to the bonds being repurchased 
at a premium.

The net loss on repurchase of the bonds is reconciled as follows:

€’000

Total cash consideration paid 73,942

Less: settlement of accrued interest (2,169)

Cash consideration paid for repurchase of 
bond principal 

71,773

Carrying value of bond derecognised (65,359)

Loss on repurchase of bond 6,414
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5.1.2 Covenants 

€90 million bond Requirement Effective date

Issuer (Kistos NL2)

Minimum liquidity 10,000,000 At all times

Maximum leverage ratio 2.50 From and including 1 January 2022 
tested at 30 June and 31 December 

Group (Kistos consolidated)

Minimum liquidity 20,000,000 At all times

Maximum leverage ratio 3.50 From and including 30 June 2022  
and 31 December

€60 million bond Requirement Effective date

Issuer (Kistos NL2)

Minimum liquidity 10,000,000 At all times

Maximum leverage ratio 2.50 From and including 30 June 2022  
and 31 December 

Group (Kistos consolidated)

Minimum liquidity 20,000,000 At all times

Maximum leverage ratio 3.50 From and including 30 June 2022  
and 31 December 

During 2022 and 2021, Kistos NL2 and Kistos plc complied with the minimum liquidity covenant 
at all times. On 31 December 2022, the Group had a leverage ratio of (4.23), calculated as follows:

Covenant calculation 2022

Group pro forma EBITDA for the year 2022 (Appendix B1) 541,224

Borrowings 82,706

Lease liabilities (note 5.2) 1,211

Cash and cash equivalents (note 4.1) (211,980)

Net (cash)/debt for leverage ratio test at 31 December 2022 (128,063)

Leverage ratio (4.23)

5.2 Leases

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Right-of-use assets

Offices 1,181 91

Other 46 –

Total 1,227 91

Lease liabilities

Current 929 91

Non-current 282 –

Total 1,211 91

Lease liabilities are included within ‘other liabilities’ on the balance sheet, and right-of-use 
assets are included within the ‘other’ underlying class of property, plant and equipment.

The total amount of depreciation charged in respect of right-of-use assets was €180 thousand 
(2021: €90 thousand). The total cash outflow for leases was €181 thousand (2021: €98 thousand). 
Expenses relating to low-value and short-term leases was not material.

During 2022, additions of €1.3 million were made to right-of-use assets (2021: not material), 
primarily relating to the lease of the Group’s new head office in London.

5.3 Share capital, share premium and other capital reserves
The movements in ordinary shares and other transactions impacting share capital, share 
premium and the merger and capital reorganisation reserve are as follows:

Number of shares Share capital  
(£’000)

Share premium 
(€’000)

Merger reserve  
(€’000)

Capital 
reorganisation 
reserve (€’000)

Issue of shares  
10 November 2020 8,500,000 987 3,949 – –

Issue of shares  
25 November 2020 31,750,000 3,689 33,192 – –

Issue of shares  
20 May 2021 42,613,743 4,951 57,040 14,734 –

At 31 December 2021 82,863,743 9,627 94,181 14,734 –

Issue and cancellation of 
bonus shares

– – 14,734 (14,734) –

Capital reduction – – (50,000) – –

Capital reorganisation – (163) (58,915) 140,105 (80,995)

At 31 December 2022 82,863,743 9,464 – 140,105 (80,995)
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Ordinary shares have a nominal value of £0.10 per share. The Group’s policy is to manage a 
strong capital base so as to manage investor, creditor and market confidence, and to sustain 
growth of the business. Management monitors its return on capital. There are currently no 
covenants related to the equity of the Group.

Following approval by the Group’s shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in June 2022 
and subsequent sanction by the Court in October 2022, the full balance of the merger reserve 
in Kistos plc was allotted to share premium by means of a bonus share issue and cancellation. 
A capital reduction was then undertaken to reduce the share premium account of Kistos plc 
by €50 million with the corresponding credit to retained earnings. These transactions were 
undertaken in order to increase the distributable reserves of Kistos plc, the parent company of 
the consolidated group at the time. 

In December 2022, the Group’s shareholders and the High Court of Justice of England and Wales 
sanctioned a scheme of arrangement whereby Kistos Holdings plc, a newly incorporated entity, 
became the new ultimate parent company of the Group with shareholders receiving one Kistos 
Holdings plc share for each Kistos plc share held.

The share premium reserve represented amounts paid up on ordinary shares in excess of their 
nominal value. Following the capital reorganisation, the share premium account reflects that of 
Kistos Holdings plc, which is nil.

The merger reserve represented the difference between the value of shares in Kistos plc issued as 
part of the total consideration of the acquisition of Kistos NL1 and the nominal value per share. 
Following the capital reorganisation, the merger reserve now represents the merger reserve of 
Kistos Holdings plc, which is the difference between the amount at which the investment in Kistos 
plc was recorded and the aggregate nominal value of the shares in Kistos Holdings plc issued.

The capital reorganisation reserve arising on consolidation represents the difference between the 
equity structure of Kistos Holdings plc (as the new parent company of the Group) and the equity 
structure of Kistos plc (as the parent company of the Group) following the scheme of arrangement.

5.4 Hedge reserve

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Balance at beginning of the period (5,890) –

Cost of hedging deferred and recognised in OCI 11,781 (11,781)

Deferred tax on hedge reserve in OCI (5,891) 5,891

Balance at end of the period – (5,890)

The hedging reserve represents the change in value of the hedged items (production) 
discounted cash flows at the forward gas prices curve between inception date, year end and 
fixed hedged instrument (100,000 MWh of production) discounted cash flow. Amounts that 
are effective and realised have been taken into the profit and loss account within gas sales 
(revenue). During 2022, no hedge ineffectiveness has arisen (2021: €0.6 million). The hedge 
reserve has been taxed at an effective rate of 50%.

Kistos NL2 held the following cash flow hedge during 2022:

Volume (MWh) Price Period of hedge

Cash flow hedge 300,000 €25 MWh Jan–Mar 22

The hedge was equally distributed over each month at 100,000 MWh. As at 31 December 2022, 
all hedges had expired.

5.5 Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations, as well as the effective portion of any foreign 
currency differences arising from hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

5.6 Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve relates to share-based payment programmes introduced 
during 2022 to all full-time employees of Kistos plc and Kistos NL2 B.V. The obligation will 
be settled by Kistos Holdings plc upon exercise of the share options by the employees. The 
corresponding entry to the share-based payment reserve is the charge of share-based payment 
expense (note 3.4). 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

67Introduction        Strategic Report        Corporate Governance Report        Consolidated Financial Statements        Additional InformationKistos Holdings plc 2022 Annual Report and Accounts



Section 6: Tax 
6.1 Tax charge or credit for the period

€’000 Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Current tax

Current tax expense for current year 195,531 14,091

Total current tax 195,531 14,091

Deferred tax

Decrease in deferred tax assets 7,039 11,872

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities 25,594 (59,712)

Total deferred tax 32,633 (47,840)

Tax charge/(credit) 228,164 (33,749)

The income tax charge or credit for the period can be reconciled to the accounting profit/(loss) 
as follows:

€’000 Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Profit/(loss) before taxes 254,125 (73,857)

Income tax (charge)/credit calculated at  
the domestic tax rate applicable to entity  
(2021: calculated at 50%)

(142,880) 36,929

Investment allowances and other enhanced deductions 7,471 2,239

Income and expenditure not taxable or deductible 21,799 –

Difference in tax rates – (2,712)

Utilisation of losses 7,021 –

Other movements – (1,045)

Losses not recognised (3,406) (1,662)

Impact of Energy Profits Levy in the UK (71,573) –

Solidarity Contribution Tax charge (note 6.3) (46,935) –

Other changes to tax rates 339 –

Tax (charge)/credit (228,164) 33,749

Effective tax rate 89.8% 45.7%

The applicable domestic tax rates for the year ended 31 December 2022 are 50% for entities 
within the Netherlands, 65% for ring-fence entities within the UK and 19% for non-ring-fence 
entities within the UK. In the prior year a rate of 50% was used, being the combined rate of tax 
applicable oil and gas activities in the Netherlands as the impact of tax on head office activities 
incurred within the UK was not material.

6.2 Deferred tax	

€’000 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Deferred tax liability at beginning of period 57,288 –

Recognised on acquisition (note 2.10) 36,781 117,000

Profit and loss account 25,594 (59,712)

Foreign exchange differences (1,338) –

Deferred tax liability at end of period 118,325 57,288

The fair value of the deferred tax liability in the GLA acquisition acquired amounted to  
€36.8 million. The deferred tax liability was calculated based on a 40% tax rate which was the 
substantively enacted rate prevailing at the date of acquisition. In the prior period, the fair value  
of the deferred tax liability in the Tulip Oil acquisition was recognised based on a tax rate of 50%.

€’000

Temporary differences

Tax losses Provisions Other Total

At 14 October 2020 – – – –

Recognised on acquisition  
(note 2.10.1)

14,802 2,765 1,910 19,477

Deferred tax on hedge reserve in OCI 
(note 5.4)

– 5,891 5,891

Profit and loss account (7,787) 1,403 (5,488) (11,872)

Deferred tax asset at  
31 December 2021

7,015 4,168 2,313 13,496

Deferred tax on hedge reserve in OCI 
(note 5.4)

– – (5,891) (5,891)

Profit and loss account (7,015) (697) 673 (7,039)

Deferred tax asset at  
31 December 2022

– 3,471 (2,905) 566

The tax losses are made up of Corporate Income Tax (CIT) and State Profit Share (SPS) losses 
in the Netherlands. The ‘Provisions’ category relates to temporary differences on abandonment 
provisions. The ‘Other’ category relates to temporary differences on property, plant and 
equipment, abandonment fixed assets and other provisions/liabilities. 

CIT losses can be carried forward indefinitely. Some losses in Kistos NL1 cannot be utilised and 
hence have not been recognised. This amounts to €1.0 million (2021: €1.9 million).

Tax losses of €5.4 million arising in Kistos Holdings plc have not been recognised due to the 
uncertainty of future profits and where they may arise from.
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6.2.1 Changes to tax rates
In November 2022, the UK Government announced changes to the Energy Profits Levy (EPL), 
increasing the rate from 25% to 35%, applied to those entities within the ring-fence effective 
from 1 January 2023, and extending the period applicable to 31 March 2028, with no provision 
for earlier withdrawal of the levy. The new law became substantively enacted on 30 November 
2022. The tax rate applicable to UK entities outside of the ring-fence will increase from 19% to 
25% with effect from 1 April 2023. Where applicable, UK deferred tax balances at the balance 
sheet date have been remeasured using these tax rates.

6.3 Uncertain tax positions

Significant judgement – recognition of Solidarity Contribution Tax provision
In October 2022, the EU member states adopted Council Regulation (EU) 1854/2022, 
which required EU member states to introduce a Solidarity Contribution Tax for companies 
active in the oil, gas, coal and refinery sectors. The Dutch implementation of this solidarity 
contribution has been legislated by a retrospective 33% tax on ‘surplus profits’ realised 
during 2022, defined as taxable profit exceeding 120% of the average taxable profit of the 
four previous financial years. Companies in scope are those realising at least 75% of their 
turnover through the production of oil and natural gas, coal mining activities, refining of 
petroleum or coke oven products. 
 
The Group believes that there is an argument that Kistos NL2 B.V. is out of scope of the 
regulations as, in its opinion, less than 75% of its turnover under Dutch GAAP (the relevant 
measure for Dutch taxation purposes) was derived from the production of petroleum or 
natural gas, coal mining, petroleum refining, or coke oven products. Furthermore, the Group 
understands the implementation of the tax, including its retrospective nature, is subject to 
legal challenges by other parties. However, as there is no history or precedent for this tax 
being audited or collected by the Dutch tax authorities, the Directors, having taken all facts 
and circumstances into account, applied IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ 
and made a provision of €46.9 million relating to the Solidarity Contribution Tax within 
the current tax charge for the year. This is the single most likely amount of the charge if it 
becomes payable. The Group expects to get further certainty around this tax position in 2024. 

Section 7: Other disclosures
7.1 Related party transactions
Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below. 

7.1.1 Compensation of Directors and key management personnel
The Directors of the Kistos Group are the only key management members. The function of the 
Directors of Kistos NL1 and Kistos NL2 is provided by certain management companies and  
staff employed by Kistos plc for which recharges to the Group companies based on time spent 
are made. 

The Group is wholly and directly controlled by Kistos Holdings plc. 

€’000 Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

Short-term employee benefits 2,607 935

Post-employment benefits 191 30

Total Directors’ remuneration 2,798 965 

Fees payable to management companies for  
director services 

39 42

Total key management personnel compensation 2,837 1,007

No long-term benefits, termination benefits or share-based payment expense was recognised 
in respect of the Directors. Further information for Directors’ remuneration is provided in the 
Remuneration Report (figures in which are presented in GBP). The highest-paid Director had 
total remuneration for the period of €938 thousand (2021: €490 thousand).

7.1.2 Loans to key management personnel

€’000 Year ended  
31 December 2022

14 October 2020 to 
31 December 2021

At start of the period 238 –

Loans made – 238

Foreign exchange movements (12) –

At end of the period 226 238

Loans to key management personnel are unsecured and interest free. No expense was  
recognised in the current or prior period for bad and doubtful debts in respect of loans made to 
related parties.
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7.1.3 Other related party transactions
During the period the Group paid €56 thousand of rental and other property-related costs 
(2021: €28 thousand) in respect of premises owned by a member of key management 
personnel. No amounts were outstanding at the period end.

7.2 Contingencies
As part of the acquisition of Tulip Oil (note 2.10) the following contingent payments could be 
made to the vendor should certain events and milestones take place:

	ˑ Up to a maximum of €75 million relating to Vlieland Oil (now Orion), triggered at FID and 
payable upon first hydrocarbons based on the net reserves at time of sanction;
	ˑ Up to a maximum of €75 million relating to M10a and M11, triggered at FID and payable 
upon first gas, based on US$3/boe of sanctioned reserves; and
	ˑ €10 million payable should Kistos take FID on the Q10-Gamma prospect by 2025.

Based on management’s current assessments and current status of the projects and 
developments above, the contingent considerations above remain unrecognised on the balance 
sheet. All contingent payments relating to the GLA acquisition have been recognised on the 
balance sheet.

Contingencies arising from uncertain tax positions are disclosed in note 6.3.

7.3 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

€90 million 
bond

€60 million 
bond

Bond interest 
payable 

Amortised 
bond costs 

Other 
non-current 

liabilities

Lease 
liabilities

Opening balance – – – – – –

Liabilities acquired (note 2.10) 86,497 – 584 (1,080) 110 75

Financing cash flows 3,000 60,000 (7,461) (2,933) (79) –

Interest expense on liability 893 – 8,731 – – –

Amortisation of bond costs – – – 700 – –

Modification of bond terms (2,348) – – – – –

Other movements – – – 345 – 16

At 31 December 2021 88,042 60,000 1,854 (2,968) 31 91

Financing cash flows (71,773) – (11,566) – (31) (178)

Loss on bond repurchase 6,414 – - – – –

Interest expense on liability 23 – 10,543 – – –

Amortisation of bond costs – – – 1,062 – –

New leases entered into – – – – – 1,297

At 31 December 2022 22,706 60,000 831 (1,906) – 1,210

7.4 Auditor’s remuneration
During the year, the company and its subsidiaries obtained the following services from its 
auditors and affiliates:

€’000 Year ended  
31 December 2022

Year ended 
31 December 2021

Audit fees 

Audit of the consolidated and company financial 
statements

154 176

Audit of the financial statements of the subsidiaries 340 227

Total audit fees 494 403

Non-audit fees 

Due diligence services – 240

Other assurance services 20 –

Tax services – 12

Total non-audit fees 20 252

Total 514 655

7.5 Subsequent events
There are no adjusting events subsequent to the balance sheet date. Significant non-adjusting 
events are outlined below.

7.5.1 Completion of Q10-A work programme 
In March 2023, the Valaris 123 rig demobilised from the Q10-A field having undertaken a work 
programme of sidetracks and well stimulations. The results of the campaign were mixed due to 
mechanical issues arising from utilising the existing well stock rather than reservoir performance 
issues. The results of this campaign are still being analysed by the Group and, once fully evaluated, 
will inform the decision on the timing and nature of future capital expenditure on the field.

7.5.2 Benriach well
On 21 March 2023, the Transocean Barents rig spudded the Benriach exploration well, in which 
the Group has a 25% interest.
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7.5.3 Acquisition of Mime Petroleum A.S.
On 18 April 2023, the Group conditionally agreed to acquire 100% of the issued and to be issued 
share capital of Mime Petroleum A.S. (Mime) from Mime Petroleum S.a.r.l. Mime is a company 
focussed on exploration, development and production projects on the Norwegian Continental 
Shelf, and holds a non-operated 10% interest in the Balder joint venture (comprising the Balder 
and Ringhorne fields, including the Balder X project) and a 7.4% stake in the Ringhorne East 
unit, all operated by Vår Energi A.S.A. Mime’s share of hydrocarbon production from Balder and 
Ringhorne is expected to be approximately 2,000 boe/d in 2023. The Balder X project comprises 
the Balder Future and Ringhorne Phase IV drilling projects and is designed to extend the life of 
the Balder Hub. It includes upgrading the Jotun FPSO, which is forecast by the operator to sail 
away in the first half of 2024 and achieve first oil later that year.

The consideration for the transaction is $1 plus the issue of up to 6 million warrants exercisable 
into new ordinary shares of Kistos Holdings plc at a price of 385p each. 3.6 million of the 
warrants can be exercised between completion of the transaction and 18 April 2028. The 
balance of warrants are exercisable from 1 June 2025 until 18 April 2028.

Upon completion, Mime’s debt will comprise:

	ˑ $120 million of Super Senior bonds, attracting interest of 9.75% per annum, 4.50% of which 
is payable in cash and 5.25% of which is payable-in-kind in the form of additional Super 
Senior bonds. The maturity date of the Super Senior bonds is 17 September 2026.
	ˑ $105 million of MIME02 bonds, which will attract an interest rate of 10.25% payable-in-kind. 
The maturity date of the MIME02 bonds is 10 November 2027.

A contingent payment of $45 million will be made to MIME02 bondholders in the event  
500,000 bbl (gross) have been offloaded and sold from the Jotun FPSO by 31 December 2024. 
This will decline to $30 million from 1 January 2025 to 28th February 2025, to $15 million 
from 1 March 2025 to 31 May 2025, and to zero thereafter. If 500,000 bbl (gross) has not 
been offloaded and sold from the Jotun FPSO by 31 May 2025, the holders of Mime’s Nordic 
Bonds will be allocated up to 2.4 million warrants exercisable into Kistos ordinary shares at a 
price of 385p each. The warrants can be exercised between 30 June 2025 and 18 April 2028. 
Simultaneously, up to 1.9 million of the 5.5 million warrants issued as consideration for the 
Mime shares will be cancelled.

The acquisition completed on 23 May 2023.

Section 8: Significant accounting policies
The Group has consistently applied the following significant accounting policies to all periods 
presented in these financial statements.

a)	 Basis of consolidation	

b)	 Foreign currencies	

c)	 Revenue and other income	

d)	 Joint arrangements	

e)	 Finance income and finance costs	

f)	 Taxation	

g)	 Leases	

h)	 Inventory	

i)	 Intangible assets and goodwill	

j)	 Exploration, evaluation and production assets	

k)	 Commercial reserves	

l)	 Depreciation based on depletion	

m)	Provisions	

n)	 Property, plant and equipment	

o)	 Employee benefits, including employee share-based payments	

p)	 Cash and cash equivalents	

q)	 Effective interest method	

r)	 Bond modification	

s)	 Financial Instruments	

t)	 Impairment

u)	 Fair value 
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a)	 Basis of consolidation

(i) Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired 
set of activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the 
Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group 
assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and 
substantive process, and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the 
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any 
gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are 
expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition, and discounted 
to present value if the consideration is expected to be settled more than 12 months from the 
balance sheet date. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition 
of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured, and settlement 
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at 
fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control 
commences until the date on which control ceases.

(iii)	Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except 
for foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated. 

(iv)	Capital reorganisations
Where a capital reorganisation takes place resulting in a newly incorporated entity acquiring the 
existing Group, the new entity does not meet the definition of a business and the transaction is 
therefore outside the scope of IFRS 3. In such a transaction, the substance of the Group has not 
changed therefore the consolidated financial statements of the new entity are presented using 
the balances and values from the consolidated financial statements from the previous entity. 
The net assets of the new group remain the same as the existing group. 

b)	 Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of 
Group companies at the exchange rates on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate on the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate on 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss 
and presented within finance costs.

c)	 Revenue and other income
Revenue from contracts with customers is measured based on the transaction price specified 
in a contract with the customer, being based on quoted market prices for the gas or liquids. All 
revenue is measured at a point in time, being that point at which the Group meets its promise 
to transfer control of a quantity of gas or liquids to a customer. For gas, control is transferred 
once the hydrocarbons pass a specified delivery point in a pipeline. For liquids sales, control is 
transferred in accordance with the incoterms specified in the contract. 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

d)	 Joint operations
The Group is engaged in oil and gas exploration, development and production through 
unincorporated joint arrangements; these are classified as joint operations in accordance with 
IFRS 11. The Group accounts for its proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and 
expenses of these joint operations. In addition, where the Group acts as Operator to the joint 
operation, the gross liabilities and receivables (including amounts due to or from non-operating 
partners) of the joint operation are included in the Group’s balance sheet.

e)	 Finance income and finance costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to be prepared for 
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Finance costs of debt are allocated to periods over the term of the related debt at a constant rate 
on the carrying amount. Arrangement fees and issue costs are deducted from the debt proceeds 
on initial recognition of the liability and are amortised and charged to the income statement as 
finance costs over the term of the debt.
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Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 
recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

f)	 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. For CIT 
purposes, Kistos NL1 B.V. formed a fiscal unity with its subsidiary Kistos NL2 B.V. from 1 April 
2021. The companies are separately liable for tax and therefore account for their tax charge/
credit on a standalone basis after taking into account the effects of horizontal compensation 
within the fiscal union that is applicable from 1 April 2021. 

Current and deferred tax are provided at amounts expected to be paid using the tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Where the Group takes positions in tax returns in which the applicable tax regulation is subject 
to interpretation, it considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will accept 
that uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax liabilities based on either the most 
likely amount (typically if the outcomes are binary) or the expected value (if there is a range of 
possible values).

Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 
for the year and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The 
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to 
be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

	ˑ Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
	ˑ Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
arrangements to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; 
and
	ˑ Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal 
of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences 
is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted 
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on business plans for 
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; 
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

g)	 Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the  
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its 
relative stand-alone price. However, for the leases of property the Group has elected not to 
separate non-lease components and accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a 
single lease component. 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any 
lease incentives received.
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The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from 
the commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of 
the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if 
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the 
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The Group presents right-of-use assets within ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and lease 
liabilities in ‘Other liabilities’ on the balance sheet.

The Group does not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases (where the lease period is less than one year), including IT 
equipment and drilling rigs. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, or, in the case of short-term 
leases of drilling rigs, capitalises the costs into intangible exploration and evaluation assets, or 
property plant and equipment, depending on the nature of the drilling activity.

h)	 Inventory
Liquids inventory (comprising crude oil and natural gas liquids) is held at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. The cost of liquids inventory is the cost of production, including direct 
labour and materials, depreciation and a portion of operating costs and other overheads 
allocated based on the ratio of liquids to gas production, determined on a weighted average 
cost basis. Net realisable value of liquids inventory is based on the market price of equivalent 
liquids at the balance sheet date, adjusted if the sale of inventories after that date gives 
additional evidence about its net realisable value. The cost of liquids inventory is expensed in 
the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

For spares and supplies inventories cost is determined on a specific identification basis, 
including the cost of direct materials and (where applicable) direct labour and a proportion of 
overhead expenses. Items are classified as spares and supplies inventory where they are either 
standard parts, easily resalable or available for use on non-specific campaigns, and within 
property, plant and equipment or intangible exploration and evaluation assets where they are 
specialised parts intended for specific projects. Write downs to estimated net realisable value 
are made for slow moving, damaged or obsolete items. 

i)	 Intangible assets and goodwill

Recognition and measurement
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and/or in a business combination is 
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The Group allocates goodwill to CGUs or groups of CGUs that represent the assets acquired as part 
of the business combination. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually (usually at 31 December) 
and additionally when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount, using the value in 
use method, of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill relates. When the recoverable 
amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

j)	 Exploration, evaluation and production assets
The Group adopts the successful efforts method of accounting for exploration and evaluation 
costs. Costs incurred before a licence is awarded or obtained are expensed in the period. All 
licence acquisition, exploration and evaluation costs and directly attributable administration 
costs are initially capitalised by well, field or exploration area, as appropriate. Interest payable is 
capitalised insofar as it relates to specific project financing.

These costs are written off as exploration costs in the income statement unless commercial 
reserves have been established or the determination process has not been completed and there 
are no indications of impairment.

All field development costs are capitalised as property, plant and equipment. Property, plant 
and equipment related to production activities are depreciated in accordance with the Group’s 
depreciation accounting policy.

Where the Company drills a sidetrack from an original well, the costs of the original well are 
estimated and written off, if the well is not hydrocarbon producing.

k)	 Commercial reserves
P1 developed producing and P2 reserves are estimates of the amount of oil and gas that can be 
economically extracted from the Group’s oil and gas assets. The Group estimates its reserves 
using standard recognised evaluation techniques. The estimate is reviewed at least annually by 
management and as required by independent consultants and competent professionals.
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l)	 Depreciation based on depletion
All expenditure carried within each field is depreciated from the commencement of production 
on a unit of production basis, which is the ratio of oil and gas production in the period to the 
estimated quantities of commercial reserves at the end of the period plus the production in the 
period, generally on a field-by-field basis or by a group of fields which are reliant on common 
infrastructure. Costs used in the unit-of-production calculation comprise the net book value 
of capitalised costs incurred to date. Changes in the estimates of commercial reserves are 
dealt with prospectively, applied from the point in time at which management confirm the re-
assessment of the appropriate reserves base.

Where there has been a change in economic conditions that indicates a possible impairment 
in a discovery field, the recoverability of the net book value relating to that field is assessed 
by comparison with the estimated discounted future cash flows based on management’s 
expectations of future oil and gas prices and future costs.

In order to discount the future cash flows the Group calculates CGU-specific discount rates. The 
discount rates are based on an assessment of the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of 
capital (WACC). 

Where there is evidence of economic interdependency between fields, such as common 
infrastructure, the fields are grouped as a single CGU for impairment-testing purposes. 

Where conditions giving rise to impairment subsequently reverse, the effect of the impairment 
charge is also reversed as a credit to the income statement, net of any amortisation that would 
have been charged since the impairment.

m)	 Provisions
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Abandonment provision
An abandonment provision for decommissioning is recognised in full when the related facilities 
or wells are installed. A corresponding amount equivalent to the provision is also recognised 
as part of the cost of the related property, plant and equipment. The amount recognised is the 
estimated cost of abandonment, discounted to its net present value, and is reassessed each 
year in accordance with local conditions and requirements. Abandonment costs expected to be 
incurred within 12 months of the balance sheet date (and thus classified as current liabilities) 
are not discounted.

Changes in the estimated timing of abandonment or abandonment cost estimates are dealt with 
prospectively by recording an adjustment to the provision, and a corresponding adjustment 
to property, plant and equipment. Where the related item of property, plant and equipment 
has been fully impaired, the corresponding adjustment is recognised in profit and loss. The 
unwinding of the discount on the abandonment provision is included as a finance cost. 

n)	 Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised 
borrowing costs less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, 
then they are accounted for as separable items (major components) of property, plant and 
equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 
profit and loss account.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less 
their estimated residual values using the aforementioned depreciation based on depletion 
accounting policy for most assets relating to oil and gas fields and straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives for all other property, plant and equipment (including the Group’s share in 
the Shetland Gas Plant, which is depreciated on a straight-line basis to the estimated cessation 
of production date of the related gas fields). 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment not relating to oil and gas fields 
depreciated using the straight-line method are from three to five years. Depreciation methods, 
useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

o)	 Employee benefits, including employee share-based payments
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of the past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

75Introduction        Strategic Report        Corporate Governance Report        Consolidated Financial Statements        Additional InformationKistos Holdings plc 2022 Annual Report and Accounts



The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to 
employees is generally recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over 
the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect 
the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions 
are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of 
awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting 
date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value 
of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for 
differences between expected and actual outcomes. 

p)	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, demand deposits and other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

q)	 Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
or liability and allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees 
on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those 
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). 

r)	 Bond modification
When the Group, with an existing lender, exchanges one debt instrument for another with 
substantially different terms, such an exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the 
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group 
accounts for substantial modification of the terms of an existing liability or part of it as an 
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. The terms 
are substantially different if the discounted present fair value of the cash flows under the new 
terms, including any transaction costs paid and discounted using the original effective interest 
rate is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of 
the original financial liability. If the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (i) 
the carrying amount of the liability including transaction costs before the modification and (ii) 
the present value of the cash flows after modification is recognised through the profit and loss 
account as a modification gain or loss.

Where debt instruments issued by the Group are repurchased, the financial liability is 
derecognised at the point at which cash consideration is settled. Upon derecognition, the 
difference between the liability’s carrying amount that has been cancelled and the consideration 
paid is recognised as a gain or loss in the income statement.

s)	 Financial Instruments

Recognition and initial measurement
Financial instruments are recognised as a financial asset or financial liability when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or 
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Financial assets and liabilities 
are discounted to present value (with the unwinding of discount recognised in finance costs), 
unless the impact is not material and/or the expected settlement of the instrument is within 12 
months of the balance sheet date. A trade receivable without a significant financing component 
is initially measured at the transaction price. 

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment;  
or FVTPL.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market 
data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy 
based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows: 

	ˑ Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
	ˑ Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices). 
	ˑ Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the 
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same 
level as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model.
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A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated as at FVTPL:

	ˑ It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and
	ˑ Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above 
are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the 
Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to 
be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets – subsequent measurement and gains and losses
	ˑ Financial assets at FVTPL – These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains 
and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 
	ˑ Financial assets at amortised cost – These assets are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment 
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in 
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities – classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability 
is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated 
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net 
gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition
Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when:

	ˑ The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or
	ˑ It transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either:

	– substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred; or
	– the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its balance sheet but 
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these 
cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged 
or cancelled or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are 
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a 
new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value, and if the Group 
repurchases a debt instrument it previously issued.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in the profit and loss account. If only part of a financial liability is derecognised, the 
previous carrying amount of the financial liability is allocated between the part that continues to 
be recognised and the part that is derecognised based on the relative fair values of those parts on 
the date of the repurchase, with the difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part 
derecognised and the consideration paid recognised within finance costs. 

Share capital – ordinary shares
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares, net of any tax effects, are 
recognised as a deduction from equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity 
transaction is accounted for in accordance with IAS12.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
From time to time, the Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge cash flow risk 
exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for 
separately if the host contract is not a financial asset and certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are 
measured at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised in profit or loss.

The Group designates (i) certain derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the variability 
in cash flows associated with highly probable forecast transactions arising from changes in 
commodity prices and (ii) certain derivatives and non-derivative financial liabilities as hedges of 
currency risk on a net investment in a foreign operation.

At inception of designated hedging relationships, the Group documents the risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Group also documents the economic 
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including whether the 
changes in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset  
each other.
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Cash flow hedge	
When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of 
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the hedging 
reserve. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that is recognised in 
OCI is limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item, determined on a present 
value basis, from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of 
the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group designates only the change in fair value of the spot element of forward exchange 
contracts as the hedging instrument in cash flow hedging relationships. The change in fair value 
of the forward element of forward exchange contracts (forward points) is separately accounted 
for as a cost of hedging and recognised in a costs of hedging reserve within equity.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve and 
the cost of hedging reserve is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods during 
which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss.	

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument is 
sold, expires, is terminated or is exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. 
When hedge accounting for cash flow hedges is discontinued, the amount that has been 
accumulated in the hedging reserve remains in equity until, for a hedge of a transaction 
resulting in the recognition of a non-financial item, it is included in the non-financial item’s cost 
on its initial recognition or, for other cash flow hedges, it is reclassified to profit or loss in the 
same period or periods as the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss.

If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, then the amounts that have 
been accumulated in the hedging reserve and the cost of hedging reserve are immediately 
reclassified to profit or loss.

t)	 Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the 
following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

	ˑ Debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
	ˑ Other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (ie the risk of default occurring 
over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical 
experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is 
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

	ˑ The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by 
the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
	ˑ The financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is 
equivalent to the globally understood definition of investment grade.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. Twelve-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default 
events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the 
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (ie the difference between the cash flows due to the entity 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are 
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost 
and debt securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when 
one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred.
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Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

	ˑ Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
	ˑ A breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;
	ˑ The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 
consider otherwise;
	ˑ It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or another financial reorganisation; or
	ˑ The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognised  
in OCI.

Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For individual 
customers, the Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when the financial 
asset is 180 days past due based on historical experience of recoveries of similar assets. For 
corporate customers, the Group individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing 
and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The 
Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets 
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the 
Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or 
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the 
other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.

u)	 Fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in 
its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair 
value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair 
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price 
in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the 
asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information 
on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 
The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would 
take into account in pricing a transaction.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group 
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the 
transaction price, ie the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines 
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is 
neither evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor 
based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant 
in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, 
adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction 
price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over 
the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable 
market data, or the transaction is closed out.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

79Introduction        Strategic Report        Corporate Governance Report        Consolidated Financial Statements        Additional InformationKistos Holdings plc 2022 Annual Report and Accounts



Company balance sheet as at 31 December 2022

£’000 Note 31 December 2022

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries C 131,268

Current assets

Other receivables 5

Total assets 131,273

Equity

Share capital D 8,286

Merger reserve D 122,641

Share-based payment reserve D 147

Total equity 131,074

Current liabilities

Amounts payable to group undertakings 199

Total liabilities 199

Total equity and liabilities 131,273

The Company did not recognise a profit or loss in the period.

The notes on pages 81 to 82 are an integral part of these financial statements and were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 May 2023.

Andrew Austin 
Executive Chairman

 

£’000 Share capital Merger reserve Share-based 
payment reserve

Total equity

At 22 November 2022 – – – –

New shares issued 5 – – 5

New shares issued for capital 
reorganisation 8,281 122,641 – 130,922

Share-based payments – – 147 147

At 31 December 2022 8,286 122,641 147 131,074

Company statement of changes in equity for the period from 17 November 2022 to  
31 December 2022
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A:	General
These company financial statements, and the consolidated financial statements together 
constitute the statutory financial statements of Kistos Holdings plc (‘the Company’). The 
financial information of the Company is included in the consolidated financial statements, as 
presented on pages 46 to 48.

B:	Basis of preparation
The financial statements of Kistos Holdings plc for the period from 17 November 2022 to 31 
December 2022 have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, 
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101). The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention. 

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided by Section 408 of the Companies 
Act 2006 not to publish its individual income statement and related notes, and has also taken 
advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

	ˑ The requirements of paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (details 
of the number and weighted average exercise prices of share options, and how the fair value 
of goods or services received was determined), as equivalent disclosures are included within 
the consolidated financial statements.
	ˑ The requirements of paragraphs 62, B64(d), B64(e), B64(g), B64(h), B64(j) to B64(m), 
B64(n)(ii), B64(o)(ii), B64(p), B64(q)(ii), B66 and B67 of IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
provided that equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated financial statements of 
the group in which the entity is consolidated.
	ˑ The requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, as equivalent disclosures are 
included in the consolidated financial statements.
	ˑ The requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 to present comparative information in respect of:

	– paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1 ((a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the 
beginning and end of the period);
	– paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; and
	– paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible Assets.

	ˑ The following paragraphs of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:

	– 10(d) (statement of cash flows);
	– 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS);
	– 38A (requirement for minimum of two primary statements, including cash  
flow statements);
	– 38B-D (additional comparative information);
	– 111 (statement of cash flows information); and
	– 134-136 (capital management disclosures).

	ˑ The requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.
	ˑ The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors (the requirement for the disclosure of information when an 
entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued but is not yet effective); and
	ˑ Paragraph 17 of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (key management compensation), and 
the other requirements of that standard to disclose related party transactions entered into 
between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to 
the transaction is wholly owned by such a member.

These financial statements have been presented in GBP, being the functional currency of the 
company. All amounts are presented rounded to the nearest thousand GBP, unless otherwise 
stated.

Significant accounting policies 
The Company’s significant accounting policies are aligned with the Group accounting policies as 
set out within the Group financial statements above, with the addition of the following:

	ˑ Investments in subsidiaries: Subsidiaries are carried at cost, less provision for impairment. 
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C:	Investments in subsidiaries
£’000

At 14 November 2022 –

Acquisition of subsidiaries 131,121

Capital contribution relating to share-based payments 147

Balance at the end of the year 131,268

During the period, the Company acquired the entire share capital of Kistos plc as part of a 
scheme of arrangement by issuing new shares as consideration. The cost of the Company’s 
investment in Kistos plc was determined to be the net assets of Kistos plc in its separate financial 
statements at the transaction date, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The subsidiaries of the company as at 31 December 2022 are set out below. All subsidiaries have 
share capital comprising solely of ordinary shares. 

Name of subsidiary Principal activity Place of incorporation 
and operation

Registered office Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting 

power held 

Kistos plc* Provision of head office 
and administrative 
services

London, United 
Kingdom

2nd Floor, 3 St James’s 
Square, London 
SW1Y 4JU

100%

Kistos Energy Limited* Offshore exploration 
and production of 
hydrocarbon volumes

London, United 
Kingdom

2nd Floor, 3 St James’s 
Square, London 
SW1Y 4JU

100%

Kistos Finance Limited Special purpose funding 
vehicle for the operating 
companies of the Group

London, United 
Kingdom

2nd Floor, 3 St James’s 
Square, London 
SW1Y 4JU

100%

Kistos NL1 B.V. Onshore and 
offshore exploration 
and production of 
hydrocarbon volumes 

The Hague, Netherlands Alexanderstraat 18, 
2514 JM, The Hague, 
the Netherlands

100%

Kistos NL2 B.V. Offshore exploration 
and production of 
hydrocarbon volumes 

The Hague, Netherlands Alexanderstraat 18, 
2514 JM, The Hague, 
the Netherlands

100%

* Held directly by the Company.

D:	Capital and reserves
Share capital
Ordinary shares have a nominal value of £0.10 per share. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled 
to participate in dividends and the proceeds of the company in the event of winding up in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on shares held. The company does not have a 
limit to its authorised share capital.	

Merger reserve
The merger reserve arose following the acquisition of Kistos plc by the Company in December 
2022, and represents an unrealised profit from the investment in the subsidiary and is therefore 
not a distributable reserve. 

Share-based payment reserve
Following the capital reorganisation, the amendment of share options granted originally by 
Kistos plc was considered to be a new award of options by the Company, and the options were 
remeasured at a new grant date (being the date of the acquisition of Kistos plc by the Company). 
A description of the terms and conditions of the share-based payment arrangements, including 
vesting requirements and number of options outstanding is disclosed in note 3.4 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

E: Subsequent events

On 23 May 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the issued and to be issued 
share capital of Mime Petroleum A.S. from Mime Petroleum S.a.r.l. Further details are included in 
note 7.5.3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion:

	ˑ The financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the 
Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the Group’s profit for the year  
then ended;
	ˑ The Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted 
international accounting standards;
	ˑ The Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
	ˑ The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Kistos Holdings plc (the ‘Parent Company’) 
and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2022 which comprise 
the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of other comprehensive 
income, the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated statement of changes in equity, the 
Consolidated cash flow statement, the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies, the Company balance sheet, the Company 
statement of changes in equity and the Notes to the Company financial statements, including  
a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group 
financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting standards. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Parent Company 
financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Independence
We remain independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group and the Parent Company’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

	ˑ Verifying the opening cash position used in the cash flow forecast. The cash flow forecast 
started from 1 April 2023 and covered more than 12 months from the date of these  
financial statements.
	ˑ Checking the consistency of the cash flow forecasts with approved budgets and with 
evidence obtained in other audited areas as applicable and with our knowledge of  
the industry.
	ˑ Performing checks on the arithmetical accuracy of the cash flow forecasts approved  
by the Directors.
	ˑ Obtaining and reviewing stress test scenarios including scenarios relating to payments to 
cover obligations under Decommissioning Security Agreements, lower production and/or 
gas prices and increases in capital expenditure.
	ˑ Reviewing current and forecast covenants compliance.

Independent Auditor’s Report to 
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	ˑ Considering the implications of risks identified in the Group’s and our own risk analysis on 
going concern. 
	ˑ Reviewing the going concern disclosures in the financial statements for consistency with the 
Directors’ going concern assessment. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on 
the Group and the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Overview

Coverage 100% (2021: 100%) of Group profit before tax

100% (2021: 100%) of Group revenue

100% (2021: 100%) of Group total assets
Key audit matters 2022 2021

Application of oil and gas taxation legislation 
in the UK and Netherlands

Yes Yes

Accounting for business combinations Yes Yes
Valuation of subsidiary investments in the 
Parent Company financial statements

Yes No

Accounting for cash flow hedging contract No Yes
Carrying value of exploration and evaluation 
assets and related goodwill

No Yes

Going concern No Yes

Key audit matters Accounting for the cashflow hedging contract, carrying value of 
exploration and evaluation assets and related goodwill and going 
concern which were key audit matters last year, are no longer included  
as key audit matters because of the following:

	ˑ Cashflow hedging contract: The Group exited its hedge contract 
during the year and settled its hedged liability;
	ˑ Carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets: During the year, 
the Group recognised an impairment of €44.3 million on its Dutch 
exploration and evaluation (E&E) assets acquired in the prior year 
leaving an immaterial balance not impaired. The balance of E&E 
assets on the consolidated statement of financial position mainly 
represents E&E assets acquired via a business combination in the 
current year, which in our professional judgement, does not represent 
the most significant risk of material misstatement in the Group 
financial statements; and
	ˑ Going concern: The financial position of the group has improved 
compared to last year as a result of increased gas prices during the 
year and the Directors’ base case going concern forecast shows 
significant headroom at the end of the going concern period.

Materiality Group financial statements as a whole

€8,130,000 (2021: €4,600,000) based on 1.3% (2021: 1.3%) of total 
assets

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, 
including the Group’s system of internal control, and assessing the risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements. We also addressed the risk of Management override 
of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that 
may have represented a risk of material misstatement.

In approaching the audit, we considered how the Group is organized and managed. We assessed 
there to be four significant components, being the Parent Company (Kistos Holdings plc), the 
intermediate parent company (Kistos plc), Kistos Energy Limited, which holds working interests 
of between 14% and 25% in a number of licences west of the Shetlands, including the Laggan, 
Tormore, Edradour and Glenlivet producing gas fields as well as 20% of the Glendronach gas 
discovery and 25% of the Benriach exploration prospect; and Kistos NL1 B.V., which is the 
Dutch sub-consolidation of the Kistos NL1 B.V. and Kistos NL2 B.V. entities operating the Q10-A 
platform and exploration licences. 

The Parent Company, Kistos Energy Limited, and Kistos Plc were subject to a full scope audit by 
the Group auditor. A full scope audit for Group reporting was performed by a BDO network firm 
in the Netherlands on the Kistos NL1 B.V. consolidated entity.
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Our involvement with component auditors
For the work performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement needed in order to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained as a 
basis for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole. Our involvement with component auditors included the following: 

	ˑ Detailed Group reporting instructions were sent to the component auditor, which included the significant areas to be covered by the audit (including areas that were considered to be key audit 
matters as detailed below), and set out the information required to be reported to the Group audit team.
	ˑ The Group audit team was actively involved in the direction of the audit performed by the component auditor for the Group reporting purposes along with the consideration of findings and 
determination of conclusions drawn. 
	ˑ The Group audit team reviewed the component auditor’s work papers remotely, including review of group reporting documents and engaged with the component auditor regularly during 
their fieldwork and completion phases. 
	ˑ The Group audit team performed procedures in respect of the significant risk areas that represented Key Audit Matters in addition to the procedures performed by the component auditor. 

Our oversight of the component team included maintaining a continuous and open dialogue, as well as holding formal meetings to ensure that we were fully aware of their progress and the results 
of their procedures.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the 
audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matter How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit matter

Application of oil 
and gas taxation 
legislation in 
the UK and 
Netherlands

See notes 1.7 and 
6.3 for details of 
the accounting 
policy and critical 
accounting 
estimates and 
judgements 
relating to this key 
audit matter.

Income tax calculations are inherently complex for upstream oil and gas 
companies and for the Group includes material current and deferred taxes. 

During 2022 there was significant changes to tax rates and applicable taxes.

In the UK, during November 2022, the Government introduced the Energy 
Profits Levy, being an additional temporary 25% levy applied to entities 
within the ring-fence originally due to expire no later than 31 December 
2025. During November 2022, this rate was increased from 25% to 35%, 
effective from 1 January 2023, and extending the period applicable to 31 
March 2028, with no provision for earlier withdrawal of the levy.

In the Netherlands, during 2022, a new income tax (Solidarity Contribution 
Tax) was ratified following the adoption of Council Regulation (EU) 
1854/2022, which required EU member states to introduce a ‘solidarity 
contribution’ for companies active in the oil, gas, coal and refinery sectors. 
The Dutch implementation of this solidarity contribution has been legislated 
by a retrospective 33% tax on ‘excess profit’ realised during 2022, with 
‘excess profit’ defined as that profit exceeding 120% of the average profit of 
the four previous financial years. Companies in scope are those realising at 
least 75% of their turnover through the production of oil and natural gas, 
mining activities, refining of petroleum or coke oven products.

The calculation of Dutch and UK income and deferred taxation requires 
extensive and specialised taxation knowledge. Accordingly, we considered 
this, together with the related disclosures, to be an area of focus and a key 
audit matter.

Our specific audit testing included:

	ˑ With the assistance of our internal tax specialists we assessed and recalculated the Group’s 
income and deferred tax calculations and reviewed compliance with Dutch and UK tax 
regulations. 
	ˑ We obtained confirmations from Management and the Company’s tax adviser regarding the 
completeness of the tax charge and related deferred tax assets and liabilities.
	ˑ We critically assessed Management’s judgements in determining if the recognition of 
Solidarity Contribution Tax was applicable to the group. This involved assessing the 
appropriateness of accounting for the intercompany gas sales agreement between Kistos 
NL2 B.V. and Kistos Energy Limited on a net basis (as an Agent) in Kistos NL2 B.V. statutory 
financial statements, as this determined if the turnover the Dutch entity realised through the 
production of oil and natural gas exceeded 75% of its total turnover, which is a condition of 
being in scope of the Solidarity Contribution Tax.
	ˑ We reviewed financial statement disclosures on taxation against the requirements of the 
applicable accounting framework.

Key observations:
	ˑ Based on the procedures performed, we found Management’s judgements, including 
disclosure, and the applied tax treatment to be reasonable in the context of the UK and 
Dutch taxation legislation and the applicable accounting framework.
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Key audit matter How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit matter

Accounting 
for business 
combinations

See notes 1.7, 2.10 
and 8a for details 
of the accounting 
policy and critical 
accounting 
estimate and 
judgements 
relating to this key 
audit matter.

During the year the Group completed the acquisition from TotalEnergies 
E&P UK Limited, of working interest in exploration licences, producing gas 
fields and associated infrastructure (GLA licences) west of the Shetland 
Islands. The acquisition comprised working interests in unincorporated joint 
operations. Management considered the acquisition met the definition of a 
business under applicable accounting standards.

The headline consideration was $125 million based on an effective 
economic date of 1 January 2022, with the final firm consideration payment 
being reduced from $125 million by the post-tax cashflows generated from 
the assets between the effective economic date and the completion date 
(and other adjustments).

The acquisition accounting resulted in the recognition of material balances 
on the consolidated balance sheet and involved making significant 
judgements and estimates including assessing the fair value of the 
consideration paid which included contingent consideration and assigning 
fair values to the producing and exploration assets acquired. Management 
used a third-party independent expert to assist in determining the fair value 
of the assets and liabilities acquired. Given the significant level of estimation 
and judgements involved, we considered this to be a key audit matter.

Our specific audit testing included:

	ˑ We reviewed the purchase agreement and associated legal documents, made inquiries of 
Management and assessed the activities of the joint operator to confirm the appropriateness 
of Management’s accounting treatment for the transaction as a business combination.
	ˑ We assessed the validity of the date at which control passed to the Group based on the 
contractual terms and the status of conditions precedent for completion.
	ˑ We recalculated the fair value of contingent consideration paid with support from our 
internal valuations experts. This included agreeing inputs to supporting documents and 
challenging Management’s assumptions and forecasts.
	ˑ With the assistance of our internal tax specialists we reviewed and re-calculated the net 
deferred tax liability that arose as a result of the fair value uplift.
	ˑ We engaged our own external auditor experts to review the completeness and 
appropriateness of the asset decommissioning costs and the reasonableness of the reserves 
and resources figures used in Management’s valuation model.
	ˑ We held meetings with Management to understand the valuation methodologies used in 
the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) and engaged our internal valuation experts to review the 
appropriateness of key inputs such as the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) in the 
discounted cash flow model that was used to value producing assets, inflation and risk-free 
rates used in valuing asset decommissioning costs.
	ˑ We evaluated Management’s determination of the allocation of the consideration to the 
assets and liabilities acquired to assess whether the fair values were supportable by agreeing 
the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) to supporting calculations prepared by Management’s 
independent expert and reperforming the calculations prepared by Management’s 
independent expert.
	ˑ We assessed Management’s independent expert’s competence and capabilities by agreeing 
inputs to publicly available information and reading their terms of engagement with the 
Group to identify any matters that could have affected their independence and objectivity or 
imposed scope limitations upon them.

Key observations:
	ˑ Based on the procedures performed, we found the judgements and estimates made by 
Management in respect of the accounting for the business combination to be reasonable.
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Key audit matter How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of 
subsidiary 
investments 
in the Parent 
Company financial 
statements

See note B for 
details of the 
accounting policy 
relating to this key 
audit matter.

Kistos Holdings Plc owns 100% of Kistos Plc, which in turn owns 100% of 
Kistos Energy Limited, Kistos NL1 B.V., Kistos NL2 B.V. and Kistos Finance 
Limited.

The recoverability of investments in the Parent Company is intrinsically 
linked to the current and future performance of the underlying subsidiary 
companies’ assets, including producing, development and exploration assets.

Following the introduction of new taxes and impairment of exploration 
assets in the Netherlands, to determine if the parent company’s investment 
carrying value is supportable requires estimation and judgement of gas 
volumes, production profiles, gas prices, operating and capital costs of the 
parent company’s subsidiaries. For this reason, it was considered to be a key 
audit matter. 

Our specific audit testing included:

	ˑ Reviewing Management’s impairment assessment of the underlying development and 
exploration assets.
	ˑ Assessing the investment for indicators of impairment in line with the requirements of the 
accounting framework.
	ˑ Reviewing minutes of Board meetings and correspondence with regulatory authorities to 
identify any information that may impact the recoverability of investments in subsidiaries.
	ˑ We engaged our own external auditors expert to review the reasonableness of the reserve 
volumes and production profiles used in Management’s impairment model.
	ˑ We agreed gas prices used in the impairment model to third party data and checked the 
reasonability of operating and capital expenditure forecasts to budgets and current year 
actual figures.
	ˑ We reviewed the market capitalisation of the Group vis-à-vis the carrying value of the 
investments.

Key observations:
	ˑ Based on the procedures performed, we found the judgement made by Management in 
their assessment of impairment indicators in the valuation of subsidiary investments in 
the Parent Company financial statements to be reasonable.
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in 
evaluating the effect of misstatements. We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which 
misstatements, including omissions, could influence the economic decisions of reasonable users 
that are taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed 
materiality, we use a lower materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent 
of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be 
evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified misstatements, and 
the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as 
a whole and performance materiality as follows:

Group financial statements
2022 2021

Materiality €8,130,000 €4,600,000
Basis for 
determining 
materiality

1.3% of total assets 1.3% of total assets

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied

Materiality has been based on total assets although the Group is revenue 
generating. The Group’s growth strategy is in identifying new reserves  
and resources and does so through development and acquisitions. Since  
the Group continues to expand and explore new gas fields, we consider  
total assets to be one of the principal considerations for users of the  
financial statements.

Performance 
materiality

€5,200,000 €2,900,000

Basis for 
determining 
performance 
materiality

65% of materiality

Rationale for the 
percentage applied 
for performance 
materiality 

We considered several factors, including the expected total value of known 
and likely misstatements and our knowledge of the Group and Parent 
Company’s internal controls.

Parent company financial statements
2022 2021

Materiality €1,735,000 €1,600,000
Basis for 
determining 
materiality

1.5% of total assets 65% of Group materiality given the 
assessment of the components’ 
aggregation risk.

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied

Materiality has been based on total 
assets of the Parent Company as the 
Parent Company did not generate 
any revenue during the period. 
The Parent Company underwent a 
capital re-organisation during the 
year with a view to positioning the 
Group with a suitable structure for 
future acquisitions and financing 
activities. As a result, we consider 
total assets to be one of the principal 
considerations for users of the 
financial statements.

65% of Group materiality given the 
assessment of the component’s 
aggregation risk.

Performance 
materiality

€1,128,000 €1,040,000

Basis for 
determining 
performance 
materiality

65% of materiality

Rationale for the 
percentage applied 
for performance 
materiality 

We considered several factors, including the expected total value of known 
and likely misstatements and our knowledge of the Group and Parent 
Company’s internal controls.

Component materiality
For the purposes of our Group audit opinion, we set materiality for each significant component 
of the Group, apart from the Parent Company whose materiality is set out above, based on 
a percentage of between 46% and 69% (2021: 35%) of Group materiality dependent on the 
size and our assessment of the risk of material misstatement of that component. Component 
materiality ranged from €3,700,000 to €5,600,000 (2021: €1,600,000). In the audit of each 
component, we further applied performance materiality levels of 65% (2021: 65%) of the 
component materiality to our testing to ensure that the risk of errors exceeding component 
materiality was appropriately mitigated.
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Reporting threshold 
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit 
differences in excess of €162,000 (2021: €92,000). We also agreed to report differences below 
this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report and Accounts other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material 
misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting
Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the 
audit, we are required by the Companies Act 2006 and ISAs (UK) to report on certain opinions 
and matters as described below. 

Strategic 
report and 
Directors’ 
report 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

	ˑ The information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report 
for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; and
	ˑ The Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent 
Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ report.

Matters on 
which we 
are required 
to report by 
exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to 
which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

	ˑ Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, 
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or
	ˑ The Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or
	ˑ Certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
	ˑ We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures 
are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

Non-compliance with laws and regulations
Based on:

	ˑ Our understanding of the Group and the industry in which it operates;
	ˑ Obtaining and understanding of the Group’s policies and procedures regarding compliance 
with laws and regulations; and
	ˑ Discussions with Management, the Audit Committee, the component auditor and  
component Management.

We considered the significant laws and regulations to be, elements of the financial reporting 
framework, tax legislations, UK oil and gas legislation, the Dutch Mining Act, AIM listing rules, 
and the QCA corporate governance code.

The Group is also subject to laws and regulations where the consequence of non-compliance 
could have a material effect on the amount or disclosures in the financial statements, for 
example through the imposition of fines or litigations. We identified such laws and regulations 
to be environmental regulations and health and safety legislation.

Our procedures in respect of the above included:

	ˑ Reviewing management’s correspondence with regulatory and tax authorities for any 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations;
	ˑ Holding discussions with Management and the audit committee to consider any known or 
suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations, or fraud; and
	ˑ Reviewing RNS announcements and minutes of meetings of those charged with governance 
to identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations.

Fraud
We assessed the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including 
fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

	ˑ Making enquiries with Management and the Audit Committee regarding any known or 
suspected instances of fraud;
	ˑ Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s policies and procedures relating to:

	 – Detecting and responding to the risks of fraud; and 
	 – Internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud. 

	ˑ Reviewing minutes from board meetings of those charged with governance and RNS 
announcements to identify any known or suspected instances of fraud;
	ˑ Performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may 
indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud; and
	ˑ Discussing amongst the engagement team as to how and where fraud might occur in the 
financial statements.

Based on our risk assessment, we considered the areas most susceptible to fraud to be 
Management override of controls, revenue recognition and management bias regarding the 
following key accounting estimates and judgements:

	ˑ Accounting for business combinations;
	ˑ Valuation of decommissioning obligations;
	ˑ Depletion of producing assets; and
	ˑ Impairment of non-current assets.

Our procedures in addressing these risks included:

	ˑ Testing the appropriateness of journal entries made throughout the year which met specific 
risk-based criteria by agreeing them to supporting documentation;
	ˑ Testing 100% of revenue transactions to supporting documentation to address the cut-off, 
existence and accuracy assertions;
	ˑ Engaging our own external auditor experts to review the completeness and appropriateness of 
the asset decommissioning costs and the reasonableness of the reserves and resources figures 
used in Management’s depletion of producing assets calculation;
	ˑ Performing a detailed review of the Group’s year end adjusting entries and agreeing to 
supporting documentation any that appear unusual as to nature or amount;
	ˑ Assessing the judgements made by Management when making key accounting estimates 
and judgements, and challenging Management on the appropriateness of these judgements, 
specifically around key audit matters as discussed above; and
	ˑ Performing a detailed review of the Group’s consolidation entries and investigating any that 
appear unusual with regards to nature or amount to corroborative evidence.
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We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all 
engagement team members including the component engagement team who were all deemed 
to have appropriate competence and capabilities and remained alert to any indications of 
fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit. For the component 
engagement team, we also reviewed the results of their work performed in this regard.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due 
to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. 
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed 
non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the 
financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our  
auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with 
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that  
we might state to the Parent Company’s members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,  
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Parent Company and the 
Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions  
we have formed.

Peter Acloque (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London, United Kingdom
26 May 2023

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered 
number OC305127).
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Appendix A: Glossary
2C Best estimate of contingent resources

2P Proved plus probable reserves

Adjusted 
EBITDA

EBITDA, excluding the effects of significant one-off and/or non-cash items 
of income and expenditure which may have, in the opinion of management, 
an impact on the quality of earnings. Adjusted EBITDA excludes development 
expenses, share-based payment expenses, transaction costs and movements in 
contingent consideration payable.

AFE Authority For Expenditure

Average 
realised gas 
price

Calculated as revenue from gas production divided by units of gas sold for the 
period. Units of gas sold in a period may be different to units of gas produced 
in a period.

bbl Barrel of oil

boe Barrels of oil equivalent

boepd Barrels of oil equivalent produced per day

cijns A royalty tax levied on oil and gas sales in the Netherlands. Historically set a 0% in 
respect of gas produced offshore; but for 2023 and 2024 temporarily increasing 
to a rate of 65% on turnover in excess of €0.5 per cubic metre of gas sold.

CIT Dutch Corporate Income Tax

Company Kistos Holdings plc

DEI Diversity, equality and inclusion

DSA Decommissioning Security Agreement

EBITDA Earnings (operating profit) before interest, tax, depreciation, impairment  
and amortisation

EBN Energie Beheer Nederland

EIR Effective interest rate

EPL Energy Profits Levy 

FID Final Investment Decision

FPSO Floating production storage and offloading vessel

G&A General and administrative expenditure

GLA Greater Laggan Area

GLA 
acquisition

The acquisition by the Group of a 20% working interest in the GLA licences, 
producing gas fields and associated infrastructure alongside various interests 
in certain other exploration licences, including a 25% interest in the Benriach 
prospect, from TotalEnergies E&P UK Limited.

Group Kistos Holdings plc including its subsidiaries 

JV Joint venture

Kistos group Kistos Holdings plc including its subsidiaries 

LNG Liquefied natural gas

Mime Mime Petroleum A.S.

MMBtu Million British Thermal units

MWh Megawatt hour

MWhe Megawatt hour equivalent

Net debt/net 
cash

Cash and cash equivalents less face value of Nordic Bonds outstanding. 
Management’s definition of net debt is different to that defined in the leverage 
ratio calculation in respect of the Group’s borrowings (as calculated in note 5.1.2).

NGL Natural gas liquids

NSTA North Sea Transition Authority

OCI Other comprehensive income

P50 estimate 50th percentile estimate, equivalent to 2P

SGP Shetland Gas Plant

SodM State Supervisor of Mines

Solidarity 
Contribution 
Tax

A tax levied by the Dutch Government, following the adoption of Council 
Regulation (EU) 1854/2022, which required EU member states to introduce a 
‘solidarity contribution’ for companies active in the oil, gas, coal and refinery 
sectors. The Dutch implementation of this solidarity contribution has been 
legislated by a retrospective 33% tax on ‘excess profit’ realised during 2022, 
with ‘excess profit’ defined as that profit exceeding 120% of the average profit 
of the four previous financial years. Companies in scope are those realising 
at least 75% of their turnover through the production of oil and natural gas, 
mining activities, refining of petroleum or coke oven products.

SPS Dutch State Profit Share tax

TotalEnergies TotalEnergies E&P Limited

Unit opex Calculated as cash production costs divided by production (see appendix B).
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Appendix B: Non-IFRS measures
Management believes that certain non-IFRS measures (also referred to as ‘alternative 
performance measures’) are useful metrics as they provide additional useful information 
on performance and trends. These measures are primarily used by management for internal 
performance analysis, are not defined in IFRS or other GAAPs and therefore may not be 
comparable with similarly described or defined measures reported by other companies. 
They are not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures. Definitions and 
reconciliations to the nearest equivalent IFRS measure are presented below.

B1: Pro forma information
Pro forma information shows the impact to certain results of the Group as if the GLA acquisition 
had completed on 1 January 2022, and as if the Tulip Oil acquisition had completed on 1 January 
2021. Management believe pro forma information is useful as it allows meaningful comparison 
of full year results across periods.

Revenue Adjusted EBITDA EBITDA

Period ended 31 December 2021:

As reported 89,628 78,861 71,541

Pro forma period adjustments 27,103 24,001 24,001

Pro forma 116,731 102,862 95,542

Period ended 31 December 2022:

As reported 411,512 380,015 404,037

Pro forma period adjustments 156,933 137,187 137,187

Pro forma 568,445 517,202 541,224

B2: Net debt
Net debt is a measure which management believe is useful as it provides an indicator of 
the Group’s overall liquidity. It is defined as cash and cash equivalents less the face value of 
outstanding bond debt. A positive figure represents net cash and a negative figure represents a 
net debt position. The difference between management’s definition of net debt and net debt for 
the purposes of the leverage ratio calculation is reconciled below.

€’000 Note 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 211,980 77,266

Face value of bond debt 5.1 (81,572) (150,000)

Net cash/(debt) 130,408 (72,734)

Difference between carrying value and face value  
of bond debt

5.1 (1,134) 1,958

Lease liabilities 4.4 (1,211) (91)

Net cash/(debt) for leverage ratio 5.1.2 128,063 (70,867)

B3: Unit opex
Unit opex is defined as total production (converted to MWh equivalent using the conversion 
factors in Appendix C) divided by adjusted operating costs. Adjusted operating costs are 
operating costs per the income statement less accounting movements in inventory, which are 
primarily those operating costs capitalised into liquids inventory. Such costs are only recognised 
in the income statement upon sale of the related product (rather than as incurred).

€’000 Note Year ended 
31 December 2022

Period ended 
31 December 2021

Operating costs 22,927 6,143

Accounting movements in inventory 4,135 (35)

Adjusted operating costs 27,062 6,108

Pro forma period adjustment 19,706 3,649

Pro forma adjusted operating costs 46,768 9,757

Total production (thousand MWh) 4,642 1,661

Pro forma period adjustment (thousand MWh) 2,098 1,418

Total pro forma production (thousand MWh) 6,740 3,079

Unit opex (€/MWh) 5.8 3.7

Pro forma unit opex (€/MWh) 6.9 3.2
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Appendix C: Conversion factors
37.3 scf in 1 Nm3

1.7 MWh in 1 boe

34.12 therms in 1 MWh 
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